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STRATEGI!C REPORT

Historical Financial Trends

Revenue £m Gross Profit £m
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£220.5m
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Our Vision 2017 Quick Overview

To be the UK's premier

automotive retail group as £2 - 3 bn
recognised by our colleagues, Revenue
customers, business partners

and shareholders. To achieve
our vision we will create a £ 2 9 1 m
[ |

people centric culture, as _
Underlying Profit Before Tax

well as operate as retailers who
deliver retailing excellence

o o)

and are regarded as an ==
garded 2 97,545 =
employer of choice. J %
_ New and Used Units Sold o ]
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AUTOMOTIVE
RETAIL EMPLOYER

... AsVoled by our Colleagues




% 2017
Manufacturer
Markel

share  Retall Franchised Dealerships

shy (with Mutorrard),
e Sountipnpe

10|
10
a
10
10|
o

Buty SUFdrards. Coamtirdige
i Baeys Lyrin

oo Harragats, Hull, Scuthod e eestern,
U Petcrbsrugh, Scarburough and Yok

Cambadge

: Cambridge, lpswich ineoln
Niswhbuiy, Onred amf Poloabrangh

|

b s, Stusbompe

L
Beolord, Camtrn )
Lincaoiy, Keton b Newhury

L South Oxford aisd Poterburongh

[

- Teterburongh

Portsmouth, Preston, Soathampton,

L
\ Alarkbyrn, Blackpost, Boiton, Chohoster,
\ South Lakes and Winchaster

! Bournemoutly, Grimsby
i Huok amd Salisbury

shian acd Lincgin

_ o Cambadge, Peterhorough
Lcmlﬁ StNeats

Biatotrsne, Camnbiniige
L anut Lenstar

___J Barrstaple, Creydor, Nesvbury,
! Dxfecdd and Reating

Riackpool. Boilon, Portsmauth
Aved Sontimungtan

|
Bshaps Stonford Cambndge, Grantham, Leeds,
T o Wton Keyires, Notlingham, Poterborough
d Welayn Garden Cily

Commerciatl Vehicle Dealerships

ipswich, Knebwortiy, Laicester
arnd Petorborough

=

o
|
o5
Nl
-
K
ol
il
gl
|
a1
.-
2
Gl
I~
1o
LBJE

Qarnstapla, Grimshy, Mewhbory, North Oxford,
Sauthy Oxford, Resadiug, Scuatharps and Taunton

—
2|
N

i<

DEacdoaadna

I
s
<

-[ Cambriclie

it |

Pocie and Soutivmp'en

Brdgwater, Oxford, Readar
]

_{/\‘rvdaw:n Far:ham
| g Seunthcrpe

Exestior, Mitehamy, Od Kent Roard f Bertford,
PoQalord and Sawrdon

cambridae, Gresnbam Preo Crnte
Grirtsdy, Nissy Forest nedd BRetodon nagh

l
{
1
L

Syrlentam

mhridege
At Portane

- | Croydun Senaice Conlre




81.7%

brand coverage
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Marshall Motor Holdings is the seventh fargest UK
motor dealer group. Since 2008 the Group has
restructured its dealership portfolio, operating 101
full retail franchised dealerships and representing
23 brand partners across 26 counties.
y In addition, the Group operates a number of

aftersales and used car operations.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Chairman’s Statement

Peter Johnson
Chairman

“We have taken significant steps o
prepare the Group for the future”

introduction

i am delighted to present our Annuat Report and Actounts
for the year ended 31 December 2017 (the "Year™). Whilst
the market backdrop for the Year was a more challenging
one, the Group has strongly outperformed the UK car
rmarket and we are pleased to be reporting another record
set of results at both revenue and underlying profit before
tax (‘'underlying PBT')*. We have also taken significant
steps to prepare the Group for the future.

Strategy

Since our IPQ three years ago, the Group has, in line with
its stated strategy, defivered material growth bolh
organically and through the acquisitions of SG Smith in
November 2015 and Ridgeway in May 2016.

In 2017 we focused on preparing for the next stage of the
Group's development and growth. The strategic disposal
of our leasing business Marshall Leasing Limited (‘Marshall
Leasing’) in November 2017, for gross consideration of
£42.5m (before cosls and expenses), combined with
ongoing portfolio management and the closure of a
number of sub-scale, loss-making sites, has reduced our
cost-base, significantly strengthened our balance sheet
and ehabled us io focus exclusively on our retail
businesses. As a result, we are well positioned to continue
to deliver our future growth aspirations.

Resulis
The Group has enjoyed another racord year, defivering
19.5% revenue growth and 14.4% underlying PBT growth.

Our net debt was effectively eliminated foliowing the
disposal of Marshall Leasing and was £2.2m at
31 Dacember 2017 (2016 £119.0m). The Group's
significantly strengthened balance sheet remains
underpinned by £116.3m of freehold/long leasehold

property.

* undertying profit before lax is presented exciuding non-underiying kems
(as sel oul in Note 7)

Dividend

The CGroup's staled dividend policy s to maintain a
progressive dividend palicy where dividends are covered
between 4 (o 5 limes by underlying earnings. The Board
is, therefore, pleased to recommend a final dividend of
4.25p per share which, with the interim dividend of 2.15p
per share, gives a total dividend for the Year of 6.40p per
share (2016: 5.50p, up 16.4%).

I{ approved by shareholders at our AGM gn 22 May 2018,
the final dividend will be paid on 25 May 2018 lo
shareholders who are on the Company's register at close
of business on 27 April 2018.

AGM

Our annuai general meeling will be held on 22 May 2018
and ! look forward to meeting all shareholders who are able
to attend.

Qutiook

The Board notes the latest Society of Motor Manufacturers
and Traders ("SMMT') UK new car market forecasts for a
decline of 5.6% in 2018. As a consequence the Board
therefore remains cautious about the UK car market in
2018 as it returns to a more normalised level. Our trading
performance in the current financial year to date is in line
with our expectations and our outlook for the full year
remains unchanged.

The Group has a strong brand mix, allractive geographic
territories and excellent brand partner relationships and is
well placed lo continue to oufperform the UK new car
market. The stralegic disposal of Marshall Leasing allows
the Group to focus on its core mofor relail business.

Finally, | would Fke to thank the Board, the execulive team,
our brand partners, business suppliers and coileagues
throughout the Group for their support during another
successful year,

Peter Johnson

Chairman
13 March 2018
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Vision

To be the UK's premier automotive retall group

Class leading Customer Retailing People
returns first excellence centric
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Operating Review

Daksh Gupta
Chief Execulive
Officer

“The Group has delivered another
record resull at both revenue and
underlying PBT”

“We have continued to cutperform
the new and used UK retall
markets”

Overview

Since our IPO in April 2015, the Group has delivered
material and sustained improvements in its financial and
operational performance. Our 2017 results continue this
axcelient track record, benefiting from both continued
organic growth and the first full year contribution from the
Ridgeway acquisition which #s now fully integrated.

Puring the Year, lhe Group also continued being proactive
in portiolio management, announcing the acquisition of
Leeds Volvo in June 2017, the disposal of Marshall
Leasing Limited in September 2017 and the closure of six
sub-scale, loss-making businesses in November 2017.

2017 was anoather successful year for the Group:

- Revenue up 19.5% to £2.3bn (2016: £1.9bn) with the
Group also achieving like-for-like** revenue growth of
3.5%.

+ Underlying PBT up 14.4% to £29.1m (2016: £25.4m).

- Significant growth in underlying PBT in our retail
segment, up 20.8% to £34.9m (2016: £28.9m), driven by
a combination of contribution from the Ridgeway
acquisition and continued organic growth.

o Like-for-like new unit vehicle sales to retail
customers oulperformed the UK markel.

o Excellent performance in used unit vehicle sales
with iike-for-like unil sales outparforming the UK
market.

o Afersales like-for-iike revenue continued to grow,
up 2.3%.

** like-for-like businesses are defined as those which lraded under the
Group's ownarship throughoul both the ealire year under review and
the corresponding comparalive year

+ The disposal of Marshall [ easing has enabled us to focus
exclusively on our UK motor retail operations as well as
further strengthening the Group's balance sheel

Our continued outpesformance of the UK new car retall
market in the Year was pariiculariy pleasing. In 2017 UK
new car registrations were 2.54m (including dealer and self-
registrations}, 5.7% lower than in 2016. Registrations to
retail customers in 2017 were 8,8% lower than in 2016,
Against this market backdrop, we have continued to
outperform the retail market with our like-for-like unit sales
{o new retail customers in the Year 2.6% lower than in 2016.

The SMMT reported a used vehicle market decline of
1.1% in the Year, however, at 8.11m units this was still
the second highest market on record. Despite this
overall decline, the Group recorded a like-for-like growth
in used unit sales of 5.2%.

Strategy

The Group's strategic vision is to become the UK's premier
automotive Group and this remains central lo everything
we do. Our five strategic piflars which underpin that vision
are: class leading returns; putling our customers first;
delivering retailing excellence for the benefit of our
customers; being people-centric by focusing on employee
engagement; and pursuing strategic growth both
organically and through targeted acquisilions in ling with
the Group's strategy.

Ciass leading returns

The Group’s strategy of building a balanced brand
portfalio, in altractive gecgraphic locations and with an
increased premium franchise mix, has assisted the
confinuation of our strong track record in the face of a more
chabenging market. Total new vehicle revenue grew by
18.6% (1.0% like-for-like) and total used vehicle revenue
grew 21.1% (7.0% like-for-like).

The completion of the inlegration of Ridgeway has atso
enabled the Group lo access further benefits of scale
across a number of areas of the business including
improved commercial terms with suppliers and vehicle
stock management.

An important efement of the Group's success continues lo
be our strong and growing relationships with our brand
pariners, many of which are reacting to a more chailenging
market with a number of positive actions.

Aftersales continues to be a key focus of the Group and
our strong performance in recent years continued during
the Year, with total revenue growth of 20.0% (2.3% lke-for-
like). We continue to focus on maintaining high levels of
cuslomer retention and repeat business through the use
of service plans as well as investing in technical and
product training for our technicians.
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Recoynising and thanking celleagues is a N, ]
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provide a great environmant for colleagues LRy
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confintie to be recognised as a Best Large
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ceremonies to celebrate our incrodible
colleagues. Detaills and photos of each
event are featured in our quarlerly colleague
mAagazing so we can share our colleague's
success with everyane and reinforce how
important these programmes are,
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Customer first

The Group continues to enjoy high levels of customer
advocacy. in 2017, 42% of customers surveyed who
visited our showrooms indicated that they were either
previous customers or were recommended to us.

The launch of the domain marshall.co.uk enabled us to
market all Group stock, including those of SG Smith and
Ridgeway, on one website for the first time, giving
customers increased choice with ¢.6,000 used vehicles
available online. In 2017, visits to our website increased
materially and in December 2017 marshall.co.uk was the
fifth most visited franchised dealer group website in the UK
(Source: Hitwise).

Retailing excellence
We continue to recognise the ever increasing importance
of investment in fechnology, aimed towards expanding the
Group's customer base and improving our own internal
operating efficiencies. We have continued to invest in these
areas during the Year.

In addition to our website presence, we continue to drive
sacial media as a means of connecting with aur customers.
As a result of this, | am delighted that during the Year we
received six awards including Most Influential Franchised
Dealer (Car Dealer Awards), Best Digital Initiative
{Automotive Management) and Best use of Social Media
(Automotive Management).

Qur tablet-based enguiry management system has now
been successfully implemented across all siles and
provides both 2 seamless customer experience as well as
assisting compliance in the marketing and sale of regulated
anciflary products.

Development of our internal systems also continued, with
extensive upgrades 1o our financiai reporting system which
is now fully implemented across every site. This has
provided a number of enhanced features which have
improved the speed and quality of management information.

Pegple-centric

The Group was pleased lo have been ranked 22nd of the
Top 30 large employers based on The Great Place ta Work
Institute's 2016 survey.

We are also proud that during the Year we have, for the
eighth consecutive year been recognised by the Great
Place to Work Inslitute as a ‘great place to work’ based on
colleagues surveyed during 2017. This is particularly
pleasing as the 2017 survey included over 1,200
colleagues from the former Ridgeway businesses for the
first time and as such reinforces the importance of our
structured approach to the integration of new businesses
as part of our acquisition strategy. We look forward to
receiving our final ranking for this survey.

We are now in the
second year of our
initiative to attract

new talent to the
industry and improve
the retention of sales
executives. As
previously reported, this
initiative includes providing

a guarantee of earnings
during the first vyear of
employment, alongside retention
bonuses and ongoing training and

support. Whilst we have further work to do

in this area, the resulfs of this iniliative have
exceeded our expectations with a significant reduction in
sales executive colleague turmaver, We are also pleased
that it has attracted talent from a wide variety of industry
backgrounds, not just the autornotive industry, which we
expect to add strengt: and depth to our teams as well as
improving our overall customer service.

Following the success of this programme, we are
expanding it to other job roles and these initiatives will
assist us in identifying the future leaders of aur business.

Cangory Lanp ‘ﬂ* ‘l*
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Strategic growth
The Group's strategy is to grow scale with existing brand
partners in new geagraphical territories, as dermonstrated
by the acquisitions of both SG Smith in 2015 and
Ridgeway in 2016.

During the Year we added three new franchises to our
portfolio in two locations. In June 2017 we completed the
purchase of Leeds Volvo followed by the opening in
December 2017 of a new Jaguar Land Rover dealership
in Newbury, a previously unrepresented territory for these
brands.
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STRATEGIC REPORY

Retail segment

Overview

During the Year, the refail segment contributed an
underlying PBT before unallocated costs of £34.9m, a
growth of 20.8% from 2016.

Following the acquisition of Leeds Voivo, the opening of
Newbury Jaguar Land Rover and the recently announced
closures, the retail segment now consists of 101 franchises
representing 23 brand pariners trading in 26 counties.
In addition, the Group operates 5 trade parts specialists,
3 used car centres, 5 standalone body shops and
1 pre-delivery inspection (PD}) centre. The Group operates
a balanced portfolio of volume, premium and allernate
premium brands including al! of the top 5 premium brands.

The Group’s diverse portiolio means it represents
manufacturer brands accounting for 81.7% of all new
vehicle sales in the UK. This scale and diversified spread
of representation helps mitigate the effect of the cyclical
nature of individual brand performance.

Acquisitions and disposals

During the Year, the Group acquired the business and
assets of Leeds Voivo for £0.1m. This acguisition further
strengthened the Group's position as the largest franchise
parner of Volve Car UK by number of sites and was in line
with our stated strategy 1o grow scale with existing brand
partners and extend our geographic footprint into new
regions. Our focus will remain on ensuring a strong
strategic and financial case for any opporiunity, We have
further headroom 1o grow with all brand partners in what
we believe, with market uncertainty ahead, will conlinue to
be a cansolidating market.

In November 2017 the Board made the decision to close
five sub-scale, loss-making franchise dealerships and one
used car centre, Three of the franchise dealerships were
wilhin close proximity to axisting Group dealerships of the
same franchise which has enabled the Group to retain
some of the existing customer base, these were Honda
Mountsorrel, Nissan Boston and Viauxhall Welwyn Garden
City.

Two of the impacted businesses shared a sub-scale sile
in Oxford with a high fixed cost base which was not
sustainable in the longer term. These were the Maserati
franchise and one of the Group's used car centres. The
final closure announced was Cifroen Cambridge, being the
Group's only representation point with this particular brand
partner.

In addition to the removal of these loss-making franchises
and the cash realisation of associated working capital, the
closures will allow management to give greater focus to
our remaining franchises.

Investment in new retail locations

During the Year, the Group continued its significant
investment in new retail locations with two key sile
openings:

» In August 2017, we completed and opened a new Audi
dealership in Marsh Barion, Exeter, one of Europe’s
fargest motor retall parks. This investment has
significanily increased both used car and aftersales
capacity with 70 used vehicle display spaces and
14 afiersales bays. Total invesiment (including freehold
land) was £7.8m.

+ tn December 2017, we opened our Newbury Jaguar
Land Rover dealership in a previously unrepresented
territory. Total investment (including long leasehold land)
was £10.9m,

Investment in existing businesses

The Group continues to invest in upgrading existing
businesses to enhance the customer experience, satisfy
brand requirements and increase sales and aftersales
capacilies. Upgrade and refurbishment investment during
the Year included:

= Salisbury BMW/MINI: customer experience
refurbishrnent and used vehicle sales extension.

*Bedford L(and Roverr commencement of
redevelopment.

+ Mercedes-Benz Bolton and Portsmouth: customer
experience upgrade, sales and aftersales.

+ Grantham Nissan: customer experience upgrade.
* Peugeot — all sites: customer experience upgrades,

» Cambridge Volvo: relocation ta leng leasehold premises
and upgrade to new Volvo standards.

- Seat - all sites: customer experience upgrade.

* Newbury SKODA: relocation to an existing freehold site.
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Twelve months ended 31 December 2017

Revenue Gross Profit
£m
New Car 1,166.5
Used Car 2697
Aftersales 2431
Internal (47 .0)

Total 2.231.7  100.0% 258.0 100.0%
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Retail Units
Fleet Units
Total Units

Total Units

STRATEGIC REPORT

New vehicles

Growth
2017 2016 Total LFL
31,801 12.3%  (2.6%)
21507 [ )
53,308

48,88

9.0%

During the Year, the Group's retail new car unit sales
increased by 12.3%, benefitting from the full year impact
of the Ridgeway acauisition:. Like-for-like new retail units
declined by 2.6% which was a strong performance against
an averall UK new retail market decline of 6.8%.

Like-for-like unil sales o fleet customers declined by 13.9%
versus an overall market decline of 4.7%. This
perfarmance was, as expected, largely driven by a
commercial decision we tock during the Year ta withdraw
from cartain low margin flaet business,

As has been widely reported, sales of diesel vehicles have
been adversely impacted by consumer reaclion around
emissions and uncertain future government policy. Diesel
registrations fell 17.1% during the Year (including
manufacturer registrations) across the UK market with
diesel registrations accounting for 42.0% of new car
registrations during the Year, down from 47.7% in 2016,

Used vehicles

Growth
Total LFL

17.1% 52%

2017
44,237

2016
37,787

During the Year, the Group's used car unit sales increased
by 17.1% (like-for-like 5.2%). This is a particularly pleasing
performance when compared to an overall market decline
of 1.1% as reported by the SMMT.

The Group continues to focus on improving its online
presence to drive used vehicle sales. This objeclive has
been particularly successful as a result of the Group's
increased geographic footprint and enlarged stock pool
foltowing the acquisitions of SG Smith and Ridgeway.

One of the Group's key sirengths is s balanced portfolio
of volume, altemnate premium and premium brands, This
batance is important due to the cydlical nature of individual
brands. This has helped the Group outperform the overail
new car market in 2017 with premium and alternate
premium brands {which now account for aver three
quarters of the Group's franchise portfolio) performing
more strongly than the overall market.

The choice and availabiiity of finance products for
consumers, including personal contract purchase ("PCP"),
continues to play an important role in the new car market.
PCPs remain a popuiar method of financing new vehicle
purchases providing the certainty of a guaranteed future
value for the vehicle at the end of the contract. During the
Year, ¢.83% of customers purchasing new cars from the
Group on finance chose to do so using a PCP product. At
31 December 2017 the Group had 67,458 active PCP
customers. PCPs are also beneficial to the Group as they
create a defined point of renewalpurchase/
replacement and we actively manage the renewal process
fo ensure customers are retained with the Group.

Used car revenues showed growth of 21.1% (like-for-like
7.0%) driven by a strengthening premium brand mix with
higher average seliing prices. Gross margin at 6.9% was
marginally below 2016.

We continue to control our stock appropriately to meet
demand and our 56 day stocking policy encourages
accelerated stock turn, Jeading to higher sales volumes
and reduced residual value risk.

As we have seen over recent years in the new car market,
PCP as a methed of financing a vehicle purchase has
increased in the used car market. During the Year, ¢.58.0%
of the Group’s used vehicles purchased on finance were
purchased using a PCP product versus ¢.55.0% in 20186,
frequently with service plans included. This also provides
further aftersales opportunities.
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STRATEGIC REPORT
Aftersales
Growth

Total LFL

A0t 250

2017 2016

2026

During the Year, the Group's aftersales revenues increased
by 20.0% (iike-for-like 2.3%).

In addition to our ratall centre based aftersales facilities,
the Group now operates five standalone bodyshops, five
trade paris centres and one PEM centre. Aftersales
confributes 44.2% of total retall gross profit and therefore
makes a significant financlal contribution to the Group
which Is important in the context of a more cyclical new car
market.

Aftersales business is driven by the Group in a variety
of ways:

« strong growth in new and used vehicle sales over racent
years has increased the Group's customer-base, rmany

Leasing segment

On 21 September 2017 the Group announcead the strategic
disposal of Marshall Leasing to N.L1.B. Group Limited
(trading as Norlhridge Finance) for gross cash
consideration of £42.5m. The disposal completed on
24 November 2017.

The leasing and fleet management market continues to
consolidate and the Board considered that scale was
becoming Increasingty important to underpin the capital
intensive nature of the business model. The disposal

of whom retum to our dealerships for the ongoing care
and maintenance of thelr vehidies;

» used vehicle sales, and in particular those purchased on
PCPs with service ptans, also drive fulure aftersales
business with used vehicles requiring additional
aftersales sepices (8.g. MOT tests);

= wa offer service plans to customsrs of both new and used
vehicles which allow customers to plan and budget for
sarvice costs and also drves repeat visits to our
dealerships and helps us develops longer ferm custorner
relationships. At 31 December 2017 the Group had over
77,000 live service plans;

« customer sefvice is crucial In ensuring customer retention
and we monitor customer feedback throughout the
business on a weekly basis and customer satisfaction is
built into all of our operational pay plans.

As a result of these factors, gross margin at 46.9%
improved in the Year, up from 45.6% in 2016.

allows the Group to focus exclusively on its UK motor retail
operafions, a segment which the Board believes continues
to offer affractive opportunifies for future growth.

As part of the fransaction, the Group entered into an
operating agreement with Northridge Finance for the
angaing supply of new vehicles. We are pleased to have
this opporiunity as we anticipate that under new ownership,
Marshall Leasing will continue 1o grow its leasing fieet,
providing an increased opportunity to the Group.

Summary

The Group has produced another record set of resuits at
both revenue and underlying PBT, building on our strong
historical performance. In the face of a more challenging
new car market, the Group has continued to show
progress in iike-for-like performance, has integrated recent
acquisitions, restructured the balance sheet foilowing the
disposal of Marshall Leasing and closed six subscale, loss
making businesses. This ieaves the Group well positionad
for the future.

In what is now my 10th year with the Greup, | would like to
take this opportunity to thank our colleagues, Board
members, brand and business partners for thelr hard work
and support and | Jook forward to continuing to work
fogethar in 2018.

Daksh Gupta
Chief Exscutive Officer
13 March 2018
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Financial Review

Mark Raban
Chief Financial
Officer

“Net assets 247p per share, up 31%"
“Net debt £2.2m, reduced by £116.8m"

Group results

Revenue £2 . 3 bn

Group revenue increased by 19.5% to £2,268.9m (2016:
£1,899.4m) benefiting from the first full year contribution
from Ridgeway which was acquired in May 2016. In
addition to contributions from acquisitions, | am delighted
to report that like-for-like retall revenue alsa showed growth
of 3.5%. Like-for-like revenues in new vehicle sales to retail
customers, used vehicle sales and aftersales all recorded
growth during the Year.

Total gross margin at 11.7% was 8 basis points above the
same period last year (2016: 11.6%). The Group
experienced underlying margin pressure in  the
discontinued leasing segment but this was more than
offset by margin growth in the continuing retail segment.
Against the background of a more challenging market, |
am pleased 1o reporl further margin growth in both new
vehicles and aftersales.

Total operaling expenses of £240.7m ware 25.8% higher
than the sarme period last year, primarily driven by the
impact of acquisitions and non-underlying items. As
anticipated, our retall segment operating overheads on a
like-for-like basis grew by 5.4% as the Group faced
incremental structural cost pressures in a number of areas
such as business rates and transaction processing costs.

Total underlying PBT at £29.1m (2016: £25.4m) was
14.4% ahead of the previous year.

The Group’s continuing operations showed an underlying
PBT growth of 23.7% which represented another record
year. The discontinued leasing segment delivered a PBT
of £3.7m in the 11 month period to completion of the
disposal in November 2017 (full year 2018: £4.9m).

The unallocated segment consists principally of
administrative and asset management funclions.
Underlying central operating costs of £9.6m (including

interest) were, as expected, E1.1m higher than in 2016.
This was largely driven by additional infrastructure
investment and the full year impact of increased
financefinterest costs following the acquisition of Ridgeway
(see finance costs section below).

Non underlying items

£24.1m

The disposal of the leasing segment generated a one-off
gain of £36.9m after all transaction costs and provision for
the setttement of certain historic pensian liabifites.

underlying
items

In addition, the Group incurred net non-underlying costs of
£12.8m (2016: £3.2m). These included a £6.8m charge
relaled ta the closure of fiva franchised dealershins and one
used car centre announced in November 2017 (inciuding
£2.1m non-cash asset impaiment chatges). Also induded
in non-underlying items is a £6.0m post-retirement benefits
charge, representing an estimate of the Group's costs to
cease participation in a defined benefit pension scheme; one
of several outcomes being considered by the Group as part
of a wider strategic review of pension arrangements in the
light of the disposal of Marshall Leasing. See Note 34
'Pensions’ for further details.

These non-underlying items are presented separately on
the face of the income statement and are exciuded from
underlying PBT,

Finance costs

Finance

£8.1m

Finance cos!s of £8.1m were, as expeacted, £1.2m higher
than in 2016, driven by increased full year costs associated
with drawings under the Group's revelving credit facility (in
connection with the Ridgeway acquisition) and increased
stock funding charges. These additional costs include
amortisation of amrangement fees and non-utilisation
charges. We expect finance costs to reduce in 2018
following the disposal of Marshall Leasing.

Taxation

costs

Underlying

18.1%

Being sensitive to the impact of gains and charges
associated with acquisitions, disposals and restructuring, at
7.1% (2016: 19.9%), the effactive tax rate (ETR) on total
reported earnings benafited materially from the one-off, non-
taxable gain refaling to the disposal of Marshall Leasing.

ETR

The undertlying ETR was 18.1% (2016: 20.3%). The rate
benefited from nen-recurting, prior year adjustments. In
2018 in the underlying ETR is expected to return to
historical levels.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Full details of the Groutp's tax govemance framework can
be found in the Group's tax strategy which is avaitable on
the Group's website at:

hitp:/Avww.mmhplc.comfinvestors/carporate-governance.

Acquisitions

£0.1m

Total spend

Continuing the Group’s strategy of expansion with existing
brand partners in new geographic terrltories, during the
Year the Group completed the acquisition of Leeds Voiva
for £0.1m, further sirengthening its position as the largest
franchise partner of Volvo Car UK by number of sites.

Disposal of discontinued operation
£42.5m
proceeds

On 21 Ssplernber 2017 the Group announced the strategic
disposal of Marshall Leasing to N.i.LB. Group Limited
(which trades as Northridge Finance), a wholly awned
subsidiary of Bank of ireland (UK) plc. Following regulatory
approval from the Financial Conduct Authority, the
transaction completed on 24 November 2017.

Gross

As well as further strengthening the Group's balance sheet,
the disposal allows the Group to focus on its core motor
retall busingss and to continue the Group’s successful
strategy of driving both organic growth and increasing its
UK geographic footprint through targeted acquisitions with
existing brand partners.

The gross cash consideration for the disposal was £42.5m
before costs and expenses which has been used initially
to reduce levels of indebltedness. The net assets of
Marshall Leasing on disposal were £2.3m.

The Group incurred £1.8m of transaction costs in relation
to the disposal, induding the seltlement of long term
management incentives for certain senior employees of
Marshall Leasing.

Net debt

£2.2m

The Group's balance shest is strong and has significant
capacity to support continued growth. The Group had total
net assets of £191.2m (2016: £145.7m) which equates to
247p per share as at 31 December 2017 (2016: 188p per
share).

Net debt

The Group incurred £24.4m of retall capital expenditure
during the Year (2016: £28.8m). | am pleased to report that
two major freshold/ong leasehold developments opened
on time and on budget during the second half of the Year.
These were Audi Exeter and a new Jaguar Land Rover

dealership at a new franchise point in Newbury. 2018 wi
be the final year of our three-year £75m retail capital

expenditure programme.

Total inventory at 31 December 2017 was £401.3m
{2016: £380.0m) of which £380.6m was subject to vehicle
funding arrangements (2016: £364.7m).

At 31 December 2017, the Group had net debt of £2.2m
(2016: £119.0m). In addition to the significant positive cash
flow from the disposal of Marshall Leasing, the Group
cantinued fo focus on all aspects of working capital control,
driving a posifive cash flow from reduced levels of working
capital during the Year. The significant reduction in net debt
leaves the Group wall posifioned to pursue further growth
opportunities and to respond appropriately to more
challenging market conditions.

Importantly, the disposal of Marshall Leasing has materially
reduced the Group's exposure to vehicls residual value
risks during a period of more challenging market

Qur £120m three year banking facility was put in place
during May 2016 for general corporate purposes including
acquisiions and working capital requirements. This facility
was undrawn at 31 December 2017. During the Year, the
Group axercised an aption to extend the facility for a further
year to 2020. The Group has a further option in May 2018
to extend the facility for a further twelve months.

Dividends

Dividends
per share

The Board is delighted to recommend a final dividend of
4.25p (20116: 3.70p) per share which, together with the
Interim dividend of 2.15p (2016: 1.80p) per share, gives a
total dividend for the Year of 6.40p (2016: 5.50p).

If approved by sharsholders, the dividend will be paid on
25 May 2018 to shareholders who are on the Company's
register at close of business on 27 April 2018.

The Board intends to maintain a progressive dividend
policy whereby dividends are coverad between 4 to 5 times
undertying eamings and pald in an epproximate one-third
(interim dividend) and two-thirds (final dividend) spiit. The
retained eamnings of the Company at 31 December 2017
of £70.1m (2016: £19.7m) are considered sufficlent for the
payment of future dividends in line with the Group's

T

Mark Raban
Chief Financial Officer
13 March 2018




Marshall Motor Holdings plc | Annual Report & Accounts 2017




STRATEGIC REPORY

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group faces a range of risks and uncertainties. The processes thal the Board has eslablished to safeguard both
shareholder value and the assets of the Group are described in the Corporate Governance report.

Set out below are the principal risks and uncertainties the Directors believe could have the most significant adverse
impact on the Group's business, together with the principal controls in place to mitigate those risks. The risk trend
column indicates the Board's view on whether, from a Group perspective taking into account mitigating actions, these
risks have increased, remained relatively stable or decreased over the past 12 months. The risks and unceriainties
described below are not intended to be an exhaustive list.

STRATEGY
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Potential lmpact

Mitigation/Controls Risk Trend

STRATEGY AND BUSINESS RELATIONSHIPS

Fallure to adopt the
right business
strategy andior
fallure to implement
strategy
successiully

Manufacturer
Relationships

Fallure to integrate
acquisitions
successfully

Disruption to
franchise business
model

The Group misses Its financial
largels or is unable to invest in
its businesses

Reduction in confidence of key
stakeholders {shareholders,
brand pariners, lenders,
employees)

Poor investment decisions/
failure lo achieve targeted
investiment retums

Failure, or downlum in
performance, of manufacturer
pariners impacting vehicle sales
and profitability of those
franchises

Fallure to malntain good relations
with manufaclurers impacting
revenue and profitability

Loss of a franchise leading 1o a
reduction in revenue and
profitability and the risk of vacant
properties and/or onerous leases

Poor manufacturer relationships
impacting acquisition and/or
growth opportunities

Loss of key personnelfcustomers

Brand pariner relationship
damage

Reduced financlal performance
of acquired businesses

Failure to achieve largeted
synergies

Damage to manufacturer and/or
customaer relationships

Allernative business models
impacting franchised dealer
model

Direct sales channels
clrcumventing franchised dealers

Revenues and profits may fall
due to competlitor action

‘Mobdlity as a service’ laading to
reduced private vehicle
ownerghip

Electric and allemative fusl
yehicles leading to a decline in
sales for tradilional vehicle
manufacturers and/or reduced
demand for aflersales services

Annual stralegy review by the Board |
Monthly reporting and montoring of key financial _—
information and performance

Detailed business planning and due diligence prior to
potential acquisitions

Review of capltal expenditure plans o ensure our

return on capital objectives are achievable

Capital investment appralsal process with Board

review of major investments

Diversity of franchises mitigates the cyclical nature

of, and an over refiance on individual vehicle brands

Focus on efficient use of working capital

Ongoing portfolio management focused on ||
strengthening key franchise relationships/divesiment NS
of non-core businesses

Diverse franchise representalion avoids over reliance

on any single manufaclurer

Close contact and regular review with manufacturers
({through CEQ, Operations, Commercial and
Franchise Directors) %o ensure our respective goals
are communicated, understoad and aligned

Detailed business planning and due diligence on
polential acquisitions

integration plan developed prior to acquisition and
implemented in a Umely manner thereafler
Group-wide single dealer management platform and
Phoenix management sysiem implemented
immediately afler acquisition

Implementation of Group policies and procedures.

Intarnal Audit verification of successhl
implementation of Group processes post-acquisition

Ongeing development of customer experience to
ensure the Group maintains a compefitive advantage

IT developments to maintain competitive advaniage
{e.g. development of website/Phoenix managemant
systom)

Maintaining dlose relatlonships with manufacturer
partners to ensure each party's mutual aims are
achieved

Partnering with brands who are responding
effectively lo the cleaner technology agenda

Connecled car technology reinforces link between
customers and manufaciurers through franchised
deslers

Annual stralegy review
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Risk Area Potential Impact

Mitigation/Controls Risk Trend

ECONOMIC AND POLITICAL

Deterioration In Increasad infialion and falling consumer
sconomic conditions/ canfidence leading ta lower vehicle
consumer fich lesh i
rgins and a n in
{including deterioration "
driven by UK declslon  "eYenue and profiabiity
to leave the EU} Reduction In used vehicle values
Impacling stock values
VWeankening sterling impacting new
vehicle prices and sales
Manufacturers’ focus on the UK
aulomotive retail market may decline
leading 1o reduced output and sales

Interest rate rises | ting avatlability
and affordability of vehicle finance

Rise in interest rates

jeading 1o reduced vehicle sales
Increased cosls of servidng the
Group’s borrowings
Increased Operating Increased operating and non-
Costs controflable cosls (e.g. amployment

coats, Apprenlice Levy, business rate
es, [T and marketing costs)
impacting profitability

Monitoring ol ecanomic condilions with appropriate
actions

Stock management & monkoring {S6 day stocking
policy) with appropriately prudent financial provisions
Maintaining close relationships with manufacturers.

Moniloring of interest rales

Malerial reduction in Group's debt following sale of
Marshall Leasing

Stock control and working capital policy

ol

cosls 1 and f in budg

Cost reduclion inifialives o offset structural cost
in¢reases

FINANCE AND TREASURY

Credit availability/withdrawal of
financing faclliies impacting trading
ability

Breach of covenants or inability to meet
deb obligations

Increased stock funding costs

Liquidity & credit

Fluctuations in used vehldle values
adversely impacting the vaiue of the
Group's vehicle inventary

Vehicle residual values
volatility

Working capital managernent 8 cash flaw monitering
Commitied RCF and vehicle stocking facllities
Malntaining strong relationships with funders
Disposal of Marshall Leasing reduced Group
indebledness

Stock management & monfloring (56 day stocking
poiicy)

Risk reduced following disposal of Marshall Leasing

LEGAL AND REGULATORY

Non-compliance with key legal and
regulatory codes (FCA, VOSA, ICO.
elc.) leading lo fines, liigation,
authorisation suspensian and/or
repulational damage

Regulalory intervention into the market
(e.g. FCA molor finance review) may
impact operalions

Regulatory changes following the UK's
depariure from the EU which may
adversely impact tha retall avtomotive
market

Legal & Regulatory
Changes and
Compllance

Group policles and praced o risk of

non-compllance
Training and deveiopment of employees
FCA retail and aversight commitiess to manitar

New Head of Compliance appointed

Internal Audit department strengthened

Moniloring of regutatory announcementsimarket
studies lo assess polenlial changes and madifying
operalions i adapl to any impiemanted changes.

Maintaining close relationships with manufacturer
partners to assess indicalors of change fo thelr
operating methods and/os UK market focus.
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Risk Area

Potential Impact

ENVIRONMENTAL AND HEALTH & SAFETY

Environmental and Fafiure to ensure colleagues and

Health & Safety cusiomers safe places of work
leading to accidents, litigation,
fines and reguiatory intervention
Non-compliance with

environmental laws &
regulations leading to fines,
penaltias and compensation and
clean-up cosls and disruption to
operations

1T AND CYBER SECURITY R
Failure of key IT Loss of key information sysiems,
systems downtime and business

Interruption
Cyber Security Potential to corrupt, affect or

destroy key systems and data
(emall, DMS & customer
records), denial of sarvice
altacks and business inlerruption
leading to lost revenue

Mitigation/Controls

Risk Trend

Group health & safety policies and procedures to

[
promote safe places of work ]
EHA&S audil programme acrass Group.

Regular inspection of plant and equipment

New and expanded Health & Safety ieam monitors

compliance and promotes a health and safety helps
culture

Waste management procedures and employee
tralning

Environmental due diligence for new site acquisitions
with appropriate environmental Insurance in place
for higher risk sites

In-house T team monitors systems and implements S
upgrade programmes |
Contingency and disaster recovery plans In place

IT steering commitiee and [T risk register maintained
to monitor risk

Ongoing investment in [T infrastruciure maintenance
and upgrade

Unified threal managemant - Firewall installed
Clear protocols/policies in place regarding use and
access lo the Group’s IT systems

Anti-virus software installed on all computers ta
reducea risk of viral infections

PEOPLE

Fallure to attract,
develop, motivate
and retaln key
employees

Loss of key personnel and
skilled workers (e.g. technicians)
impacting operational
performance, and relationships
with key brand partners and
suppliers

Appropriate remuneration packages which reward
performance and long term incentiva plans for senior
employees

Guaranieed eamings schemne for new sales staff to
assist recruitment and relention

Promotion of “Great Place to Work” culiure
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Board of Directors

. Daksh Gupta | Chief Executive Dfficer

Daksh has aver 25 years’ experience In the automalive reiail
sector and joined the Company in 2008 as ils Chief Executive
Officer. Daksh was a franchise director lor Inchcape for seven
years where he was responsible for the Volkswagen, Audi and
Marcedes-Benz brands. Daksh also served as Chief Operating
Officer of Accidert Exchange Group plc and prior lo joining the
Group was Group Managing Director for Ridgeway Group. Daksh
was a direclor of Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited unti) 2
April 2015 and s vice chairman of the UK automolive industry
charity, BEN.

. Francesca Ecsery | Non-Executive Director

Francesca has over 20 years' directorship experience in both blue
chip companies and start-ups in the digilal, retsil, fast-moving
consumer goods (FMCG) and leisure industties. She is a Harvard
MBA, fluent in five languages and has special experiise in
multi-platform consumer markefing, branding and comnercial
sirategies. Francesca Is also non-executive direclor of listed
companies Foreign & Calonial investiment Trust plc and Share pic
and also of Logistik Holdings Limited. She was a non-executive
director of Good Energy Group Pic until December 2017. Her
previous executive experlence includes McKinsey, Pepsi Co,
ThornEMI, Thomas Cook, STA Travel and many other consurner
brands. Francesca was appointed 1o the Board in March 2015,

3. Christopher Sawyer |} Non-Executive Director

From 1991 to 2006, Christopher led Deltron Electronics plc which
was quoted in 1996 and sold o ABACUS Eiectronics Pic in 2006.
In 2007, Chrislopher became chairman of the Lorien Limited
group. Between 2006 and 2013, he was chairman of the parent
of Bearmach Limnited, a global distributor of Land Rover parts,
Christopher has been a non-execulive direclor of Marshall of
Cambridge (Hokdings) Limited since 2008 and currently chairs its
audit committee. Christopher was appointed to the Board on
2 April 2015 as a nominated director of Marshall of Cambridge
(Holdings) Limited.

. Stephen Jones | Company Secretary

Siephan is a practising Salicitor and spent eight years as a
corporate lawyer at Eversheds LLP. Ha aiso spent eight years as
Group Counsel and Company Secrelary at Automotive and
nsurance Solutions Group Plc. Stephen joined the Company in
March 2015.

. Peter Johnson | Non-Executive Chairman

and Chair of the Nominations Committes

Peler has over 40 years" experience in the aulomativa sectar,
spending 30 years in senior reles in retail and distribution with the
Rover Group, Marshall and Inchcape plc where he was Chief
Execulive between 19289 and 2005. Peter served on the Bunzl plc
board from 2006 to 2015 as its senior independant director and
Chaitman of its Remuneration Committee. He also chaired Rank
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ple from 2007 1o 2012 and served on the Wates Group Limilec
board from 2003 to 2013. Peter was a non-executive Director of
Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limiled until 2 April 2015. Peter
is the current Chairman of the Retail Molor Industry Federation
and president of the UK automotive industry charity, BEN.

. Alan Ferguson | Senior Independent Director

and Chair of the Audit Committee

Alan is a non-executive direclor of Johnson Matthey PLC, Croda
Internationa! Pic and, untll April 2018 when he will retire from the
Board, The Weir Group Plc. He chairs the audit committees of
each of these companies and is the Senior independent Director
of Johnson Matthey. Alan was chief financial officer ar a director
of Lonmin Plc unlil December 2010, prior lo which he was group
finance direcior of the BOC Group plc, Alan spent 22 years in a
variety of roles at Inchcape ple, including six years as ils group
finance director from 1999, Alan is a chartered accountant and
sits on the Business Policy Panel of the Institute of Charlered
Accounlants of Scolland. Alan was appointed to the Board in
March 2015.

. Mark Raban | Chief Financlal Officer

Mark has 25 years' of general retail experience, including three as
the finance director of Inchcape Retail Limited. He spent three
years as Chief Financial Ofiicer for the UK and lreland at Borders
Group and was the interim financial director at Selfridges Retail
timited. Mark has also held senior finance roles at public
companies such as Safeway and Burlon. Mark was appointed as
Chief Financial Officer of the Company on 2 April 2015.

8. Christopher Walkinshaw | Non-Executive Director

Christopher joined Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited in
1983 and has worked in all of the principal Marshall businesses,
inchiding Marshall Aerospace, Marshall Land Systems and, from
1994 to 2011, Marshall Motor Holdings. Christopher joined the
senior team in Marshall of Cambridge (Hokdings) Ltd in 2011 and
has responsibility for extemnal relations and communications.
Christopher is Chairman of the Regional Employers Engagement
Group for the Easl Anglian Resesve Forces’ and Cadels'
Association, Chairman of No. 104 (City of Gambridge) Squadron
Air Cadets, a director of the Cambridgeshire Chambers of
Commerce, a Trustee of the Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust and
a Member of Anglian Learning. Christopher was appointed to the
Board on 12 July 2016 as a nominated director of Marshall of
Cambridge (Holdings) Limited.

. Sarah Dickins | Non-Executive Director

and Chair of the Remuneration Committee

Sarah has over 20 years' HR experience across a broad range of
sectors including retail, utilities and financial services. She spant
16 years at Asda, five of thase years as an operating board
member responsible for people operations and customer service
for 150,000 colleagues. Sarah joined Provident Financial Group
in 2012 as Executive People Director before becoming Group
People Director at Bourne Leisure Limited in 2015. Sarah was
appointed to the Board in March 2015.
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their annual report an the affairs of the Group, tegether with the financial statements and independent
auditor's report, for the year ended 31 December 2017 {the “Year”).

Principal Activities

The principal aclivity of the Company is that of a holding company. The principal activity of its subsidiary undertakings is
the sale and servicing of passenger cars and commercial vehicle and associated activities. Untif the disposal of Marshall
Leasing Limited in November 2017, the Group was also engaged in the business of easing vehicles.

Results and Dividends
The resuits for the Year are set out in the Group income statement. The Direclors recommend the payment of a final
dividend of 4.25p per ordinary share to be paid on 25 May 2018 to sharehalders who are on the Company’s register at

close of business on 27 April 2018.

Business Review and Future Developments
The review of the business and likely future developments is included within the Stralegic Report. This also includes details

of acquisitions, disposals and growth plans for the future.

Going Concern

After making appropriate enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expeciation that the Group has adequate resources
ta continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and for at least one year from the date of these financial
staternents. Far these reasons, they continue to adopt the gaing concern basis in the preparation of these financiat

statements.

Directors
Detlaifs of the current direclors are set out on pages 28 to 29. The directors wha served during the Year and subsequently

are detailed below.

Current Directors — Non-Executive Direclors
Peter Johnson

Alan Ferguson

Sarah Dickins

Francesca Ecsery

Christopher Sawyer

Christopher Watkinshaw

Executive Direclors
Daksh Gupla
Mark Raban

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company adopted on 12 March 2015 (the "Articles”), Daksh Gupta
will retire by rotation and offer himself for reappointment at the annual general meeling to be held on 22 May 2018
{the "AGM").

The interests of the Directors and their immediate families in the share capital of the Company. along with details of
Directors share options and awards, are contained in the Direclors’ Remuneration Report on pages 44 {0 50,

Share Capital
The aulhorised and issued share capital of the Company, together with the details of shares issued during the Year ate

shown in Note 30 to the financial statements. The issued share capital of the Company at 31 December 2017 was
77,392,862 ordinary shares of 64p each.

Substantial Shareholdings
As at 9 March 2018, the Company had been naotified of interests in excess of 3 per cent in the Company's share capital

by the following shareholders:

Percentage of Existing
Name Numbaer of Ordinary Shares Ordinary Shares Held
Marshail of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited 50,390,625 65.11%
Union Invesiments and Developrnent Limited 7.005,839 9.05%
Schrodaers pic 3,907,275 5.05%
Polar Capital [.LP 3,087,900 3.99%
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Share Option Schemes T
Details of employee share option schemes are set out in the Remuneration Committee Repon and in Note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Charitable and Political Donations
During the Year, the Group made the following charitable donations during the year: £14,000 (2016: £51,000).

No political contributions were made during the Year (2016: £nil).

Disabled Employees

The Group gives full consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons where the candidate’s particular
aptitude and abilities are consistent with adequately meeting the requirements of the job. Opportunities are available to
disabled employees for fraining, career development and promotion. Where existing employees become disabled, itis the
Group's policy to provide continuing employment wherever practicable in the seme or an altemative position and to provide
appropriate training to achieve this aim.

Employee Involvement

During the Year the policy of providing employees with information about the Group has been continued through the
newsletters ‘Marshall Matters’ and ‘Compliance Matters’, team briefings and through our global email network. Regular
meetings are held between local management and employees to allow a free flow of information and ideas. We also
participate in the Great Place to Work Instilute's employee engagement programme. Further details are set out in the
Corporate Social Responsibility Section of this Annual Report.

Anti-Bribery and Corruption

The Group has in place an anti-bribery and corruption policy, the aim of which is to ensure that colleagues understand
their obligations under anti-bribery legislation and includes authorisaticn and disclosure procedures around the provision
and receipt of corporate hospitality and gifts.

Disclosure of Information to Auditor
In so far as each of the persons who were Directors at the date of approving these financial statemants is aware:
» There is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and

+ Each director has taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the auditor is aware of that.

Auditor
A resolution to appoint Emst & Young LLP as auditor will be put to the members at the AGM.

AGM

Notice of the AGM to be held on 22 May 2018 is set out at the end of this Annual Report. The resolutions proposed at the
AGM are summarised as follows:

Resoiution 1 — Receiving the annual report and accounts for the year ending 31 December 2017

All quoted companles are required by law to lay their annual accounts before a general meeting of the Company, together
with the directors’ reports and auditors’ repoit on the accounts. At the AGM, the directors will present these documents to
the shareholders for the financial year ended 31 December 2017.

Resolution 2 — Declaration of dividend

This resolution concems the Company’s final dividend payment. The directors are recommending a final dividend of 4.25p
per ordinary share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017 which, if approved, will be payable on 25 May 2018
to the shareholders on the register of members on 27 April 2018

Resolution 3 — Re-appointment of Direclor

Daksh Gupta will retire by rotation and offer himself for reappointment at the AGM in accordance with the Articles

Resolution 4 — Re-appointment of the Auditor

This resolution concerns the re-appointment of Emst & Young LLP as auditor until the conclusion of the next general
meeting at which accounts are laid

Resolution 5 - Auditor's remuneration
This resclution authorises the Directors to fix the auditor's remuneration
By order of the Board

Stephen Jones _a
Company Secrel
13 March 2018
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Corporate and Social Responsibility
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MARSHALL MAKING A DIFFERENCE

Qur values are ingredibly important to us as they determine
how we should all behave. We encouwrage colleagues to
help us make a difference and stand out from the crowd.

Whilst our focus is creating an environment where
colleagues enjoy carming to work and help us to meet our
business objectives, we also believe it is important o give
back to our communities and the environment in which we
live.

Group Giving

We have been actively involved in supporting and raising
awareness for the Molor and Aliied Trades Benevelent
Fund {'BEN'") - since 1984. BEN is the UK's dedicated
charity for those who work, or have worked, in the
automotive and related industries, as well as their
dependants. In that time, we have raised around £600,000
which includes the generous donations our colleagues
make via payroll giving. In 2017 we raised £54,398 for BEN.

Qur Chainman, Peter Johnson, has been president of BEN
since Oclober 2016 and CEQ, Daksh Gupta, became a
trustee and Vice Chairman in October 2012.

For the second year running we have run ‘'BEN Week'
which coincides with BEN's Industry Leaders Challenge.
This year, ene of our Franchise Directors joined a team of
Jaguar Land Rover colleagues to swim the English Channel
which raised £214,000. To support this, during the week
ieading up io the challenge every Marshall business did
something to raise money. Colleagues dressed up, look
part in sporting challenges and other fun activities to help
raise money for BEN. This was a tremendous teambuilding
apportunity for colleagues and was also a way of
connecting with our customers.

Whilst supporting BEN remains close o our hearts, giving
colleagues the opportunily to get invalved with other good
causes is equally impartant.

We have supported the Macmilian Coffee Mornings for
many years which enables our businesses io get involved
at 2 local level, bringing colleagues and customers logether.
We have raised over £111,000 for Macmillan over this
period.

We alsc support national initiatives such as Red Nose Day,
Children in Need, Weat it Pink for Breast Cancer and
Christmas Jumper Day for Save the Children. Each
dealership deterrnines how they are going lo support these
events. This generally involves having a lol of fun and
getting customers invoived. For example, coming lo work
in fancy dress ar taking part in a sporting challenge.

Locai Giving

We encourage our colleagues to get involved with local
causes which support the communities in which they work.
By way of example, our Jaguar Land Raver lpswich
dealership is supporting a local project called Hudd! which
supports Jocal people facing challenges with parenting.

'Services in the Communily’ is one of the categories
racognised as part of our Marshall Achievement, Values
and Teamwork Awards.
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MARSHALL PEOPLE

Our Values

We seek {o ensure our values are at the forefront of
everything we do. We encourage coileagues 1o uphoid
these values and behave in a way that brings them to life
and supports our culture of being a great place to work,
defivering first class customer service.

Recruiting, retaining and developing our people

We have a clear Colleague Value Propasition to attract the
best talent and support our strategy to be an employment
destination. We use a range of tools and assessment
methods o ensure we recruit pecple who can deliver their
abjectives in ling with our values and business strategy.

Every new colleague experiences a thorough induction
programme which incorparates gur history, values, alms
and objectives as well as a structured programme of
training and coaching relevant to their role, the brand and
the team.

Qur dedicated team of HR professionals support the
business, aided by policies and practices 1o ensure we
provide the best support, benefits and career opporiunities
to our colleagues.

Our bespoke Marshall Learning & Development Academy
provides opportunities for cur colleagues to realise their
potential and support their development to ensure they
have a fulfilling career with us.

Our Management Assessment Centres explore whether
applicants are not only competent to do the role but also
demonstrate the right behaviours to lead their people and
uphoid our values. Since introducing this process in 2014
management turnover has fallen.

In addition, all new Sales Executives attend ouwr residential
Sales Orientation Programme before starting in their
dealership. This is a rounded programme which not anly
inciudes the technicalities of the role but culiurally what our
customers should experience when they interact with us.
This pragramme has significantly reduced our sales
execiliva turnover since launching in June 2016.

Recognising our people

Our recognition programmes are designed to support our
colleague engagement agenda. These programmes
include overseas incentive trips, long service awards and
awards for demonstrating our values.

Our MAVTA programme {Marshall Achieverment, Values
and Teamwork Awards) recognises colisagues who

demonsirale outstanding achievements in Customer
Service, Teamwork, Innovation, Leadership, Services in the
Community, Business Excellence and Environmental.

Communicating with our people

We belleve communication is the key to maintaining
colleague engagement and our employment brand. We
have an ethos of transparency and shafing news on a
regular basis including CEO communications, weekly
bulletins, our Colleague magazine, intranet and regular
feam meetings.

Diversity and our people

We are commitied to encouraging diversity and ensuring
that discrimination has no place in our business. We want
every colleague 1o feel respecied and able to perform o the
best of their ability. We do not make assumptions about a
person's ability io carry out his or her duties based on ethnic
arigin, gender, sexual arientation, marital status, religion or
other philosophical beliefs, age or disability.

We expect all our colleagues to act with infegrity and
behave ethicaily in everything they do. Te reinforce this, we
have the Marshall Code of Conduct which is supported by
an online programme which forms pari of every new
colleague's induction.

Engaging our people

Ouwr employment policies and praclices are consistent with
ouwr values and culiure, helping us to achieve our business
objeclives through engaged people.

Since 2008 we have worked with the Great Place 1o Work
Institute’s Best Workplaces programme. This has given us
the opportunity lo seek feedback from our colleagues each
year lo measure levels of engagement and drive
continuous improvement.

Since 2010 wa have achieved survey scores ahead of the
70% UK benchmark which determines a great place to
work. In 2017 we achieved an overall score of 78% which
included over 1,200 calleagues from the recently acquired
former Ridgeway businesses. In May 20497 we were proud
to be ranked as a Best Large UK Workplace for the third
year in sucGession.

Category: Large §#3
2017 |
£Y4
g
Best Workplaces™ |
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MARSHALL EMBRACING SAFETY

In 2017, we have increased the visibility of our Health,
Safety & Environmental (HSE) team across the business.
Targeted communications and visits fo sites enable us to
adopt a consistent approach to health and safety for all
activities across our business.

Qur HSE team aims o provide support and direction to all
sites by continually reviewing and improving our policies
and procedures, supporting and advising managers to
assist them in fulfilling their H&S responsibilities.

The teamn also provide access to first aider, fire warden and
risk assessor fraining.

Qur first aiders and fire wardens are all volunieers who
undertake these roles in addition to their usual dulies.
Monthly checks of first aid boxes, firefighting equipment and
emergency lighting, as well as weekly fire alarm tests are
just some of the additional tasks these colleagues
undertake on our behalf.

In addition, each of ocur sites has a trained risk assessor
who is responsible for ensuring that the site specific risk
assessmenis remain relevant and up ¢ date for their site.

The HSE team also monitor, report and investigate all
incidents and where trends are identified an HSE Aleri is
createa and shared with ail colleagues.

Planned preventive maintenance is organised by the HSE
team working with our approved contractors to ensure all
relevant inspections and any identified remedial work is
undertaken on time and certificated evidence is available.

Finaily, having listened to feedback from our colleagues,
the HSE team has worked with our pariner company, Defib
Machines, to install and maintain Automated Defibrillator
Machines at 122 sites across our portfolio.

We also track our Accident Frequency Rale {AFR)on a
monthly and annual basis. The AFR is the measwre of the
number of accidents per 1m hours warked. The Mator
Industry AFR is currentiy 14.2 (taken from HSE docurnent
‘Infury frequency rates'). Our AFR for 2017 was 4.55.

™,

Environmental
Bmbrazing cur e

%

MARSHALL GOING GREEN
The Marshall LEAF (Lowering Energy 1o Aid the Future)
aims to lower the impact we have on the environment.

This initiative complerments our obligations to report under
Energy Savings Opportunity Scheme {ESOS) which is
designed to lead to greater energy efficiency. cost savings
and carbon reduction.

We use the information from the ESOS surveys when
developing our new dealerships as well as refurbishments
of exisling sites.

All of our new-build deaterships have been buill to
BREEAM "Very Good” rating. BREEAM Is the world's
leading environmental assessment method for buildings
and sets the standard for best practice in sustainabie
building design, construction and operation and has
become one of the most comprehensive and widely
recognised measures of a building’s environmental
performance.

At Marshall we take our duly of care responsibilities very
setiously and as such work closely with our approved waste
contractor to provide a comprehensive collection and
processing service of our hazardous and non-hazardous
recyclable materials.

In 2017 96.2% of ouwr hazardous waste materials, such as
engine oil, lead acid batieries, rags and absorbents were
recycled and recovered. This equates to over 1.2m kg of
waste which didn'i go to tandfill.

in 2017, 68.2% of our dry mixed recycling waste materials,
such as paper, plastics, metals and cardboard, were
recycled and recovered. This equates to over 1.4m kg of
waste which didn't go to landfill.

We also work with our Brand partners fc ensure compliance
with The Producer Responsibility Obligations (Packaging
Waste) Regulations the aim of which is to reduce the
amount of packaging waste ihat ends up in tandfill.

Additionally, we work closely with water retailers and local
water authorities to ensure that where our operations
involve the discharge of waste water (e.g. valeting), we
have obtained the correct level of consent and that our
aclions do not cause pollution via surface water drainage
and other water courses.

Finally, we work with the Environmental Prolection Teams
at various counclls across England to ensure we have the
relevant permits in place, under the Environmental
Permitting (England & Wales Regulations 2007} at those of
our dealerships which have a Bodyshop, or where we have
independent Bodyshop operations. This includes
undertaking regular monitoring to ensure we remain
compliant with the limits set within the permits.
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Corporate Governance

PRINCIPLES OF CORPORATE GOVERNANGE

The Board recognises that applying sound governance principles in the running of the Group is essential. The Company is listed
on AM and is therefore not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However, in recognising the value and
importance of high standards of corporate governance the Company has, since its admission to AIM in April 2015, adopled the
QCA Corporate Governance Code for Small and Mid-Size Quoted Companies so far as it is practicable having regard for the
size and nature of the Group.

An explanation of how these principles have been applied during the Year is set out below,

THE BOARD

The table below sets out details of all directers who have served during the Year and their membership of Board Commitlees.
This includes details of each member’s altendance at the twelve board meetings during the Year. There are separate attendance
statements in respect of the Audit and Remuneration Committees on pages 41 and 44.

Director Date appointed  Role Committees Board
{C = current chair} aftendance
Peter Johnson 27 June 2014 Non-Executive Chairman Nomination Committee {C) 12/42
Adan Fergusan 11 March 2015 Senior Independent Director  Audit Committes {(C) 1212
Remuneration Commitiee
Nomination Committee
Francesca Ecsery 25 March 2015 Independent Non-Executive Audit Committee 1212

Remuneration Commitiee
Nomination Commitiee

Sarah Dickins 11 March 2015 Independent Non-Executive  Audit Commitiee 1112
Remuneration Cornmittee (C)
Nominations Commiliee

Christopher Sawyer* 2 April 2015 Non-Executive Audit Committee 12112
Remuneration Commitiee
Nomination Committee

Christopher 12 Juty 2016 Non-Executive n/a 12/12

Walkinshaw*

Daksh Guplta 1 October 2008 Chief Executive Officer n'a 12112

Mark Raban 2 April 2015 Chief Financial Officer fa 1212

* Christopher Sawyer and Christopher Walkinshaw are nominated directors of Marshall of Cambtidge (Holdings) Limited.

Board decisions are generally on matters of strategy (including acquisitions and disposals), policy, peaple, performance, budgets
and significant capital expenditure. Each director receives information on matters to be discussed {including Board reports from
the Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary) in advance of each Board meeting 10 ensure ihat there is
a full debate at Board level and in particular so that the non-executive directors can contribute fully

The Board has formally reserved specific matters for ils determination and has approved terms of reference for all Board
Committees.

All directors have access lo independent professional advice, if they have the need lo seek it. There is an induction pracess for
new ditectors and training is available when raquired.

Chairman, Chief Executive Dfficer and Senior independent Director

Peter Johnson is Non-Executive Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer is Daksh Gupta. There is a jormal division of
responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Execulive Officer. The Senior Independent Director is Alan Ferguson.
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Board Balance
The Company currently has eight directors, of which three are independent non-executives.

Under the ferms of a Relfationship Agreement (“Relationship Agreement”) with Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited ("MCHL™)
(details of which are set out below), MCHL is entitled lo appoint two nominated directors to the Board, so long as it holds 30%
or more of the Company's ordinary shares. MCHL appointed Christopher Sawyer as one of its nominated directors on 2 April
2015 and appointed Christopher Walkinshaw as its second nominated director on 12 July 2016.

Performance Evaluation
The non-execulive directors have met without the presence of the executive directors, during which the performance of executive
directors was assessed and without the presence of the Chairman (lo assess the performance of the Chairman).

Re-election
In accordance with the Company’s Articles, Daksh Gupta will retire by rotation and offer himself for reappointment at the AGM.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Commitiee which comprises Peter Johnson (Chair of the Commitlee),
Alan Ferguson, Sarah Dickins, Francesca Ecsery and Christopher Sawyer.

The Nomination Commitlee is responsible for reviewing the struclure, size and composition of the Board, preparing a description
of the role and capabilities required for a particular appointment and identifying and nominating candidates to fill Board positions
as and when they arise. It has not been considered necessary for the Nomination Committee to meet during the Year.

Audit Committee
The Company has established an Audit Committee, which comprises Alan Ferguson (Chair of the Committee), Sarah Dickins,
Francesca Ecsery and Christopher Sawyer.

Further information on the Audit Commillee is set out on pages 41 lo 42,

Remuneration Committee
The Company has established a Remuneration Committee which comprises Sarah Dickins {Chair of the Committee} Alan
Ferguson, Francesca Ecsery and Christopher Sawyer.

Further information on the Remuneration Commiltee is set out on pages 43 lo 50.

RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Group is committed to maintaining good relations with ali its shareholders through the provision of Inferim and Annual
Reports, other trading statements and the Annual General Meeting. The Company also meets with its institutional shareholders
regularly.

In light of MCHL's aggregate shareholding in the Company, on Admission the Company entered inlo the Relationship Agreement
with MCHL In order to regulate the relationship between MCHL and the Company and enable the Company to act independently
of MCHL and its affiliates. Under the terms of this agreement MCHL has the right, for so long as it owns 30% or more of the
Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company, to appoint two directors to the Board and one director to each of the committees
of the Board, ncluding the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Commiliee. The Relationship Agreement will terminate in the
event that MCHL ceases to own 30% or more of the ordinary shares in the capital of the Company.

Further details of the Relalionship Agreement can be found in the Company's AIM Admission Documenl which is available on
the Company's website at wwwmmbhplc.com.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The Annual General Meeting provides an opportunity for alt sharehoiders to be updated on the Group's progress and ask

questions of the Board.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board has uitimate responsibility for both the preparation of accounts and the monitoring of systems of internal financial
control. The Board seeks to present a falr, balanced and understandable assessment of the Group's position and its prospects
and present price-sensitive information in an appropriate way.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has ultimate responsibility for the Group's system of internal contro! and for reviewing its effectiveness. However, any
such system of internal control can provide only reasonabie but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The Board considers that the internal controls in place are appropriate for the size, complexity and risk profile of the Group.
The principal slements of the Group's internal control system include:

+  management of the day to day aclivilies of the Group by the executive Directors; aided by the Group's bespoke management
information system, Phoenix 2;

*  an organisational structure with defined levels of responsibility;

»  aforecasting process al each quarier end;

« anannual budgeting process which is approved by the Board;

+ detailed weekly and monthly reporting of performance against budget and the prior year using Cognos;

*  central control over key areas such as capital expenditure authorisation, contracts and financing facilities;
»  formal accounting policies and procedures which are regularly reviewed and publicised in the business;

+  aninternal audit department which monitors compliance of Company processes and procedures and whose programme of
work is overseen by the Audit Committee;

+ a newly created role of Head of Compliance to assess and monitor the Company’s compliance with its regulatory
responsibilities with a particular focus on compliance with FCA requirements.

The Group continues to review its system of internal control to ensure compliance with best practice, whilst also having regard
to its size and the resources available.

The principal risks and uncertainties identified by the Board are set out on pages 24 to 27,

By order of the Board
Stephen Jones
Company Secretary

13 March 2018




Alan Ferguson
Senior Independent
Director and Chair of
the Audit Commitice

Audit Committee Members

The Company's Audit Commiltee was eslablished on
Admission and comprises myself, Sarah Dickins, Francesca
Ecsery and Christopher Sawyer.

With the exceplicn of Christopher Sawyer {given his position
as a nominated director of MCHL), all members of the Audit
Committee are considered to be independent.

It is considered that the Audit Commitlee possesses the
necessary skills and experience to fulfil its responsibilities
effectively with its members, through their olher business
aclivities, having a wide range of financial and commercial
experlise. In particular, as set out on page 29, my background
was as an experienced Finance Direclor serving on the
boards of a number of large companies throughout my
executive career. | am the current chair of the audit committees
of Johnson Matthey Plc and Croda International Plc and, until
my retirement in April 2018, The Weir Group Ple.

Audit Committee Responsibilities
The Audit Commilies’s principal responsibilities are to:

« monitor the integrity of the Company's financial
statements (including its annual and interim reports,
interim management stalements results” announcements
and any other formal announcement relating to its
financial performance);

+ review significant financial reperting issues and
judgements as described in Nole 4 of the financial
statements;

+ keep under review the effecliveness of internal conlrols
and risk management systems;

«  review arrangemenis for its employees to raise concerns,
in confidence, about possible wrongdoing in financial
reporting or other matlers;

+  monitor and review the effecliveness of the internal audit
function, review and approve the internal audit function's
planned work and meet privately with the head of internal
audit without the presence of management; and
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+ make recommendations to the Board in relation to the
appointment of the external auditor and oversee the
relationship with the external auditor including approving
the annual audit plan, assessing audit quality,
effectiveness and approving the audit fee.

The Audit Commitiee's responsibilities, its procedures and its
authority are set out in formal terms of reference approved by
the Board.

Audit Committee Meetings

The Audit Commitiee has an annual agenda of matlers to be
considered and is scheduled to meet three times each year
and at any other lime when it is appropriate to consider and
discuss audit and accounting related issues.

Audit Committee meelings are attended by all Committee
Members (see below). At the discretion and invitation of the
Committee Chair other Executive and Non-Executive
Directors, the Head of Internal Audit and representatives of
the Company’s external auditor may also attend.

During the Year, the Audit Committee met formally three times,
each member’s attendance at those mestings being set out
below:

Committee Afttendance
Member Role record
Alan Ferguson Chair of the Committee 3
Sarah Dickins Non-Executive Director 33
Francesca Ecsery Non-Executive Director K1)
Christopher Sawyer  Non-Executive Diractor 33

Betweean the end of the Year and the date of this report there
was a further meeting of the Audit Commiltee which was
attended by all members.

Activities During the Period
During the period since the last annual report o the date of
this report, the Audit Commitiee has:

»  reviewed and made some minor amendments to its terms
of reference and operated in accordance with an annual
agenda of matters to be considered by it;

+ reviewed the public announcements relating to its
financial position including the accounting issues, key
accounting judgements and going concern assessrment
in connection with the full year and interim resulls
announcements;
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+  reviewed and afier challenge, approved the exiernal
auditor’'s audit plan for 2017, including their proposed fee
and statement of independence. The Audit Commitiee
also reviewed the quality of the external audit and
recommended the re-appointment of the external auditor;

*  reviewed non audit fees paid to the exlernal audilor in the
Year. These fees totalled £36k and relaled solely to the
review of the Group’s interim resulls;

+ considered the accounting issues arising as a result of
the disposal of Marshall Leasing Limited;

» considered the poientiai impact of future changes to
accounting standards, including IFRS 15 and iFRS 16;

+ considered and subsequently recommended the taking
of an exemplion from an audit pursuant to S.479A
Companies Act 2006 in respect of the year ending
31 December 2017 for cerlain subsidiary companies as
set out on page 69;

«  approved the programmme of work for the internal audit
function in 2017 and considered the autput of that work.
In addition, it approved the internal audit plan for 2018;

«  considered the Group's risk management process and its
effectiveness;

« discussed the Company's arrangemenis 1o enable
employees to raise concerns abaut possible improprieties
confidentially including the use of an independent
arganisation to provide a confidential ‘whistieblowers
hotline; and

»  received a presentation from the Head of Retail Finance
covering the structure of the finance function, key financial
controls and planned future development.

The Committee receives reports from executive directors and
also receives reports from, and periodically meets with the
external auditor and the head of internal audit in the absence
of management. In addition, as chair of the Audit Commitiee,
1 also meet with the external and internal auditor outside of
the formal meetings.

Audit issues considered by the Commitiee
The Audit Committee considered areas of significant judgment

and estimation applied in the preparation of the Group's 2017 .

financial statements. It received a papers from the Chief
Financial Officer and the extetnal audilor, which covered
amangst other matters Goodwill and intangible asset
impairment reviews, taxation, inventory, closure coslts and
provisions and the disposal of Marshall Leasing. The
Commiliee discussed these issues with management and ook
comfort from the wark of the external audiior. The Cormmittee
concluded that these matters had been dealt with appropriately
in the 2017 financial statements. The Commitiee reviewed the
potential impact of new standards, IFRS 15 and 16, and
concurred with the disclosures made in this regard. The
Committee also reviewed a paper on going concern and
agreed with the conclusion that the financial statements be
prepared on the going concern basis.

Alan Ferguson
Chair of the Audit Commitiee
13 March 2018

WA
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Remuneration Committee Report

Sarah Dickins
Non-Executive
Director and
Chair of the
Remuneration
ittee

| am pleased to present, on behalf of the Board, the
Remuneration Committee's (the “Committee”) Remuneration
Report providing details of the remuneration of the Direclors
for the financial year ending 31 December 2017 and of our
remuneration policy and principles.

Remuneration policy

The Committee regularly reviews its remuneration pclicy to
ensure it supports achievement of the Company's short-term
financial goals and longer term strategic objectives, including
transformational aclivity such as the acquisition of SG Smith,
and Ridgeway in 2016, and disposal of Marshall Leasing
Limited during the year. Although not bound by the same
regulation as main market lisled companies, including the
requirement lo put remuneralion policy to shareholder vote at
least every three years, the Commitiee continues to monitor
developments in regulation, governance and best practice and
considers the current remuneration policy appropriate to the
Company's circumstances.

Remuneration outcomes for the period to 31 December
2017

As oullined in the operaling review the Company has
continued ils excellent track record of performance in 2017.
Financial highlights include like-for-like revenue growth of
3.5% and underlying PBT of £29.1m representing an increase
of 14.4% versus 2016. In addifion, the disposal of Marshall
Leasing has further strengthened the balance sheet.

As set out in the remuneration report last year for the year
under review base salaries, annual bonus opportunity and
Performance Share Plan (“PSP") opportunities for both Daksh
Gupla and Mark Raban remained the same as the previous

year.

Annual bonus opportunity during 2017 was based on the
achievement of underlying PBT targets with bonuses of 96%
of maximum awarded to the Chief Executive and Chief
Financial Officer respedlively in respect of performance in the
year ended 31 December 2017.

The Executive Directors also recefved a PSP Award under the
Company's PSP which is subject to demanding three year
EPS targets set post the announcement of the sale of
Marshall Leasing Limited. Subject lto the performance
condition being met PSP awards will vesl on the third
anniversary of grant with any vested shares required to be
held for a further 12 months post vesting.

Key remuneration decisions for the year t¢ 31 December
2018

The Commitiee believes that the remuneration policy remains
appropriate and having reviewed base salaries for the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer in the context of
increases for the wider workforce the Commitiee have
approved increases of 2.2%. The maximum annual bonus
potential for 2018 will be 125% of salary for the CEQ and
100% of salary for the CFO based on PBT in line with the
sirelching business plan.

The Committee intends to make awards in 2018 under the
PSP subject to a maximum of 125% of salary in respect of
the Chief Executive Officer and 100% of salary in respect of
the Chief Financial Officer Vesting will be subject to the
achievement of demanding three year EPS targets. Any
shares awarded this year lo Executive Directors that vest
under the PSP must be retained for a further year before they
can be sold.

Conciusion

The Directors’ remuneration policy which follows this annual
statement sets out the Commiittee’s principles on remuneration
for the future and the annual report on remuneration provides
detafis of remuneration for the period ended 31 December
2017. The Committee will continue to be mindful of
shareholder views and interests, and we believe that the
Directors’ remuneration policy is aligned with the achievement
of the Company’s business objectives.

Sarah Dickins

Chair of Remuneration Commitiee
13 March 2018

~
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

REMUNERATION GOVERNANCE

Throughout the period 1 January 2017 io 31 December 2017, the Commitlee comprised three independent Non-Executive
Directers: Sarah Dickins (Chair of the Commitiee), Alan Ferguson, Francesca Ecsery alongside Christopher Sawyer who is an
appointed representative of MCHL.

The table below sets oul each member’s attendance record al Committee meelings during the financial year

Committee member Role Attendance record
Sarah Dickins Chair of the Committee 56
Alan Ferguson Non-Executive Director 5/5
Francesca Ecsery Non-Executive Director 415
Chrislopher Sawyer Nan-Executive Director 415

The Chair, members of the management ieam, as well as the Comyuiliee’s advisers, are inviled to attend meelings as appropriate,
unless there is any potential conflict of interest.

The Remuneration Committee: Responsibilities
The terms of reference of the Commillee cover such issues as: committee membership; frequency of meetings; quorum
requirements; and the right to attend meetings. In addition, the Committee has responsibility for, amongst other things:

+  making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy an remuneration for the Grougp;

*  determining and monitoring specific remuneration packages for the Chairman, each of the Executive Directors and certain
senior management in the Group, including pension rights and any compensation payments;

* recommending and monitoring the level and structure of remuneration for senior management:
«  recommending and overseeing the implementation of share related schemes, including scheme grants;

+  ensuring the Commitlee has access to independent remuneration advice including responsibility for appeinting a suitably
gualified adviser

The Board remains responsible for the approval and implementation of any recommendations made by the Comimitiee. The
remuneration of Non-Executive Direciors other than the Chairman is determined by the Chairman of the Board and the Executive

Directors.

The Committee's Advisers
= The Commiltee engages external advisers lo assist it in meeting its responsibilities and relained Willis Towers Walson to

provide independent remuneration advice to the Committee. Willis Towers Walson are a signatory to the Remuneration
Consultants’ Code of Conduct, and the Commitlee is salisfied that the advice that it receives is cbjective and independent.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

The overall aim of our remuneration policy Is to provide appropriate incentives that reflect the Group's performance culture and
values, through a number of specific remuneration components (detalled in the lable on the following pages). In summary, we
aim to:

«  attract, relain and molivale high calibre, senior management and to focus them on the delivery of the Group's stralegic and
business objectives;

+ set base pay having had due regard to the competitive talent market in which the Company operates with incentive pay
slructured so that top quartile pay can be achieved for top quartile performance;

+  be simple and understandable, both externally and to colleagues; and

+ achieve consistency of approach across the senior management population to the extent appropriate.

In determining the practical application of the policy, the Committee considers a range of internal and external factors, including
pay and conditions for employees generally, shareholder feedback, and appropriale markel comparisons with remuneration
practices in FTSE-listed, AIM-listed and other automolive-based companies.

The Commitlee is satisfied that this policy successfully aligns the interests of Execulive Directors, senior managers, and other
employees with the long-lerm interests of shareholders, by ensuring that an appropriate proportion of total remuneration is
directly linked to the Group’s performance over both the short and the long term.




GOVERNANCE

REMUNERATICGN POLICY (continued)

Future Policy Table

The main elemenis of the remuneration package of Executive Directors are set out below:

Purpose and link to
strategy

BASIC SALARY

Attract and retain high calibre
Executive Directors to deliver

strategy.

ANNUAL BONUS

Incentivises achievement of
business objectives by
providing reward for

performance against annual
financial targets.

LONG-TERM INCENTIVES —

Alignment of interests with
shareholders by providing
long-term incentives
designed to incentivise and
recognise execution of the
business strategy over the
longer-term.

Operation

Paid in 12 equal monthly
instalments during the year

Paid in cash after the end of
the financial year to which it
relates.

Recovery and withholding
provisions apply.

MMH PERFORMANCE SHAR

Grant of £nil cost optlions
under the PSP Oplions
normally vest 3 years from
grant  subject to the
achievement of performance
conditions and continued
employment.

A 12 monlhs post-vesting

holding peried applies for
awards made from 2016.

Maximum opporiunity

Reviewed annually to reflect role,
responsibility and performance
of the indmidual and the Group,
and to take into account rates of

selecting comparators, the
Commitiee has regard to, infer
alia, the Group’s revenue,
profitabiity, market worth and
business sector There Is ho
Annual rates are set out in the
annual reporl on remuneration
for the current year and the
following year.

It is the policy of the
committee to cap maximum
annhual bonuses. The levels
of such caps are reviewed
annually and are set at an
appropriate percentage of
annual salary. Currently the
maximum bonus is 125% of
base salary in respect of the
Chief Executive Qfficer and
100% in respect of the Chief
Financial Officer.

PLAN

150% of base salary {up lo
200% of base salary in
exceplional circumsiances) in
any financial year

Current award levels are set out
in the Annua! Reporl on
Remuneration.

Performance metrics

None

Performanca is normally
measured over one year,
based solely on financial
targets (e.g. profit before tax).

The Committee sels
threshold and  maximum
targets on an annual basis.

A shding scale operates
between threshold and
maximum performance. No
benus is payable where
performance is balow the
threshold.

Payment of any bonus is
subject fo the overriding
discretion of the Committee.

Vesting is subject to conlinucus
employment and 1argets finked
1o the strategy of the business.
Current targets are based on
achievement of growth in
earnings per share, but the
Committee may vary the
targets. 25% vests for achieving
threshold  performance, 100%
vesls for achieving meximum
performance.
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REMUNERATION POLICY {(continued)

Future Policy Table (continued)

Purpose and link to
strategy Operation Maximum opportunity Performance metrics
LONG-TERM INCENTIVES — MMH PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN (CONTINUED)

A dividend equivalent applies.

Recovery and withholding
provisions apply at the
discretion of the Committee
within three years of vesting

Provide benefits consistent | Currently these consist of | The cost of providing benefils | None.

with role andin support of the | holiday entillement, health |is borne by the Company and
personal heaith and welibeing | insurance, fife assurance |varies from time to time,

of employees. premiums and income
protection insurance. The
Committee reviews the level
of benefit provision from time
to time and has the fiexibiiity to
add or remove benefits to
reflect changes in market
practices or the operational
needs of the Group.

Aftract and retain Executive { All Executive Directors are | The Chief Executive receives a | None.
Directors for the long term by | entitled to participate in the | 16% of base salary confribution.
providing funding for { Company's defined \ .
relirement. cordribution pension scheme The' (?h:ef F' nancial Ofﬁcsl.zr
participates in the Company's

or to receive a cash allowance o h
in lieu of pension contributions. defined contribution pension
scheme whereby the

Only base salary Is [Company makes an 8% of
pensionable. base salary conliibution,
conditiona! upon the Chief
Financial Officer making a
matched contribution of 8%.

SHARE OWNERSHIPGUIDELNES

Increase alignment between | Execufive  Direclors  are | At least 100% of base salary | None.
the Executive Directors and | expected to retain 50% of the |for Executive Directors.
shareholders. net of lax vested PSP shares
until the guideline level is met.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FEES ('NED")

To attract NEDs who have a | NED fees are determined by | Annual rate set out in the | None,
broad range of experience | the Board (excluding NEDs} | annual report on
and skills io oversee the | within the limits set out in the | remuneration for the current
implementation of  our | Articles of Association and |year and the following year.
strategy and provide strong | are paid in 12 equal monthly |No presecribed maximum
performance stewardship. instalments during the year. annual increase.




GOVERNANCE

REMUNERATION POLICY {continued)

Directars’ Service Contracts, Notice Periods and Termination Payments

Provision

Details

Notice periods in Executive Directors’
service contracts

Maximum of 12 months by Company or Execulive Director. Executive Directors
may be required to work during the nofice periad.

Compensation for loss of office

In the event of termination, service contracts provide for payments of base salary,
pension and benefits only over the notice period.

Treatment of annual bonus on
termination

There is no conhtractual right to any bonus payment in the event of {ermination
although in certain "goad leaver” circumstances the Remuneration Committee may
exercise its discretion to pay a bonus for the period of emplayment and based on
performance assessed after the end of the financial year

Trealment of unvested PSP awards

The default treatment for any Ordinary Share-hased entitlements under lhe PSP
is that any oulstanding awards lapse on cessation of employment. However, in
certain prescribed circumstances, or at the discretion of the Commitiee “good
leaver" status can be applied. In these circumstances a participant's awards vest
subject to the satisfaction of the relevant performance criteria and, ordinarily, on a
time pro-rata basis, with the balance of the awards lapsing.

Cuiside appeintments

Other directorships are permitied with prior agreement:

~ Daksh Gupta is a director of BEN — Motor and Allied Trades Benevolent Fund.

— Mark Raban is a director of Precise Finance Limited. Precise Finance Limited
is the company ownad by Mr Raban and used to provide consultancy services
prior to his appointment to Marshall Motor Holdings plc.

Non-execulive direclors

All Non-Execulives are subject to re-election every three years. No compensation
payable if required to sland down.

In the event of the negotiation of a compromise or seltlement agreement between the Company and a departing Director, the
Commitiee may make payments it considers reasonable in settlement of potential legal claims. Such payments may also inciude
reasonable reimbursement of professional fees in connection with such agreements.

The Committee may also include the reimbursement of fees for professional or outplacement advice in the termination package,
if it considers it reasonable to do so. It may also aflow the continuation of benefits for a limited period.

Dates of appointment
Director Date of appointment
P Johnson 27 June 2014
D Gupta 1 Oclober 2008
MD Raban 2 April 2018
A Farguson 11 March 2015
S Dicking 11 March 2015
F Ecsery 25 March 2015
C Sawyer 2 April 2015
C Walkinshaw 12 July 2016

Copies of Direclors’ service contracts and letters of appoiniment are available for inspection at the Company's registered office.
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Annual Report on Remuneration

Single total figure of remuneration
The table below sets out the single total figure of remuneration and breakdown for each Director in respect of the 12 month
period ending 31 December 2017.

Basic Annual Longterm
salary Fees Benefits Pension bonuses incentives Tota!
£000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
D Gupta 408 - 18 65 491 223 1,205
MD Raban 255 - 4 22 246 37 564
Totat 663 - 22 87 737 260 1,769
PW Johnson - 133 - - - - 133
AM Ferguson - 58 - - - - 58
DSM Dickins - 48 - - - - 48
FE Ecsery - 40 - - - - 40
CJ Sawyer - 40 - - - - 40
CMH Walkinshaw! - 40 E - - - 40
Total . 359 - - - - 359
Aggregate directors
emoluments 663 359 22 87 737 260 2,128

The benelits above inciude items such as medical cover, life assurance premiums and income protection insurance.

1 Chrislopher Wakkinshaw is a nominaled direclor of Marshail of Cambridge (Holdings) Lid wilh the fee payable in respeci of his undertakings as a Non-Executive
Director payable to Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Lid.

LTIP awards
Detaiis of LTIP Awards granted during the year are as follows:
Market
value on
Earliest Exercise date of Number of
Date of exercise price grant options
Scheme grant date (pence) (pence) granted
D Gupta 2017 LTIP award' 29-Sept-17  29-Sept-20 £Nil 167.0 305,389
MD Raban 2017 LTIP award® 29-Sept-17  29-Sept-20 £Nil 167.0 152,695

1 Awards vest for achieving growth in EPS from 2017 1o 2019; 25% vest for achieving growth of CPI plus 1% per annum increasing to 100% vesting for achieving
EPS growth of CPi plus 5% per annum,

The movement in directors’ LTIP Awards during the year are as follows:

Numberat Number lapsed Number granted Number exercised Number at

1 January 2017  during the year  during the year during the year 31 December 2017

D Gupta 1,182,314 - 305,389 - 1,487,703
MD Raban 434 558 - 152,695 - 587,253




GOVERNANCE

REMUNERATION POLICY (continued)

Statement of Directors’ Shareholding

Our Executive Directors are expected to byild up and maintain a 100% of salary shareholding in the Company and are expected
to retain 50% of the net of tax vested PSP shares until the guideline lavel is met. The Directors who held office at 31 Decermnber
2017 and their connacted persons had interests in the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2017 as foliows:

Number of Number of
ordinary ordinary LTiP Interests
shares Options Market shares With Without

beneficially Xercis paurch Disposals beneficially performance conditions pedormance conditions Total
heldasat duringthe duingthe duringihe heldasat Vested but Vested il interesiin

3utne yaar year year 3247 Unvested' d Urwosted {sed? t
P Johnson 175328 - - - 175,328 - - - 175,328
B. Gupla 843,138 - - - 843,138 1,219,247° - 134,228 134,228 2,330,841
MD Raban 61,726 - - - 61,726 542 51¢° - 223712 22371 648,979
A Ferguson 58,557 - - - 58,557 - - - - 58,567
S Dickins 6,711 - - - 6,711 - - - - 6,711
F Ecsery 2,013 - - - 2,013 - - - - 2013
C Sawyer 214,498 - - - 214,498 - - - - 214,408

The middle market price of the shares as al 29 December 2017 was 167.5p and the range in respect of the 12 month period
ending 31 December 2017 was 134.0p to 178.5p.

1 These include the 2017 and 2016 LTIF Awards along with the IPG Performance Awards which vest subject lo grawth in the Comparny's undarlying basic Earnings
Per Share (EPS). 26% of the award vests for achieving grawth in underying basic EPS of CPI plus 1%, 3% and 4% pa. respeclivaly increasing to 100% vesting
for achieving growih of CP1 plus 5%, 8% and 10% p.a. respectively over a three year performance period. 50% of the JPQ Performance Awards vest on the third
anniversary of Admission and the ining 50% on the fourth anniversary subject to contiruad employment. A 12 month holding period applies to the 2046 and
2017 LTIP Awards.

2 These include the vesled and unvesled IPO Reslricled Share Awards which are subject only io employiment at the relevant vesling dale. These oplions vesl and
become exercisable in three equal tranches on the first, second and third anniversaries of the date of grant. The final Iranche of oplions is due to vest on the 2 Aprit
2048,

The Committee has discretion to adjust the aforemenlioned performance targets lo reflect the impact of evenis which occur after the dale of grant in order o take

fnto account the impact of events such as maleral acquisitions and disposals made by the Group and to ensure thal the adjusted targets are ne more difficull or

easler lo satisfy than they would have stherwise been.

Implementation of remuneration policy for the year ending 31 December 2018
The annual salaries and fees to be paid fo directors in the year ending 31 December 2018 ave sel oul below, logether with any
increase expressed as a percentage.

31 December 2018 31 December 2017 Increase
£'000 £'000 Yo
PW Johnson 1355 132.6 22
D Gupta 416.9 408.0 2.2
MD Raban 260.6 255.0 2.2
AM Ferguson 595 575 3.5
DSM Dickins 495 475 42
FE Ecsery 42.0 40.0 5.0
CJ Sawyer 42.0 40.0 5.0
CMH Walkinshaw' 420 40.0 5.0
1 Chiistapher Walkinshaw is a nominated di of Marshall of Cambridge {Holdings) Ltd with the foe payable in respect of his underiakings as a Non-E:

Direclar payable io Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Lid.
The maxirmum potential annual bonus for the year ending 31 December 2018 will be 125% of satary for the CEQ and 100% of
salary for the CFO. Awards are determined based on PBT targets. Recovery and withholding provisions will apply

The Commitiee intends to grant options under the PSP in 2018. These options will be £nil cost oplions over a value of shares
subject o a maximum of 125% of salary in respect of the Chief Executive Officer and 100% of salary in sespect of the Chief
Financial Officer where the vesting is subject lo targets based on the achievement of eamings per share targets.

By order of the Board

Sarah Dickins
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
13 March 2018

N (50

S
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulations.

The Directors are required to prepare Consolidated financial statements for each financial year in accordance with international
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. The Directors have elected to prepare the parent
company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepled Accounting Practice (United Kingdom
Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless
they are salisfied that they give a true and falr view of the Group and Company and of the profil and loss of the Group for that
petiod. In preparing those Consolidated financial statements, the Directors are required to:

» select and apply accounting policies in accordance with IAS 8;

+ present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information;

= pravide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to enable users to
understand the impact of particular tfransactions, other events and conditions on the entity's financial position and financial
performance; and

+ sfate that the group has complied with IFRS, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained In the financial
siatlements.

In preparing the Company financial statements, the Direclors are required to:
+  select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
* make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

+ siate whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements; and

+  prepared the financial stalements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company wili not
continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequale accounting records which are sufficient to disclose with reasonable accuracy
al any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the |AS Regulation. They are also responsible
for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.
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Independent Auditor's Report to the members
of Marshall Motor Holdings plc

What we Have Audited
We have audited the financial statements of Marshall Motor Haldings plc for the vear ended 31 December 2017 which comprise:

Group Parent Company

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity Company Statement of Changes im Equity

Consolidated Stalement of Financial Position Company Statement of Financial Position

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Related notes 1 to 36 to the financial statements, Related notes 1 to 16 to the financial statements including
including a summary of significant accounting policies a summary of significant accounting policies

The financial reporling framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is applicable faw
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”
{United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Opinion
In our opinion:

»  the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the Parent Company's affairs as at 31
Oecember 2017 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended:;

*  the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the Eurapean Usiion;

+ the parent company financial stalements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice; and

* the financial statements have been preparad in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's respansibilities for the audit of the financial slatements
seclion of our report below. We are independent of the Group and Parent Company in accordance with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied lo listed
entities, and we have fulfilied our other athical responsibilities in accardance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have oblained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions Relating to Going Concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us fo report to you where:

« the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial staterments is not appropriate;
or

*  the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant
doubt about the group’s or the parent company's abillty fo continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a
period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial staternents are authorised for issue.
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Overview of our Audit Approach
Materiality «  Overall group materiality of £1.45m (2016: £1.27m) which represents approximately 5%
(2016: 5%) of Underlying Profit Before Tax.

«  Any audit differences in excess of £73k (2016; £64k} are reported to the audit committee.

Audit scope «  We performed an audit of the complete financial information of 14 (2016: 15} full scope
components and performed audit procedures for a further 22 (2016: 21) review scope
components.

«  The full scope components accounted for 92% (2016: 95%) of Underlying Profit Before Tax,
92% (2016: 93%) of External Revenue and 97% (2016: 95%) of Tolal Net Assets.

Key audit matters «  Valuation of inventory
+ Assessment of the carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets
«  Misstatement of central provisions

= Revenue recognition, including manufacturer's rebates and bonuses

Our Application of Materiality
We apply the concept of matesiality in planning and performing the audit, in evaluating the effect of identified misstatements on
the audit and in forming our audit opinion.

Materlality

The magnitude of an omission or misstaterment thal, individually or in the aggregale, could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of the users of the financial statements. Materiality provides a basis for determining the nature and
extent of our audit procedures.

We determined materiality for the Group to be £1.45m (2016: £1.27m), which is approximately 5% (2016: 5%) of Underlying
Profit Before tax. The rationale for using Underlying Profit Before Tax as our basis for maleriality is that it provides a consistent
year on year approach, excluding gains and losses from lransactions which are considered one off in nature and that are unlikely
to reoccur, which can be significant compared to underlying trading. There were no changes in the approach year on year,

See breakdown below for details of adjusliments made

—
+ Profit Before Tax - £53.1m {2016: £22.2m)
Starling
Basls
» Non-Underlying Items - £24.1m A
» Prafil on disposal of subsidiary - £36.9m
.- * Post-ratirement benefils charge - (£6.0m)
LCEERULEE .« Restructuring costs - (E6.8m) )
N\
* Underlying Profit Before Tax - £29m (2016: £25.4m)
* Materiality of £1.45m (2016: E1.27m)
Materiality }

As part of our audit planning, we reported to the Audit Commitiee on 13 Oclober 2017, an initial materiality calculation of £1.4m.
This amount was based on the estimated annualised Profit Before Tax.

During the course of our audit, we reassessed initial materiality and calculated an uplift from £1.4m 1o a final figure of £1.46m,
This was primarily the result of estimation used when annualising the materiality base during the planning phase of the audit
when compared to the actual full year resulls observed.
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Petformance Materiality
The application of matenialily at the individual account or balance level. it is sef at an amount to reduce to an appropfiately iow

levei the probability that the aggregale of uncorrected and undetected misstaternents excesads materiality.

On the basis of our risk assessments, together with our assessment of the Group’s overall control environment, our judgement
was that performance materiality should be set at 50% {2016 50%) of our planning materiality, namely £725k (2016: £635k).

Audit work at companent locations for the purpose of obtaining audit coverage over significant financial statement accounts is
undertaken based on a percentage of total parformance materiality The performance materiality set for each component is
based on the relative scale and risk of the componsnt to the Group as a whole and our assessment of the risk of misstatement
at that component. In the current year, the range of performance materiality allocated to components was 30% lo 100%
(2016: 30% o 100%) of total performance materiality or £218k to £725k (2016: £190k 1o £635k).

Reporting Threshoid
An amount below which identified misstatements are considered as being clearly trivial. (ISA 400)

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all uncorrected audit differences in excess of £73k (2016:
£64k), which is set at 5% of planning materiality, as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting

on qualitative grounds.

We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against bath the quantitative measures of materiafity discussed above and in light
of ather relevant quaiitative consideraltions in forming our opinion,

An Overview of the Scope of our Audit

Talloring the Scope

Our assessment of audil risk, our evaluation of materiality and our allccation of performance materiality determine our audit
scope for each componenit within the Group. Taken together, this enables us to form an opinion on the financial statements. We
take into account size, risk profile, the organisation of the group, the effectiveness of group-wide contrals, and changes in the
business environment when assessing ihe evel of work o be performed at each component.

After assessing the risk of material misstatement to the Group financial statements we ensured we had adequale dquanltitative
coverage of significant accounts in the financial statements. Of the 36 reporting companents of the Group, we salected 14
components alt within the UK, which represenl the principal business units within the Group.

We performed an audit of the complete financiaf information of all 14 components (“full scope components”) of which 8 were
selected based on their size or risk characteristics and the remaining 6 components on the basis that these entities are required
to file stalutory accounts in accordance with the Companies Act 2008.

The fuil scope accounted for 92% (2016: 95%) of the Underlying Profit before Tax, 82% (2016; 93%) of Exiernal Revenue and
97% {2016: 95%) of Total Net Assets.

Of the remaining 22 componentis that together represent 8% of the Group's Underlying Profit Before Tax, none are individually
greater than 2% of Underlying Profit Before Tax. For these companenis, we perfermed overall analytical review to respond to
any potentiai risks of material misstatemnent to the Group financial statements.
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The charts below illustrate the coverage obtained from the work performed by our audit teams.

Underlying Profit Before Tax Profit Before Tax
n 92% Ful scope = 94% Full scope
components components
= §% Review scope = 6% Reviow scope
Revenue Total Net Assets
= 92% Full scope u 97% Full scope
components components
= 3% Review scope = 3% Review scope
Changes from the Prior Year

There were no changes in the approach and no significant changes in terms of coverage year on year.

Involvement with Component Teams
All audit work performed for the purposes of the audit was undertaken by the Group audit team

Our Assessment of the Risks of Material Misstatement

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matiers that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial
slatements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due
to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overali audit strategy, the aliocation
of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matlers were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in expressing our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separale apinion on
these matters.
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Risk

Our response to the risk

Key observations
communicated to
the Audit Committee

Valuation of Inventory (Gross
Inventory — £410.4 mililon,
2016: £389.4 million; inventory
provision — £9.2 miilion, 2016:
£9.4 miliion)

The group has a significant value
of new and used vehicie
inventory.

Vehicles have the potential to
experience significant value
daeclines in short time periads.

Value volatility is a response 1o
market conditions impacting
demand and is deemed a higher
risk in relation ta ysed,
demonstration and pre-reg
vehicle inventory.

The valuation of vehicle
inventory is therefore subject to
significant judgement. Given this
judgement, there is a risk that
inventory is misstated.

Reafer to Accounting policies
{page 67); Significant accounting
Jjudgsments and estimates
{page 82) and Nole 20 of the
Consolidated Financial
Statements (page 102).

Wa understood the method applied by management in performing
its Inventory provisicning calculation and walked through the
controfs over the process.

We recalculated management’s provision and agreed vehicle
prices inctuded through to sales invoices where sold post year end
and to third party CAP values for all other vehicles.

We performad Analytical Review of the level of provision heid to
identify any significant provisions on a particular vehicle type or
brand in the portfolio, A particular focus was given in this area to
used, demonstration and pre-reg vehicles for any significant
indicatars of value decling,

We evaluated the accuracy of previous period's provision {0 assess
management’s long term forecasting ability

We performed full scope audit procadures over this risk area in 10
statutory locations, which covered 93% of the risk amount. Further,
we performed extensive procedures in relation to the inventory
provision in place for all statutory entities, to address the significant
accounting judgement used in its calculation.

Our audit procedures
indicate that the
provision is consistent
with prior years and
that it is based on
reasonable
assumptions
regarding the
undertying exposures
in the UK used car
market.
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Our response to the risk

Key observations
communicated to
the Audit Committee

Assessment of the carrying
value of goodwill and other
intangible assets (£121.6
million, 2016: £422 million)

The group has a significant value
of goodwill that has arisen from
acquisitions as well as other
intangible assets in the form of
franchise agreements,

Goodwilt is allocated to cash
generaling units (CGUS’) based
on groups of dealerships
connected by manufacturer
brand.

A number of brands have
experienced challenging trading
conditions driving poor financial
performance.

There is a risk that thege cash
generating units ('CGUS’) may
not achieve the anticipated
financial performance to support
their carrying value, leading fo an
impairment charge that has not
been recognised by
management.

Significant judgement is required
in forecasting the future cash
flows of each CGU, togsther with
the rate at which they are
discounted.

Refer to Accounting policies
(page 69); Significant accounting
Judgements and estimales
(page 81} and Nofe 15 of the
Consolidated Financial
Statements (page 93).

We understood the method applied by management in performing
its impairment test for each of the relevant CGUs and walked
through the controls over the process.

For all CGUs we calculated the degree to which the key inputs and
assumptions would need to change before an impairment was
triggered and considered the likelihood of this occurring. We
performed our own sensitivities on the group’s forecasts and
determined whether adequate headroom remained,

For CGUs where there were indicators of impairment or low levels
of headroom we performed detalied tasling to critically assess and
corroborate the key inputs to the valuations, including:

*  Analysing the historical accuracy of budgets to actual resulls
to deterrine whether forecast cash flows are reliable based
on past experience;

*  Corroborating the discount rate by obtaining the underlying
data used in the calculation and benchmarking it against
market data and comparable organisations; and

* Validating the growth rates assumed by comparing them to
economic and industry forecasts.

We assassed the disclosures in Note 15 against the requirements
of IAS 36 Impairment of Assets, in particular in respect of the
requirement lo disclose further sensilivities for CGUs where a
reasonably possible change in a key assumption would cause an
impairment.

We have performed full scope audit procedures over this risk area
in all relevant statulory locations, covering 100% of the risk
amount. We have performed specified procedures to identify any
indicators of potential impairment of intangible assets, and
determined the impact of these indicalors where such
circumstances arise.

We concur that group
goodwill and
intangible assets have
been appropriately
assessed for
impairment and no
impairment charge in
the year is necessary.
Of the group's assets,
there are no CGU's
which are particularty
sensitive to
reasonably possible
changes to key
assumptions.
Management
describes these
sensilivities
appropriately in the
goodwill and
intangibles note to the
group financial
statements, in
accordance with

IAS 36.




FINANGIAL STATEMENTS

Key observations
communicated to

Risk Our response to the risk the Audit Commitiee
Misstatement of central We understood the group’s process for determining the We consider he
provislons {(£6.8 million, 2016:  completeness and measurerment of pravisions along with central pravisions io
£6.7 million) management’s conlrols associated to the process. be within an

The nature of the group's system
architecture and individual site
accounting functions resulis in
the requirement for cenlral group
provisions primarily in refation to
its property sites.

Management applies judgement
in assessing provisions held in
respect of individual sites or for
the group as a whole. Given this
judgement, there is a risk thatl
provisions are misstated.

Refer fo Accounting policies
(page 73) and Note 26 of the
Consolidated Financial
Statements (page 106).

We assessed the level of provisions and challenged appropriate range.

management's judgments in relation to the recognition
requirements of 1AS 37, We referred to pre and post year end third
party evidence where appropriate to validate existence and
valuation.

As part of our procedures specifically designed to address the risk
of management override of controls we reviewed journal postings
related o central provisions to identify unusual patterns, significant
releases and postings around the year end which may be
indicative of management override.

The use of the audit team’s industry knowledge was utilised {o
identify any new provisions that in our professional judgement
would be considered unusual.

We have performed full scope audit procedures over this risk area
in all relevant stalutory locations, which covered 99% of the risk
amount,
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HKey observations

communicated to
Risk Qur response fo the risk the Audit Committee
Revenue recognition, We understood the business's revenus recognition policy and how Based on the
including manufacturer's this was applied including the refevant controls. procedures
rebates and honuses (£2,269 As part of our overall revenue recognition testing we used data perfon:ned. including
million, 2016: £1,899 million) . - . those in respeact of

analysis toois on 100% of revenue from continuing operations in

There conlinues to be pressure  the year to lest the correlation of revenue to cash receipts to verify manufaciurer rebates
on the group to mest ihe occurrence of revenue. This provided us with a high levef of 219 bonuses, we are
expeciations and targels. assurance over £2.22 billion (89.7%) of revenue recognised from f::::ﬁ: vl:l:si the
Empioyee reward and incentive continuing operations. appropriately
schemes based on achieving We performed high level Analytical Review of revenue by recognised during the
revenue targets may aiso place  dealership. We considered margins in comparison to prior year and year.

pressure to manipulate revenue
recognition.

The majority of the group’s sales
arrangements are generalty
straightforward, being on a point
of sale basis where vehicles are
handed over to cusiomers or
servicing takes place at an
agreed point in time, requiring
little judgement to be exercised.

There is & risk that management
may override controls to
intentionally misstate revenue
transactions, either through the
judgements made in estimating
manufacturer rebates and
honuses or by recording fictitious
revenue lransactions across the
business.

Refer lo Accounting policies
(page 74} and Nots 5 of the
Consolidated Financial
Statements (page 83).

similar dealerships in order to identify unusual changes in
performance.

We performed cut-off testing for a sample of revenue transactions
around the period end dale, to check that they were recognised in
the appropriate period.

Other audit procedures designed to address the risk of
management averride of controls inciuded journal entry tesling,
applying particular focus to the manual entries associated to
revenue accounts.

We discussed key contraclual arrangements with management
and oblained relevant documentation, including in respect of
manufacturer rebate and bonus arrangements.

Where rebate arrangements existed we reviewed contracls,
recalculated rebates and agreed values to post year end credit
notes and cash receipts. We performed analysis over changes lo
prior period rebate estimates o chalienge assumptions made,
including assessing estimates for evidence of management bias.

We assessed the disclosures against the requirements of IAS 18, in
parlicular in respec! of the requirement to disclosure rebate and bonus

arrangements.

We performed full scope audit procedures over revenue for the
92% of revenue within full scope components and our review
procedures oblained a further 6% coverage over revenue
recognised in relation to review scope components.
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Qur Opinion on Other Matters Prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

o the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors' Report for the financial period for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

o the Strategic Report and the Direclors’ Reporl have been prepared in accordance with applicabie tegat requirements,

Matters on Which we are Required to Report by Exception

ISAs (UK and  We are required to report {o you if we identify material misstatements in the Strategic Report  We have no

Iretand) or Directors' Report in light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and its  exceptions to
reporting environment obtained in the course of the audit. report,
Companies We are reqjuired to report to you #, in our opinion: We have no
Act 2006 exceptions to

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns

reparting adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or report.

* the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting
records and returns; or
» certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

+  we have nol received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Other information
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report set out on pages 8 to 51, other than the financial
stalemenis and our auditor's report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otharwise explicitly stated
in this report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

in connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibiiity is to read the other Information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financiat statemenis or our knowledge oblained in the audit or
clherwise appears to be materially misstaled. ¥ we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent materiat misslalements,
we are required to determine whether there is a material misstaternent in the financial siaiemenis or a malerial misstalement of
he other information. if, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a raterial misstatement of the other
information, we are required to report that fact,

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibifities of Directors

As explained more fully in the statement of directors’ responsibilities set out on page 51, the directors are rasponsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financlal statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group and parent
company's abllity to continue as a going concemn, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concem and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors elther intend to liquidate
the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no reallstic aiternative but to do so,

Auditor’'s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reascnable assurance about whether the financlal statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditot’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with 1ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstaternents can arise from fraud or error and are considered malerial if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part
16 of the Companies Act 2006, Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
company's members those matters we are required to state fo them In an auditor’s report and for no
olher purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone cther than the company and the company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinlons we have formed.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financlal statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council's website at https://www frc.org.uk/audlitorsresponsibilities. This
description forms part of our auditor's report.

g
/\J ¢
Nigel Meredith (Senlﬂo:y auditor)

for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor

Birmingham
13 March 2018

Notes.

1. The maintenance and integrity of the Marshall Motor Holdings PLC web site is the responsibility of
the directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve consideration of these mailters and,
accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred lo the
financial statements since they were Initially presented on the web site.

2. Leglsiation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other furisdictions.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Continuing  Discontinued Continuing  Discontinued
operations operations Total operations operations Total
2017 2017 2017 2016 2016 2016
Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 E'000
Revenue 5 2231979 36,969 2,268,948 1,860,056 39,349 1,899,405
Cost of sales (1.973,678) (30,159)  (2,003,837) (1,647,957) (30,992) ({1,678,949)
Gross profit 258,301 6,810 265,111 212,099 8,357 220,456
Net operating expenses 6 {238,204) (2,524) (240,728) {188,698) 2,704) {191,402}
Group operating profit 20,087 4,286 24,383 23,401 5,653 29,054
Qther income —
gain on disposal
of subsidiary 7/8 - 36,851 36,851 - - -
Net finance costs 11 (7.519) (580) (8.099) (6,154} (749) {6,903)
Profit before taxation 12,578 40,557 53,135 17,247 4,904 22,151
Analysed as:
Underlying profit before tax 25,361 3,706 29,067 20,496 4,904 25,400
Non-underlying items 7 {12,783) 36,851 24,068 (3,249) - (3.249)
Taxation 12 (3,080} (716) {(3,796) (3,214) (1,183) (4,397)
Profit for the year 9,498 39,841 49,339 14,033 3721 17,754
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 9,519 39,841 49,360 14,041 3,721 17,762
Non-controlling interests (21 - {21) (8) - {8)
9,498 39,841 49,339 14,033 3,721 17,754
Total comprehensive
income for
the year net of tax 9,498 39,841 49,339 14,033 3,721 17,754
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 9,519 39,841 49,360 14,041 3,721 17,762
Non-controlling interests (21) - (21) (8) - {8)
9,498 39,841 49,339 14,033 3 17,754

Earnings per share
{expressed in pence per share)

Basic earnings per share 13 12.3 51.5 63.8 18.1 4.9 23.0
Diluted earnings per share 13 11.9 49.8 61,7 17.6 47 22.3
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Equity
attributable
to Non-
Share Share Retained owners of controlling Total
Note capital premium earnings the parent interests equity
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Balance at 1 January 2016 49,431 19,672 60,781 129,884 29 129,913
Profit for the year - - 17,762 17,762 (8) 17,754
Total comprehensive income - - 17,762 17,762 (8) 17,754
Transactions with owners
Dividends paid - . (3,251) (3,251) - (3.251)
issue of share capital 30 100 - (100} - - -
Share-based payments charge 31 - - 1,313 1.313 - 1,313
Deferred lax on share based payments 27 - - (70) (70) - (70)
Balance at 31 December 2016 49,531 19,672 76,435 145,638 21 145,659
Profit for the year - - 49,360 49,360 (21) 49,339
Total comprehensive income - - 49,360 49,360 (21) 49,339
Transactions with owners
Dividends paid 14 - - (4,527) (4,527) - {4.527)
Share-based payments charge Y| - - 739 739 - 739
Balance at 31 December 2017 49,531 19,672 122,007 191,210 - 191,210
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 31 December 2017

2017 2016

Note £'000 £°000
Assets
Non-current assets
Goodwill and other intangible assels 15 121,606 122,033
Property, plant and equipment 16 142,428 201,811
investment property 17 2,590 2,590
investments - 10
Deferred tax asset 27 3% b6
Total non-current assets 266,853 326,480
Current assets
Inventories 20 401,260 380,018
Trade and other receivables 21 92,141 95,073
Cash and cash equivatents 22 4,867 83
Assets classified as held for sale 23 750 -
Total current assets 499,018 475,172
Total assets 765,671 801,652
Shareholders’ aquity
Share capital 30 49,531 49,531
Share premium 30 19,672 19,672
Ratainad garnings 122,007 76,435
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 191,210 145,638
Share of equity attributable to nan-controlling interests - 21
Total equity 191,210 145,659
Non-current Habilities
Loans and borrowings 25 6,466 41,364
Trade and other payables 24 4,281 7,462
Provisions 26 4,015 1,450
Deferred tax liabilities 27 20,448 20,803
Total non-current llabllities 35,210 71,079
Current liabilitles
Loans and borrowings 25 642 77,730
Trade and other payvables 24 527,614 497 340
Provisions 26 8815 5,242
Current tax liabilities 2,180 4 602
Total current liabilities 539,251 584,914
Total Nabllities 574,461 655,993
Total equity and itabllities 765,671 801,652

The consdlidated financial statements on pages 62 to 124 were approved for issue by the Beard of Directors on 13 March 2018.
Daksh Gupta Mark Rahban

Chief Financial Officer M D RA




Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before taxation

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation

Finance costs

Share-based payments charge

Loss/(profit} on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Impairment of investment

Profit on disposal of dealerships

Profit on disposal of subsidiary

Increase in fair value of invesiment properties

Changes In working capital:

Increase in inventories

Decrease/(increase) in irade and other receivables
Increase in trade and other payables
Increase/(decrease} in provisions

Tax paid
Interest paid

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Marshall Motor Holdings plc | Annuai Report & Accounts 2017

Note

15/16
11
3

6/7

Fiaxs

26

Purchase of property. plant, equipment, leased vehicles and software 15/16

Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired

Net cash flow from sale of businesses

Net cash fiow from sale of disconiinued operation
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
and leased vehicles

Net cash outflow from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Dividends paid

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents at year end

15

14

22

2017 2016
£'000 £'000
53,135 22,151
25,183 24,233
8,099 6,903
739 1,313
1,085 (38)
845 -

10 -

- (285)
(38,664) -
- (670)
50,532 53,607
(21,223) (14,814)
450 @271)
33,703 56,299
6,138 (2,940)
19,068 38,274
(7,443) {4,669}
(8,099) {6,903)
54,058 80,309
(57.549) (61,927)
(77) (94,495)

. 3,145
44,695 -
11,985 11,418
(946) (141,859)
41,778 85,444
(85,579) (44,690)
(4,527) (3,251)
(48,328) 37,503
4,784 (24,047)
a3 24,130
4,867 83
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Net Debt Reconciliation
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Recoanciliation of net cash flow to movement in net dehbt

Net increase / (decrease) in net cash and cash equivalents
Proceeds from drawdown of RCF

Repayment of drawdown of RCF

Proceeds of asset backed borrowings

Repayment of asset backed borrowings

Repayment of ather borrowings

Repayment of bank overdraft

Repayment of / (acquired) debt with acguisitions
Repayment of / (acquired} derivatives with acquisitions
Decrease / (increase) in net debt

QOpening net debt

Net debt at year end

Net debt at year end consists of:
Cash and cash equivalents
Lpans and barrowings

Note

25
25
25
25

25

22
25

2017 2016
£000 £'000
4,784 (24,047)

{10,000) (35,000)
45,000 -
(31,778) (50,444)
68,185 37,308
2,791 7,382
10,825 -
25,705 (25,705)
1,258 (1,258)
116,770 (91.764)
(119,011) (27.,247)
(2,241) (119,011)
4,867 83
(7,108) (119,094)
(2,241) (119,011
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Presentation of the financial statements

General information

Marshall Molor Holdings Pl (the Company) is incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom. The Cormpany is a public
limited company, limited by shares, whose shares are listed on the Alternative Investment Market (AIM) of the Landon Stock
Exchange. The Company is registered in England under the Companies Act 2006 (registration number 02051461) with the
address of the registered office being; Airport House, The Alrport, Cambridge, CB5 BRY, United Kingdom. The financial statements
of Marshall Motor Holdings Plc were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 13 March 2018.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006
applicable to entities reporfing under IFRS.

The consolidated financial statements include the results of the Company and its subsidiaries (together “the Group™); a schedule
of all subsidiaries is contained in Note 6 'Invesiments in Subsidiaries’ of the Company financial stalements (page 130). The
consolidaled financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as maodified by the revaluation of
investment properties and assets held for sale.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in Stering which is both the functional and presentational currency of the
Group and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£'000}) except where otherwise indicated.

Like-for-like businesses are defined as those which lraded under the Group's ownership throughout both the period under review
and the whole of the comparalive period,

Going concern

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis. After making appropriate enquiries, the Direclors
have a reasonable expeclation that the Group has adequate rescurces to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future and for at least one year from the date that these consolidated financiat statements are signed. For these reasons they
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial slatements.

2. Accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvernent with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through ils power over the investee.
Specifically, the Group conlrols an inveslee if, and only if, the Group has: a) power over the investee (i.e., existing rights thal give
it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee); b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and c) the ability to use its power over the investee lo affect iis returns.

In assessing control potential voting rights that presently are exercisable or convertible are taken into account. Generally, there
is a presumption that a majorily of voling rights resulls in control. The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the elements of control detailed above.

The financlal information of subsidiaries is included in the consolidated financial information from the date that control commences
until the date that control ceases. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated financial slalements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consclidated Financial Statements
2. Accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resuiting from
a contingent consideralion arrangement.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance
with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement in the Income Statement. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equily is not re-measured and ils subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity,

Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred and are exciuded from underlylng profit before tax.

On the acquisition of a business, fair values are attribuled to the ideniifiable assets and liabilities and contingent liabilittes uniess
the fair value cannol be reliably measured, in which case the value is subsumed into goodwill. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabililies and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that meet the recognition criteria under 1FRS 3 Business
Combinations are measured initiafly ai their fair values at the acquisition dale.

Measurement period adjustments
The Group assesses the fair value of assels acquired and finalises purchase price allocation within the measurement period

following acquisition and in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinatfons. This includes an exercise to evaluate other material
separately identifiable intangible assets such as franchise agreernents, favourable leases and order backlog.

The finalisalion of purchase price ailocations may result in a change in the fair value of assets acquired. In accordance with
IFRS 3 Business Combinations measurement period adjustmenits are reflecled in the financial statements as if the final purchase
price allocation had been completed at the acquisition date.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intragroup balances and any gains and losses or Income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are eliminated in
preparing the consolidated financial information, Losses are efiminaled in the same way as gains but only to the extent that there
is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controliing interests

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisilion by acquisition basis, either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Subsidlary audit exemption

The consolidated financial statements include the resulls of afl subsidiary undertakings owned by the Company as listed in Note 6
‘Investments in Subsidiaries’ on page 130 of the Annual Report.

Certain of the Group's subsidiaries, listed below, have taken the exemption from an audit for the year ended 31 December 2017
by virtue of s479A of the Companies Act 2006. In arder to allow these subsidiaries to take the audit exemption, the parent
company, Marshall Motor Heldings ple, has given a statutory guarantee of all the outstanding liabllities as at 31 December 2017
of the subsidiaries listed below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
2. Accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Subslidiary audit exemption {continued)

The subsidiaries which have taken an exemplion from audit for the year ended 31 December 2017 by virtue of s479A of the
Companies Act 2006 are;

Tim Brinton Cars Limited (reg no. 01041301) 8.G. Smith (Motors) Limited (reg no. 00287379)

Marshall of Scunthorpe Limited {reg no. 01 174004) 5.G. Smith (Molors) Beckenham Limited (reg no. 00648395)
CMG 2007 Limited (reg no. 06275636) S.G. Smith {Molors) Forest Hill Limited {reg no. 00581710)
5.G. Smith Automotive Limited (reg no. 00622112) S.G. Smith (Molors) Crown Point Limited (reg no. 005817 11)
Exeter Trade Parts Specialists LLP (reg no. OC329331)  S.G. Smith (Motors) Sydenham Limited (reg no. 00660066)
Actle Limited (reg no. 01114983} Prep-Point Limited (reg no. 00660067)

Crystal Motor Group Limited {reg no. 04813767) S.G. Smith Trade Parts Limited (reg no. 01794317)
Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of; the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controfling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired.

Where the fair value of the consideration received is less than the fair value of the acquired net assets, the deficit is recognised
immediately in the income stalement as a bargain purchase. Goodwill is capilalised and subject to an impairment review at least
annually and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment fosses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed in subsequent
periods,

Intangible assets

Intangible assets, when acquired separately from a business combination, include computer software and licences, Cost
comprises purchase price from third parties and amortisation is calcutated on a straight line basis over the assets’ expected
economic iives, which varies depending on the nature of the assel. Licenses are amortised over the length of the licence and
software is amorlised between 3-6 years.

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination inciude franchise agreements, favourable leases and order backlog.
These itlems are capitalised separately from goodwill if the asset is separable and if its fair value can be measured reliably on
initial recognition. Such assets are stated at fair value less accumulated amortisation,

Amorlisation is charged on a straightdine basis over the following periods:

»  Favourabie leases — 3 years
»  Order backlog — as the orders are fulfiled
*  Franchise agreements — indefinite life, are not amortised.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful economic life are tested annually for impairment. Amortisation is included within nat
operaling expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Property, plant and equipment

ltems of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and less any recognised impalrment
loss. Cost includes the original purchase price of the asset and the cosls attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition
for its intended use. When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives those components are
accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment. Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount
or recognised as a separate assel, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefils assoclated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.




FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
2. Accounting policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continved)

Depreciation is charged o write assets down to their residual values over their estimated useful economic fives, Depreciation is
charged on a straight-line basis over the following periods:

+ Leasehold improvements — shorter of the lease term or 10 years
»  Fixture and fittings — 5 years

+  Computer equipment — 2-5 years

*  Freehold and long-leasehold buildings — 50 years

*  lLand - indefinite life, is not depreciated

*  Assets under ¢onstruction are not depreciated.

The residuai values and useful economic tives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.
The gains and losses on disposal of assets are determined by comparing sales proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset
and are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Investment property

Land and buildings are shown at fair value based on formal valuations by external independent valuers performed at least every
three years and updated each year for the Directors’ estimate of value. Valuations are performed wilh sufficient regularity lo
ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does nol differ materially from its carrying amount. Investment property is not
depreciated. Any surplus ot deficit on revaluation is taken to the Consalidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and is not
included within underlying profit before tax.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets nof subject to amortisalion are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events of changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset's carrying amount exceeds ils recoverable amount, The recaverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment assels are grouped at the lowest levels for which
thare are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Goodwill and franchise agreements are not subject to amortisation but are assessed for impairment, For the purpose of
impairment tesling, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash generating units ("CGUs"), or
groups of CGUs, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, The group of CGUS ta which the goodwill
is allocated (being groups of dealerships connected by manufacturer brand) represents the iowest level within the entity at which
the goodwill is menitored for internat management purposes.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing each product fo its present location
and condition are included and cosl is based on price including delivery costs less specific trade discounts. Net realisable value
is based on estimated selling price less further costs to be incurred to disposal. Provision is made for obsolete, slow-moving or

defective iterns where appropriate.

Inventories held on consignment are recognised in the Consolidaled Statement of Financiad Position with a corresponding liabifity
when the terms of a consignment agreement and indusiry practice indicate that the principal benefit of owning the inventory (the
abilily to sell it) and principal risks of ownership (stock financing charges, responsibility for safekeeping and some risk of
obsolescence) rest with the Group. Stock financing charges from manufacturers and other vehicle funding facilities are presented
within financa costs. These charges are expansed over this petiod that vehicles are funded.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)}

Inventories (continued)

The Group finances the purchase of new and used vehicle inventories using vehicle funding facilities provided by various lenders
including the captive finance companies associated with brand partners. These finance arrangements generally have a maturity
of 90 days or less and the Group is normally required to repay amounts outstanding on the earlier of the sale of the vehicles that
have been funded under the facilities or the stated maturity date. Consistent with industry practice, amounts due lo finance
companies in respect of vehicle funding are included within trade payables and disclosed under vehicle financing arrangements.
Related cash flows are reported within cash flows from operating activities within the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.
Vehicke financing facilities are subject to LIBOR-based (or simitar} interest rates. The interest incurred under these arrangemenis
is included within finance costs and classified as stock holding interest.

Trade and other recelvables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or for services performed by the Group in the ordinary course
of business. Credit terms are less than one year, as such they are recognised as current assets. Trade and other receivables are
initially recognised at fair value and subsequently held at amortised cost, less provision for impairment. Appropriate allowances
for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in the income statement when there is objeclive evidence that the asset is
impaired. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectable, it is written off. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
writlen off are credited to the Consolidaled Statement of Comprehensive Income. Changes in the carrying amount of receivables
are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, cash in hand and credit card payments receivable in clearing accounts.
Assets held for sale

Non-current assels are classified as hekl for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. This classificalion is used where a sale is considered highly probable. Assets held for sale
are measured al the lower of their carrying amount and their fair value less costs to seli.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset o fair value less costs lo seli. Any
subsequent increase in the fair value less costs to seil of an asset is recognised where it is not in excess of any cumulative
impairment loss which has been previously recognised. Non-current assels are nol depreciated while they are classified as held
for sale.

Assets classified as held for sale are presented separately from other asset classes in the current assets section of the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Financial instruments

The Group classifies ils financial assets as loans and receivables and has financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. The
classification of financial instruments is determined at initial recognition in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangement into which the Group has enlered.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-dertvative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that arise principally through the
provision of services to customers, They are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently stated at armortised cost using
the effective interest method. They are included in current assets axcepl for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of
the reporting period. Loans and receivables comprise mainly cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables (see
above for the separate accounting policies for each specific financial asset).
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Financial instruments (confinued)

Impalrment of financial assets

Impairment of financial assets are recognised when there is objective evidence {such as significart financial difficulties on the
part of the counterparty, or default or significant delay in payment) that the Group will be unable to collect all of the amounts due
under the terms receivable, The amount of such a provision is the difference between the net carrying amount and the present
value of the future expected cash flows associated with the impaired financial asset,

Financiaf Habilities measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities measured at amorlised cost include non-derivative financial liabilities which are heid at original cost, less
amnorlisation. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise mainly trade and other payables and borrowings (see
below for the separate accounting policies for each specific financial liability).

Fair value measurement

The Group measures non-financial assets such as invesiment properties, al fair value at each balance sheet date. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transler a liability in an orderly {ransaction between market participants
al the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the fransaction to sell the assel or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
mast advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous markel must be accessible by the
Group.

The fair value of an asset or a kability is measured using the assumpfions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participanis act in their economic best interest. A fair value measurement of a non-financial
asset takes into account a market participant's abliity to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best
use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficlent data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of uncbservable inpuis. All assets
and fiabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest leval input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

= Lavel 1 — Quoted {unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
+  Level 2 - Valuation techniques Jor which the towesl level inpul that is significant 1o the fair value measurement is directly or

indirectly observable
+  Level 3—Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobhservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing calegorisation (based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporling period.

External valuers are invoived for valuation of investment praperties and assets held for sale. At each repotting date, the Valuation
Committee analyses the movements in the vakies of assels and liabililies which are required to be remeasured or re-assessed
as per the Group’s accounting policies. For this analysis, the Valuation Committee verifies the major inputs applied in the latest
valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant documents.

The Valuation Committee, in conjunction with the Group's external valuers, also compares the thange in the fair value of each
asset and fability with relevant external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable. On an interim basis, the Valuation
Cammiitee and the Group's external valuers present the valuation results ta the Audit Commitiee and the Group's independent
auditors. This includes a discussion of the major assumptions used in the valuations.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has delermined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature,
characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy, as expiained above,
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Fair value measurement (continued)

Fair-value related disclosures for financial instruments and non-financial assets that are measured at fair value or where fair
values are disclosed, are summarised in Note 29 ‘Fair Value Measurement’.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in share
premium as a deduction from the proceeds.

Dividend distribution

Final dividends to the Group's shareholders are recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the period in which
the dividends are approved by the Group's shareholders. interim dividends are recognised when Lhey are paid.

Dividend income

Income is recognised when the Group's right fo receive the payment is established, which is generally when shareholders approve
the dividend. All of the Company’s income Is generated in the UK.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business, These
are classified as current liabiliies if payment is due in one year or less. If payment is due at a later date they are presented as
non-current liabifities.

Trade payables are recognised inilially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method.

Trade payables include the liability for vehicles held on consignment with the corresponding asset included within inventories.
Borrowings

Borrowings comprise assel backed finance, morigages and bank borrowings; they are recognised initially al fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value Is recognised in the Consolidaled Statement of Comprehensive Income over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Bank overdrafts, which form an inlegral part of the Group's cash management, are included as a component of loans and
borrowings for the purpose of presenlation in the Consoclidated Statement of Cash Flows. Bank overdrafts are presented wilhin
borrowings in current liabilittes in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position when the Group has; a present legal or construclive
obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and
a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation. If the effect is material provisions are determined by discounling the expected
future cash flows at a pre-lax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, when appropriate, the
risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of lime is recognised in finance costs.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)

Provisions (continued)

Dilapidation provision

The Group operates from a humber of leasehold premises and is typically required by the terms of the lease to restore leased
premises to their otiginal condition on vacation of the premises at the end of the lease term. Estimates of dilapidation costs are
calculated in accordance with the specific remediation requirements stipulated in each lease contract At the point at which these
remediation cosls can be reliably eslimated, a provision is recognised.

Restructuring provision

Provisions for restructuring costs are racognised at the point when a detalled restruciuring plan is in place and the Group has
either started to implement the plan or has announced the main features of the plan to those affected. Restructuring provisions
include anly direct expenditures necessarily entafled by the restructuring.

Vacant property provision

The Group recognises provisions for all vacant leasehold property which the Group has substantially ceased to use for the
purpose of its business and where sublelting is unlikely, or wouid be at a reduced rental compared to that being paid under
the head lease. The provision recognised represents {he estimated fulure unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the
leases during the remaining lease term.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivabie, and represents amounts receivable for gaods
supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value added 1axes. The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue
can be reitably measured, when it is probable that future econemic benefits will flow 1o the entity, and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group's activities, as described below.

Revenue comprises sales and charges far vehicles sold and services rendered during the year including sales ta other Marshali
of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited group companies but excluding inter-company sales within the Group. Revenue from the sale
of new and used vehicles is recognised at the point at which a customer takes possession of a vehicle. Revenue in respect of
other services is recognised once the service has been provided. Income received in respect of warranty policies sold and
administered by the Group is recognised over the period of the policy on a siraight iine basis.

Where the Group acts as an agent on behalf of a principal, the associated income is recognised within revenue in the period in
which the product is sold and receipi of payment is certain. Revenue also comprises commissions receivable Jor arranging vehicle
financing and related insurance products. Commissions are based on agreed rates and the income is recognised when the
vehicle is recognised as sold.

Rental income

Vehicles leased aut under finance leases, which are leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
assets are passed to the lessee and hire purchase contracts, are shown as debtors in the Consolidated Staterment of Financial
Position at the amount of the net investment in the lease. The interest elements of the rental obligations are credited to the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income over the period of the lease and are apportioned based on a patiern reflecting
a conslant periodic rate of return. Finance lease income is presented in revenue.

Rental income arising from operating teases on vehictes and investment properties is recognised in revenue on a straight line
basis over the period of the lease. Vehicles feased out under operating ieases are hetd within property, plant and equipment at
their cost to the Group and are depreciated to their residual values over the terms of the leases. The vehicle assets held for
contract rental are {ransferred into inventory at their carrying amounl when they cease lo be leased cut and become available
for sale in the Group's ordinary course of business.

Deferred income

Where the Group receives an amount in advance of future income streams the value of the receipt is amorlised over the period
of the contract as the services are delivered. The unexpired element is disclosed in other liabilities as deferred income.
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Supplier income

in line with industry practice, the Group receives income from brand partners and other suppliers. The Group receives income
from its suppliers based on spetific agreements in place. These are generally based on achieving certain objectives such as
specific sales volumes and maintaining agreed operational standards. This supplier income received is recognised as a deduction
from cost of sales at the poinl when il is reasonably certain that the targets have been achieved for the relevant period and when
income can be measured reliably based on the terms of each relevant supplier agreement.

Supplier income that has been earned but not invoiced at the balance sheet date is recognised in trade receivables and primarity
relates to volume-based incentives that run up o the period end.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group that has been disposed of and that either represents a separate major
line of business or geographical area of operations, is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business or
geographical area of operations or is a subsidiary which was acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The results of discontinued
operations are presenied separately in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Leases

A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee, in return for a payment or a series of payments, the right to
use a specific asset for an agreed period of time. Leases under which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the underlying asset are classified as finance leases. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Group as lessee

Rental charges payable under operating leases are charged to the Consolidaled Statement of Comprehensive Income on a
sfraight line basis over the lease term,

Group as lessor

Where the Group is a lessor under an operating lease, the asset is capitalised within property, plant and equipment and
depreciated over its usefut economic life or is capitalised within investrment property. Payments received under operating leases
are recognised in the Consalidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Where the Group is a lessor under a finance lease, the amount due from the lessee is recognised as a receivable at the amount
of the Group's net investment in the lease. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods lo reflect a constant periodic
rate of return on the Group's net investment cutstanding in respect of the lease.

Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of equily-settled, share-based compensation plans through which the Group allows employess
to receive shares in the Company.

Equity-setited share-based payments are measured at fair value (calculated excluding the effect of service and non-market
based performance vesting conditions) at the date of grant. The share-based payment charge to be expensed is determined by
reference o the fair value of share options granted and is recognised as an employee expense within underlying earnings, with
a corresponding increase in equity.

The share-based payment charge is recognised on a siraight-line basis over the vesting period (being the period over which all
vesting conditions are lo be satisfied). An award subject to graded vesting is accounted for as though it were muliiple, separate
awards, the number of awards being determined in direct corretation to the number of instalments in which the options vest.

The share-based payment charge is based on the Group's estimate of the number of oplions thal are expected o vest. At each
balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-market
performance vesting conditions and service condilions. The Group’s remuneration policy gives the Remuneration Committee
discretion to revise performance conditions to adjust for the impact of Group restructurings and reorganisations on incentive
outcomes. The impact of any revisions to original vesting estimates or performance conditiens is recognised in the Consolidated
Stlatement of Comprehensive income wilth a corresponding adjustment to equity.
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Share-based payments (confinued)

Social security coniributions payable in connection with share options granted are considered lo be an integral part of the grant
and are, therefore, treated as cash-setiled transactions.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds received, net of any directly atiributabie
tfransaclion cosis, are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium.

Where shares options are forfeiled, effective from the dale of the forfeiture, any share-based payment charge previously
recognised in both the current and prior periods in retation to these options is reversed though the Consolidated Staternent of
Comprehensive Income with a corresponding adjustment through the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.

Net finance costs

The Group has no borrowing costs with respect to the acquisition or construction of qualifying assets, therefore, no borrowing
costs are capitalised. Qualifying items of property. plant and equipment are considered to be those which take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use. These would include assels which are under construction for pericds in excess
of a year; the Group's dealership developrment programmes are not considered fo qualify

Finance costs

Finance costs comprise interest payable on borrowings, stock financing charges and other interest.

Finance income

Finance income comprises interest receivable on funds invested. interest income is recognised in the Consolidated Statement
of Comprehensive Income as it accrues using the effective interest method.

Taxation

The taxation charge comprises corporation tax payable, deferred tax and any adjustments to lax payable in respect of previous
years.

Current taxation

The current tax payable is based on the Group’s taxable profit for the year Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the
Consdlidated Statement of Comprehensive Income because it excludes items of income or expenditure that are taxable or
deductible in other years and iterms of income or expenditure that are never faxable income or tax deductible expenditure. The
Group's fiability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date.

Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is the tax expected 1o be payable or recoverable on differences belween the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and their tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred laxation
is accounted for using the balance shest fiability method.

Deferred tax liabiliies are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxabte profils will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised,
Such assels and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the
initia) recognition of other assats and liabilities in a ransaction that affacts neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Defarred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except for deferred tax liabilities where

the timing of the revarsal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Taxation (continued)

Deferred taxatlon (continued)

A deferred lax asset is recognised to the extent thal it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet
date and are reduced to the extent that it is no lenger probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

The Group's deferred tax balances are calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date and that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is setlled or the assel is realised. Deferred tax ks charged
or credited in the income stalement, excepl where il relales to items charged or credited directly to other comprehensive income
or equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive income or equity respectively.

Deferred tax assets and liabililies are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assels against current
tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to iIncome taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either
the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settie the balances on a net basis.

Pensions

Defined contribution pension plans

A defined contribition plan is a pension plan under which the employer/femplayee pays contributions into a separate fund managed
and administered by a third party The employer has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund
does not hold sufficient assets to pay employees the benefits relating to their service and contributions in current and prior periods.

The Group operates the Marshall Motor Holdings Defined Contribution Pension Scheme.

The Group also parlicipates in the defined contribution seclion of the Marshall Group Execulive Pension Plan (“the Plan”) which
is operated by Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited acting as principal employer. The Plan also has a defined benefit section.

Where the Group makes contributions, the Group's contributions lo both sections of the Plan are charged lo the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income as they become payabie.

Defined benefit pension plan

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan which defines the amount of pension banefit that an employee will receive on refirement,
usually dependant on one or more factors such as age, years of service and remuneration.

By virlue of historic employment relationships, the Group is a participating employer in the defined benefit section of the Plan.
The Plan is non-sectionalised, therefore, the assets of the Plan are not allocated to or direcily associated with individual

parlicipating employers of the Plan.

As there is no contractual agreeiment or staled policy for charging the net defined benefit cost between the participating employers
in the Plan, the Group accounts for its contributions as if it were a defined confribution scheime.

Details of the latest actuarial valuations of the Plan are disclosed in the financial staternents of the principal employer, Marshall
of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited an extract of which is shown in Note 34 ‘Pensions’.

Alternative performance measures

Certain items recognised in reported profit or Joss before tax can vary significantly from year lo year and therefore create volatility
in reported earnings which does not reflect the Group's underlying performance. The Direclors believe that the “underlying profit
hefore tax’ and ‘underlying basic earnings per share’ measures presented provide a clear and cansistent presentation of the
underlying performance of the Group's on-going business for shareholders. Underlying profit is not defined by IFRS and therefore
may not be directly comparable with the ‘adjusted’ profit measures of other companies.
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Alternative performance measures (continued)
Non-underlying items are defined as follows:

- Acquisition costs

- Profiflosses arising on closure or disposal of businesses

— Restructuring and recrganisation costs —these are one-off in nalure and do not reiate lo the Group's underlying performance.

— Invesirnent property fair vaiue movements — these reflect the difference between the fair value of an investment property at
the reporting date and its carrying amount at the previous reporting dale,

- One-off tax ilems and pensions

—  Asset impaitments.

3. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

Except where disclosed otherwise in this note, the accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements are consistent with those applied when preparing the consolidated financial stalemenis for the year ended
31 December 2016.

New standards, amendments and Interpretations adopted by the Group

The fallowing new amendments have been adapted in the consolidated financial statements for the first time during the year
ended 31 December 2017. These have been assessed as having no financial or disclosure impact on the numbets presented.

IAS 7 Cash Flow Statements (disclosure initiative — amendments to I1AS 7)
New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted by the Group

The following standards, amendments and interpretalions were in Issue, but were nol yet effective at the balance sheet dale.
These standards have not been applied when preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2017.

Effective for
accounting periods

Date issued beginning on or after
IAS 40 Transfers to Investment Properly (amendments lo IAS 40) December 2016 1 January 2018
IFRS 2 Classification and Measurements of Share-based Payment
Transactions (amendments to IFRS 2) June 2016 1 January 2018
RS 9 Financial Instruments July 2014 1 January 2018
IFRS 15 Ravenue from Contracts with Customers May 2014 1 January 2018
IFRS 16 Leases January 2016 1 January 2019

Impact on future periods of the adoption of new standards, amendments and interpretations
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The |ASB issued IFRS 9 Financial instruments in July 2014 to replace IAS 39 Financial insfruments: Recognition and
Measurement. IFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities,
introduces new rulas for hedge accounting and a new impairment model far financial assets. IFRS 9 is effective for accounting
periods commencing on or after T January 2018. The Group will apply IFRS 9 for the first time in the interim report for the six
months anding 30 June 2018 and the annual report for the year ending 31 December 2018, The Group will apply the new rules
retrospectively from 1 January 2018, by applying the practical expedients permitted by the standard, and therefore comparalives
for 2017 will not be restated.
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Impact on future periods of the adoption of new standards, amendments and interpretations (continued)
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial assels

The Group expects that its financial assels will qualify for classification at amorfised cost under IFRS 9 and therefore no impact
on retained earnings as a result of the reclassificalion is expecled, The new impairment model requires the recognition of
impairment provisions based on expected credit losses rather than incurred credit losses as is the case under IAS 39. Based on
an initial assessment using the 30 September 2017 receivables ledger and taking into account the short-term nature of the
Group's trade receivables, the impairment losses eslimated under the new methodology are expected lo increase by an immaterial
amount, such that an immaterial transition adjustment will be recognised in opening retained earnings as at 1 January 2018.
The full impact and transition adjustment required is dependent on the receivables balance at the transition date.

Financial liabilities

Due to the classification of the Group's financial liabilities, the adoption of IFRS 9 will have no impact on the Group's accounting
for financial liabilities.

The Group has reviewed its inancial assets and financial liabilities and is not expecting any material impacts from the adoption
of IFRS 9.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

In May 2014 the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Custorers, a new standard covering the measurement
and timing of revenue recognition; which replaces I1AS 18 Revenue and IAS 11 Construction Confracts. IFRS 15 requires
revenue to be recognised in accordance with the timing of when control of a good or service transfers to a custormer at an amount
which represents the consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled to receive in exchange for the goods or services
transferred. IFRS 15 also requires additional disclosures.

IFRS 15 is effective for accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2018. The Group will apply IFRS 15 for the first
time in the interim report for the six months ending 30 June 2018 and the annual report for Ihe year ending 31 December 2018.
The Group intends to adopt the standard using the cumulative effect method; therefore, the cumulative impact on transition will
be recognised in retained earnings as of 1 January 2018 and comparatives for 2017 will not be restated.

An impact assessment has been carried oul during which sales agreements and contraciual documenis from each of the Group's
core revenue streams have been reviewed. The five-step model in IFRS 15 has been assessed, including identifying when a
contract exists, identifying distinct performanee obligations and determining and allocating the transaction price.

The Group has reviewed its revenue from contracts with customers and is not expecting any material impacts from the adoption
of IFRS 15.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 Leases was issued by the IASB in January 2016 and will replace IAS 17 Leases. IFRS 16 is due to take effect for
accounting perlods commencing on or after 1 January 2019. The Group will adopt the new standard in 2019 and will apply
IFRS 16 for the first time in the interim report for the six months ending 30 June 2019 and the annual report for the year ending
31 December 2019,

Lessee accounting

IFRS 16 removes the current distinction between operaling leases and finance leases and requires that, for all leases,
a right-of-use asset and a financial liability are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position — with certain
oplional exemptions available for short-term leases and leases for low-value itemns. The asset represents the right to use the
leased asset and the financial liability represents the commitments payable under the lease.
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Notes to the Consclidated Financial Statements
3. Changes in accounting policles and disclosures (continued)

impact on future periods of the adoption of new standards, amendments and interpretations (continued)
IFRS 16 Leases (conlinued)

Lessee accounting (continued)

Operating lease rental charges in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income will be replaced by interest charges
and depreciation expenses. The timing of the recognition of thesa lease costs will also change on adoption of IFRS 16, with
increased costs being recognised in the earlier years of (he lease due 1o interest being recognised at a constant rate on the
carrying value of the lease (iability. The transifion method chosen influences the magnitude and timing of the charges recognised
in the Income Statement subsequent to adoption, for leasas in place at the fransition date.

The classification of lease payments in the Cansalidated Statement of Cash Flows changes from being exclusively operating
cash flows {e a combination of cperating cash flows (reflecting the interest partion of lease payments) and financing cash flows
(reflecting the principal portion of the lease liahility).

The Group is currently finalising a detailed impact assessment to determine the impact and transition adjustments that the
adoption of IFRS 18 will have on the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive kcome, the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows and the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Based on analysis of the Group's current lease portfolio, initial
assessments indicate that the adoption of IFRS 16 will have a significant impact on key metrics and profitabllity measures used
by the Group.

The transition adjustments required will be dependent on the transition method adopted by the Group and the lease portfolio in
existence at the transition date. As a result of initial assessments, the Group currenily expects fo adopt the standard using the
retrospective method. Therefore, the cumulative impact of adoption will be recognised in retained eamings as of 1 January 2018
and comparatives for 2018 will be restated. Based on analysis of the Group's current jease portiolio, and the size of the Group's
commitments under non-cancellable operating leases (£124m as at 31 December 2017 (see Note 32 ‘Commitments and
Cantingencies’)}, the Group expects an adjustiment 10 reserves as well as the recognition of significant right-of-use assels in
non-current assets ard significant lease liabilities in financial liabilities.

Lessor accounting

With the exception of where the Group is an intermediate lessor, the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases does not significantly change
the Group's lessor accounting. On adoption of IFRS 16, in situations where the Group is an itermediate lessor, the Group will
account for its interests in head leases and sub-leases separately.

Based on initial impact assessments completed to date, the Group anticipates that the majority of properties for which the Group
is an intermediate lessor (i.e. sublets property in which it has an inlerest as tessee in a head lease) will meet the definition of a
finance lease and will be accounted for and disclosed as such on adoption if IFRS 16. As a result, new finance lease receivables
will be recognised on adoption of IFRS 16.

4. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The Directors are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the future when applying the Group's
accounting policles (as delalled in Note 2 'Accounting Policies’) o determine the amounts of assets, liabflities, revenue and
axpenses reparted in the consolidated financial statements. Actual amounts may differ from these estimates.

The Directors regularly review these judgements, estimates and assumptions and any resulting revisions to accounting estimates
are recognisad in the period in which the estimate is revised. If the change in estimation impacts future accounting periods, the
revision is recognised in the current and future pericds.

Critical accounting judgements

The accounting judgements and assumplicns (excluding those which also invelve estimales which are covered in the key sources
of estimation uncertainty section below) included in the cansolidated financial statements which have a material impact on

amounts reported are as detailed below,
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

Critical accounting judgements (continued}

Aliocation of goodwill and other indefinite life assets

The Group reviews the goodwill and intangible assets arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses and values each
identifiable asset separately. Intangible assets are then allocated to cash generating units (CGUSs); this aflocation exercise requires
a high level of judgement and the Group consulls with independent experts as required.

Determination of indefinite useful economic life

Goodwill and franchise agreements are intangible assets acquired through business combinations. An asset is considered lo
have an indefinita useful economic life if there Iis no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate
net cash inflows for the Group. Each franchise agreement is different; each contract being for varying durations, with varying
renewal or termination aptions. Previous franchise agreements acquired have historically either been renewed without substantial
cost or not had termination options exercised. This past experienca, coupled with the strength of the Group's relationships with
brand partners, determines that these assets have indefinite useful economic lives.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The accounting estimates included in the consolidated financial statements which have a material impact on amounts reported
are as detailed below.

Goodwill and other intangible asset impalrment

Goodwill is deamed to have an indefinite useful economic lfe and is, therefore, not amortised. As a result, the Group reviews
gaodwill for impairment on at least an annua! basis and more frequently where there are indicators of polential impairment. The
impairment review requires the value-in-use of each CGU lo be estimated; these calculations are based on a number of
assumptions. Areas of significant judgernent include:

— the estimation of future cash flows

— the selection of risk and the estimation of risk adjustment factors to be applied to cash flows
~ the selection of an appropriate discount rate to calculate present value

— the selection of an appropriate terminal growth rate.

The assumplions used in the impairment test are detailed in Note 15(c) ‘Goodwill and Cther Intangible Assets’. The value-in-use
estimated for each CGU indicates that the Group has sufficient headroom to support the carrying amounts reported and the
sensitivity analysis supports that an impairment is unlikely to be triggered by a range of reasonably possible changes to the key
assumptions. The assumptions relating to future cash flows, estimated useful economic lives and discount rates are based on
forecasls and are, therefore, inherently judgemental. Future events could result in the assumptions used needing o be revised,
changing the outcome of the impairment test and resulling in impairment charges being recognised.

Pension provision valuation

As described in Note 2 ‘Accounting Policies’, the Group is a participating employer in the defined benefit section of the Marshall
Group Executive Pension Plan {"the Plan”) of which Marshall of Cambridge {Holdings) Limited is the principal employer. The last
actuarial valuation for this section of the Plan was undertaken as at 31 December 2016 and the Group has setiled in full all
obligations payable under the associated recovery plan.

As described in Note 34 'Pensions’, the Group is currently undertaking a strategic pension review which may result in the Group
ceasing to be a participant in the defined benefil section of the Plan. Based on the slatus of discussions to date, current
expectations are that itis reasonabty probable that this review will result in the Group ceasing participation in this pension scheme.
Therefore, a provision has been recognised for the estimated amount which would become payable in accordance with Section 75
of the Pensions Act 1995 were the Group to cease {o participate in this schermne (the “Employer Debt”).

The Employer Debt has been estimated using assumptions determined with independent actuarial advice. The liability is sensitive to
the market value of the assets held by the scheme, the discount rate used in assessing liabilities, the actuarial assurnptions (which
include price inflation, rates of pension and salary increases, mortality and other demographic assumptions) and lo the level of
contributions. The provision recognised is based on scheme data, actuarial assumptions and interest rates as at 31 December 2017.




FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty {continved)

In the event that an Employer Debt is iriggered, the final amount payable will be determined by reference to equivalent information
at the date the Group ceased to participate in the defined benefit section of the Plan. As such, the assumptions used in the
current estimate may need to be revised, changing the amount ultimately payable by the Group.

Inventory valuation

Inventories are stated at the lower of their cost and their net realisable value (being the fair value of the motor vehicles less cosls
to seil). Fair values are assessed using reputable industry valuation data which Is based upon recent industry activity and forecasts.
Whilst this data is deemed representative of the current value of vehicles held in inventory it is possible that the price at which
the vehicles are actually sold will differ from the vehicles’ industry valuations. Whera this is the case, adjustmenis arise in the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on the sale of vehicles held in inventary.

Industry valuations are sensitive to rapid changes in regulatory and market conditions which are difficull to anlicipate. in light of
the materiality of the inventory balance in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Pasition, this uncertainty is considered to
represent a key source of estimation uncertainty. The inventory provision as at 31 December 2017 represents 2.1% of the gross
invenlory balance (2016: 2.4%). A 100bps change in this ralic in 2017 would have changed the charge io lhe income Slatement
by appraoximately £4 million.

Taxation

The Group is subject o both direct and indirect taxes in the ordinary course of its business. Significant judgement is empioyed
to determine the income tax provision.

Where the final tax treatment applied on finalisation of the Group's corporation fax retusns differs to the assumptions used when
calculating the amounts currently recognised, these differences impact the current and/or deferred tax provisions in the period
in which the final tax treatment is determined. No single item is expected to give rise to a material adjustment in subsequent
years, however, individual differences when taken in aggregete could have a material impact on the Group's taxation charge in
the next accounting period.

Current tax is provided at the amounts that are expected to be pald. Deferred tax is provided at the rates that have been enacled
or substantively enacted by the balance sheel date and is provided on temporary differences between the tax bases of assels
and fiabilities and their carrying amounts. Factors affecling the tax charge in future years are set out in Nole 12{c) Taxation'.
A 100bps change in the Group's effective tax rate in 2017 would have changed the total tax charge for the year by approximately
£0.5 mitfion.

The recognition of deferred tax assets is determined by reference to expected levels of future taxable profits as estimated in
forecasts. {f actual profitability levels differ significantly from those forecast, this could impact the ‘evel of taxable profit against
which future tax benefits could be relieved, therefore, requiring the impairment of previously recognised deferred tax assets.

The Group has open tax issues with the tax authorities. Where an outflow of funds is believed to be probable and a reliable
estimate of the outcome of the issue can be made, a provision is recognised based on the best estimate of the liability. These
estimates {ake into account the specific circumstances of each issue and relevant advice from external experls. These estimates
are inherently judgemental and could change substantially over time as new facts emerge and discussions progress. Where
open issues exist the ultimate fiability for such matters may vary from the amounts provided and is dependent upon the outcome
of negotiations with the relevant tax authorilies.

Reassessment of previous areas of estimation uncertainty

Following a review of the Group's sources of eslimalion uncertainty, it has been concluded that the folfowing are no longer key
areas of estimation which have a significant risk of resuiting in a material adjustment in the next financial year to the amounts

currently reported.
Assets held for contract hire

Foliowing the disposal of Marshall Leasing Limited, the Group no longer owns assets held for contract hire; therefore, there is no
future estimation uncertainty.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Estimated useful economic life of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

In accordance with IAS 38 Intangible Assets and IAS 16 Property, Plant & Equipment, the Group reviews the estimates of the
useful economic life and the residual value of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment at the end of each accounting
period. Due to the lack of revisions required in prior periods following these reviews, past experience suggests that estimates of
the useful economic lives of assels do not represent a key source of estimation uncerlainty. As such, this area is no longer
considered to represent a significant risk of a material adjustment being required to the carrying amount of these assets within
the next accounting period.

5. Segmental information
a) Operating segments

Operating segmentls are reported in a manner consistent with the internal management reporting provided to the Chief Operaling
Dedision Makers who are responsible for allocating resources and assessing the performance of the operating segments.
Management have identified the Chief Executive Officer as being the Chief Operating Decision Maker in accordance with the
requirernents of IFRS 8 Operating Segments.

Management has determined the operating segments based on the operating reporis reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer
that are used to assess both perfformance and stralegic decisions. These resulls have been delermined using accounting policies
consistent with those used in the consolidated financial statements,

The Group's business is split into two main revenue-generating operating segments and a third support segment. No significant
judgements have been made in determining the reporting segments.

Retail

This segment includes sales of new and used vehicles, logether with the associated ancillary aftersales services of; servicing,
body shop repairs and parts sales.

Leasing

This segment includes the leasing of vehicles to end consumers and fleet customers,

Unallocated

This segment includes the Group's head office and central management functions including; the Beoard, group finance functions,
the human resources department and all governance and compliance related functions in support of the wider business. Also
included is rental income arising from investment properties.

From 1 January 2018, the Group is organised into one business segment being the retail segment. The leasing segment was
discontinued on the sale of Marshall Leasing Limiled on 24 November 2017 {see Note 8 ‘Discontinued Operations’).

Depreciation presented in the segmental nole is restricted to assels other than assets held for contract rental, on the basis that
depreciation on our leasing fleet is presented within cost of sales.

All segment revenue, profit before taxation, assets and liabilities are atiributable o the principal activity of the Group being the
pravision of car and commercial vehicle sales, leasing, vehicle service and other related services.

Geographical information

Revenue earned from sales is disclosed by origin and is nol materially different from revenue by destination. All of the Group's
revenue is generated in the UK,
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5. Segmental information (continued)

a) Operating segments (continued)

Retail Leasing
(note 5b) (Discontinued) Unallocated Total
Far the year ended 31 December 2017 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Total revenue from external customers 2,231,696 36,969 283 2,268,948
Depreciation and amoriisation {9,190) {4) (27) (9,221)
Segment aperating profit/(loss) 34,714 4,286 (14,617) 24,383
Other income — gain on disposal of subsidiary - 36,851 - 36,851
Net finance costs {6,586) (580} {833) (8,089)
Underlying profit/(lass) before tax 34,911 3,706 (9,550) 29,067
Non-underiying items (6,783) 36,851 {6,000) 24,068
Profit/{loss) before taxation 28,128 40,557 (15,550) 53,135
Total assets 762,304 - 3,367 765,671
Total liabilities 537,064 - 37,397 574,461
Additions In the period
Property, plant, equipment and software assets 24,365 34,700 - 59,0685
Retail Leasing
{nole 5b} (Discontinued) Unallocated Total
For the year ended 31 December 2016 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Tota! revenue from external customers 1,859,734 39,349 322 4,899,405
Depreciation and amortisation (6.862) (6) (22) {6,890)
Segment operating profit/(loss) 32,837 5,653 (9,238) 29,054
Net finance costs (5,319) (749) (835) {6,903)
Underlying profit/{loss) before tax 28,900 4,904 (8.404) 25,400
Non-underlying items (1.582) - (1,667) (3,249)
Profit/{loss) before taxation 27,318 4,904 (10,071) 22,151
Total assets 620,365 91,512 89,775 801,652
Total labilitles 417,622 73,454 164,917 655,993
Additions in the period
94,344 35537 - 129,881

Praperty, plant, equipment and software assels
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5. Segmental information (continued)

b) Retail segment revenue
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Retail revenue is derived from a number of service linas, principally being new vehicle sales and aftersales, as set out below.

Revenue Gross Profit
For the year ended 31 December 2017 £'000 mix* £'000 mix
New Car 1,166,471 51.2% 84,086 32.6%
Used Car 869,733 38.2% 59,918 23.2%
Aftersales 243,064 10.6% 113,975 44.2%
Internal (47,572) - - -
Total 2,231,696 100% 257,979 100%
Revenue Gross Profit

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £000 mix* £'060 mix
New Car 983,314 51.6% 68,885 32.5%
Used Car 718,329 7% 50,667 23.9%
Aftersales 202,568 10.7% 92,294 43.6%
Internal (44,477) - - -
Total 1,859,734 100% 211,846 100%
“mix calcutation excludes internal sales
6. Profit before taxation
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2017 2016

£000 E£'000
Depreclation of assets heid for contract rental {note 16) 15,962 17,343
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment {note 16) 8,917 5.838
Amartisation of other intangibles (note 15) 304 1,052
Profit on disposal of business units - (285)
Loss/(profit) on disposal of properly, plant and equipment 1,085 (38)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment {note 16) 945 -
Operating lease rentals — property 11,698 10,324




FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
7. Non-underlying items

2017 2016

£'000 £'000
Profit on disposal of subsidiary (36,851) -
Post-retirement benefits charge 6,000 -
Acquisition costs - 2,163
Profit an dispasal of business units . (285)
Amortisation of acquired order book - 769
Gain on interest rate swap termination - {294)
Restruciusing costs 6,783 1,566
Investment property fair value movemenis - {670}
Non-underlying Items {24,068} 3,249

Profit on disposal of subsidiary
See Note 8 ‘Discontinued Operations' for further details of the transaction giving rise lo the profit on disposal of subsidiary.

Post-retirement benefits charge
See Note 34 ‘Pensions’ for further details of the transaction giving rise to this pest-retirement benefits charge.

Acquisition costs

Acquisition costs were incurred in connection with the acquisition of Ridgeway Garages (Newbury) Limited in 2016, See Note 156
‘Goodwill and Other intangibles’ for further detalls of the transaction.

Profit on disposal of business units
During 2016, the Group disposed of two Toyota dealerships and one Nissan dealership realising a profit of £285,000.

Amortisation of acquired order book

Armortisation of acquired order book is considered exceptional by viriue of its nature, having been recognised as an intangible
assel on acquisition and realised immediately afterwards as the orders were fulfilled.

Gain on interest rate swap termination

Al the point of the acquisition, Ridgeway had a claim in progress in respect of the mis-selling of certain historic interest rate swap
products. These claims, settled in 2016, gave rise to a gain on termination of £294,000.

Restructuring costs

Reslrucluring costs during the current year represent the costs incurred as a result of the clasure of five franchised dealerships
and one used car centre. Three of the franchised dealerships impacted were in relatively smalt markets and within close proximity
of other existing Group dealerships of the same franchise. Two of the impacted businesses shared a subscale site in Oxford
with a high fixed cost base which was not sustainable in the longer term. The final closure was the Citroén Cambridge new car
sales franchise which was the last remaining representation point with this particular brand partner. Restructuring costs include
vacant property refated costs of £4,309,000, redundancy cosis of £344,000 and £2,130,000 of tangible and inlangibfe asset
impalrment losses and write offs.

Restructuring and reorganisation costs in the prior pericd relate fo one-off costs of integration and reorganisation {following the
acquisitions of Ridgeway and SG Smith).

Investment property fair value movements

See Note 17 'Investment properties’ for further detail of these movements.
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8. Discontinued operations

On 24 November 2017 the Group disposed of Marshall Leasing Limited and its subsidiary (Gates Contract Hire Limited). Marshall
Leasing Limited operated the Group's leasing segment.

A profit after tax of £36,851,000 an the sale, being the difference between sale proceeds and the carrying value of the net assets,
less settlement of pension liability, transaction costs and taxation. This profit is disclosed within non-underlying items (Note 7
‘Non-Underlying tems"). The resuits of the disconfinued cperation are disclosed in the Consolidaled Staterment of Comprehensive

Income.

a) Details of the sale of the subsidiary

The carrying value of the assets and net cash generated on disposal are detailed below.

2017

£'000
Gross disposal conslderation In cash 42,500
Pension retention (1,500)
Net disposal conslderation in cash 41,000
Less carrying value of net assets sold at 24 November 2017:
— Property, plant and equipment 78,959
— Deferred tax 1,547
— Trade and other receivables 2,510
— Bank overdraft (3,695)
— Trade and other payables (8,120}
— Assel backed borrowings (68,185)
— Corporation tax (680)

2,336
Gain on sale of subsidiary before income tax 38,664
Transaction costs (1.813)
Net gain on sale of subsidiary before income tax 36,851
Income lax expense on gain -
Gain on sale of subsidiary after income tax 36,851
Cash inflow on disposal of subsidiary:
Net disposal consideration in cash 41,000
Disposal of bank overdraft 3,695
Net cash flow from sale of discontinued operation 44,695
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8. Discontinued operations (continued)

b) Discontinued cash flow information

The cash flow information is for the period ended 24 November 2017, the date of the disposal of Marshall Leasing Limited.

2017 2016
£'000 £000
Net cash inflow from operating activities 16,027 20,555
Purchase of property, plant, equipment and software {34,700) (35,540)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 9,474 10,970
Net cash outflow from investing activities {25,226) (24,570)
Proceeds from borrowings 31,778 50,444
Repayment of borrowings (28,106} {37,307)
Dividends paid (18,712} -
Net cash {outflow)/inflow from financing activities {15,040) 13,137
Net (decrease)/increase In cash generated by the subsidiary (24,239) 9,122
9. Auditor's remuneration
During the year the Group obtained the following services from the Group's auditors:
2017 2016
£000 £'000
Audit services:
— fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the parent Company
and consoiidated financiatl statements 251 251
— audit of Group's subsidiaries 78 79
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for other gervices:
— review of interim financial staterments 36 36
Total auditor's remuneration 365 366
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10. Employees and directors

a) Employee costs for the Group during the year

The aggregate remuneration of employees and directors was.

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs
Share based paymenls

Employee costs are included in;

Cost of sales
Net operaling expenses

The average number of employees (including Executive Directors) was:

Retail
Leasing (Discontinued)
Unallocated

The average number of Group employees excludes temporary and contract staff.

b) Directors’ emoluments
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2017 2016
£'000 £'000
115,905 101,678
13,553 10,613
8,059 1,714
1,005 1,313
138,522 115,318
2017 2016
£'000 £'000
13,750 12,835
124,772 102,483
138,522 115,318
2017 2016
3,616 3,193
43 43

264 259
3,923 3,495

Detaiis of the remuneration of the Directors, their share incentives and pension entittements are set out in the Directors’

Remunearation Report on pages 44 and 50.

c} Key management compensation

The following lable details the aggregate compensation pald in respect of key management personnel — which comprises both

senior management who sit on the enlarged operalional board and stakory directors,

Wages and salaries
Post-employment benefits
Compensation for loss of office
Share-based payments

Details of the share option schemes are provided in Note 31 ‘Share-Based Payments’.

2017 2016
£'000 E'000
4,805 3,600

273 175
52 83

1.005 1.313

6,135 5171
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11. Net finance costs

Interest income on short tarm bank deposits

Neat interest payable on asseét backed finance {(Discontinued)
Stock financing charges and other interest

Interest payable on bank borrowings

Net finance costs

12. Taxation

a) Taxation charge

Current tax

Current tax on profits for the year

Adiustments in respect of prior years

Total current tax charge

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences
Impact of change in fax rates

Adjustmenis in respect of prior years

Total deferred tax credit (note 27)

Total taxation charge

Income tax expense is aliributabie to:
Profit from continuing operations
Profit from discontinued operation
Total taxation charge

2017 2016
£'000 £'000
(1) (40)
580 749
5,385 3,958
2,145 2,236
8,099 6,903
2017 2016
£'000 £'000
5,651 5,598
50 16
5,701 5914
(2,015) (18)
- (1,334)

110 {165)
{1,905) (1,517)
3,796 4,397
3,080 3,214
716 1,483
3,796 4,397

The tax charge on discontinued operations amounting 1o £716,000 (2016: £1,183,000) ali relates 1o tax payable on profit from

aperalions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
12. Taxation (continued)

b) Reconciliation of tax charge

The taxation charge for the year reconciles to the profit per the Consolidated Staternent of Comprehensive income as follows:

2017 2017 2018 2018
£'900 % £'o00 %
Profit before taxation 53.135 22,151
Notional taxation charge at corporation tax rate of 19.25% {2016: 20.00%) 10,228 19.25% 4,430 20.00%
Effects of:
Tax effect of ilems not deductible for tax purposes! 630 1.19% 1,122 507%
Acquisition costs - - 433 1.95%
Non-laxable gain on sate of subsidiary (7.,004) (13.36%) - -
Profil on disposal of non-qualifying assets {145) (0.27%) (341} {1.54%)
Recognition of deferred tax previously unrecognised - - (64} {0.29%)
Adjustments in respect of prior years 160 0.30% 151 0.68%
Uiilisation of brought forward losses previously unrecognised (31) {0.06%:}
Deferred tax ctedil relaling lo reduclion in lax rales - - {1,385) (6.25%)
Effect of difference between closing deferred lax rate and current tax rale 48 0.09% 51 0.23%
Taxation chargs and effective tax rate 3,796 T.14% 4,397 19.85%,

' Expenses not deductible predominantly consist of depreciation charges on non-qualifying assets.

The applicable corporation lax rale is calculated at 19.26% (2016: 20.00%) of the estimated taxable profit for the year The
standard rate of corporation tax reduced from 20.00% to 19.00% on 1 Aprit 2017,

The analysis of the Group's effeclive tax rate between underlying and non-underlying activities is as follows:

2017 2017 2017 2016 2016 2016

Non- Non-
Underlying underlying Total Underlying underlying Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Profit before taxation 29,067 24,068 53,136 25,400 (3.249) 22,151
Taxation 5,270 {1.474) 3,796 5,153 (756) 4,397
Effective tax rate 18.13% {6.12%) 7.14% 20.29% 23.27% 19.85%

Non-recurring items

The Group's total effective tax rate for 2017 of 7.14% was influenced by the significant non-taxable gain on disposal of a subsidiary,
due to the chargeable gain falling within the substantial shareholding exemption. Excluding this itemn, the tola!l effective lax rate
for the year would have been 23.31%.

The prior year lotal effective tax rate of 19.85% was impacted by the change in future tax rates enacted during 2016, reducing

the rate by §,25%. This reduction was partially offset by a 1.95% increase in the rate resuiting from non-deductible acquisition
costs.
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12, Taxation (continued)
¢} Factors affecting the taxation charge of future years

Future tax charges, and therefore the Group's effective tax rate, may be affected by factors such as acquisitions, disposals,
restructuring and tax regime reforms.

There have baen no changes fo the standard rate of corporation lax announced during 2017.

ln the budget of 16 March 2016, the Chancetlor of the Exchequer annaunced a further 1% reduction to the standard rate of
corporation tax which will be applicable in the financial year beginning 1 April 2020. The Finance Act 2016, which was substantively
enacted when it received Royal Assent on 15 September 2016, reduced the corporation tax rate to 19.00% with effect from 1 Apyil
2017 decreasing to 17.00% with effect from 1 April 2020. These changes to the rate of corporation tax will impact the amount of
future cash tax payments for which the Group will be responsible. These changes alse impacied the valuation of deferred tax
assets and liabilities, altering the deferred tax charge and closing deferred tax position for 2016.

13. Earnings per share
Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the earnings attributable ta equity sharshalders by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares during the year and the diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue in the

year after taking account of the dilutive impact of shares under option of 2,866,231 at 31 December 2017 (2016: 2,380,040).

Underlying earnings per share are based on basic earnings per share adjusted for the impact of non-underlying iterns.

2017 2017 2017 2018 2016 2018

Continuing Discontinued Continuing Discontinued
operations operations Total operations  operations Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Profit for the year 9,519 39,841 49,360 14,041 3,721 17,762
Non-contralling interesis {21} - (21) (8} - (8)
Basic earnings 9,438 39,341 49,339 14,033 3,721 17,754

Weighted average number of
ordinary sharas in issue for the
basic earnings per share 77,392,862 77,392,862 77,392,862 77,326,970 77,326,970 77,326,970

Diluted weighted average
number of shares In issue

for diluted earnings per share 79,928,238 79,929,238 79,929,238 79,500,548 79,500,548 79,500,548
Basic earnings per share

(in pence per share) 12.3 51.5 63.8 181 4.9 23.0
Diluted earnings per share

(in pence per share) 11.9 49.8 61.7 17.6 4.7 22.3
Underlylng earnings per share

(non GAAP measure)} 26.9 3.9 308 213 4.9 26.2
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14. Dividends

A final dividend of £2,864,000 for the year ended 31 December 2016 was paid in May 2017. This represented a payment of
3.70p per ordinary share in issue at that time.

An interim dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017 of £1,663,000 (2016: £1,393,000), representing a payment
of 2.15p per ordinary share in issue al that time, was paid in September 2017,

A final dividend of 4.25p per share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017 is {o be proposed at the annual general
meating on 22 May 2018. The ex-dividend date will be 26 April 2018 and the associated record date will be 27 April 2018. This
dividend will be paid subject to shareholder approval on 25 May 2018 and these financial statemenls do not reflect this final
dividend payable.

15. Goodwill and other intangible assets

Franchise Favourable Order
Goodwill agreements  Software leases backlog Total
£'600 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost
At 1 January 2016 26,782 13,552 623 - - 40,957
Additions - - 506 - - 506
Additions on acquisition 23,516 58,563 - 172 769 83,020
Disposals (1,222) - (50) - - (1.272)
At 31 December 2016 49,076 72,115 1,079 172 769 123,211
Additions - - 235 - - 235
Additions on acquisition - 22 - - - 22
Wirite-offs (447) - - - (769) (1,216)
Transfers from Propaerty, plant and equipment - - 87 - - 57
At 31 Pecember 2017 48,629 72,137 1,371 172 - 122,309
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2016 - - 170 - - 170
Charge for the year - - 250 33 769 1,052
Disposals - - (44) - - (44}
At 31 December 20116 - - 376 a3 769 1,178
Charge for the year - - 247 57 - 304
Disposals - - - - (769} (769)
At 31 December 2017 - - 623 90 - 713
Net book value
At 31 December 2018 49,076 72,115 703 139 - 122,033
At 31 December 2017 48,629 72,137 748 82 . 121,596




FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
15. Goodwill and other intangible assets (confinued)

a) Acquisitions and disposals - 2017

Acquisitions
On 2 June 2017 the Group acquired the trade and assels of a Volvo dealership which operates in Leeds.

The estimated net assets at the date of the acquisition are staled at their provisional fair value as set oul below.

NBV

at 2 June 2017

£'000

intangible assets 22

Property, plant & equipment 32

Inventories 21

Trade and other receivables 28
Trade and other payables {26}

Net assets acquired 77

Total cash consideration 77

The results of the Volvo dealership were consolidated into the Group's results from 2 June 2017. For the period from acquisition
{o 31 December 2017, revenues of the Volvo dealership were immaterial in the contex! of the Group's revenues, as was its loss

before tax.

If the acquisition had taken effect at the beginning of the reporting period in which the acquisition eccurred (1 January 2017}, on
a pro forma basis, the change in revenue of the combined Group for 2017 would have been immaterial in the context of the
Group, as would have been the change in profit before tax. This pro forma information does not purport fo represent the results
of the combined Group lhat actually would have occurred had the acquisition taken place an 1 January 2017 and should not be
taken to be representative of future resulls.

Acquisition costs arising on acquisitions in 2017 were immaterial.

Measurement period adfustments

On 25 May 2016 the Company acquired ihe entire share capital of Ridgeway Garages (Newbury) Limited ("Ridgeway”). Ridgeway
itself is the parent company of six wholly owned subsidiary companies, Pentagon Limited, Pertagon South West Limited,
Ridgeway TPS Limited, Ridgeway Bavarian Limited, Wood in Hampshire Limited and Wood of Salisbury Limited.

In accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, the measurement period adjustment has been reflecied in these financial
statements as i the final purchase price allocation had been completed at the acquisilion date. The acquisition accounting has
been finalised in the period and the net assets at the date of acquisition are stated at their fair values as set oul in section b)

below.

There has been no significant movement in the value of net assets acquired and gaodwill between 31 December 2016 and
31 December 2017. The only movemenis being reclassifications between property, plant and equipment (£133,000 increase},
trade and other receivables (£279,000 decrease) and trade and other payables (£146,000 decrease).

Write-offs

In November 2017, the decision was mads {o close five franchised dealerships and one used car cenlre, Three of the franchised
dealerships closed were in relatively small markets and within close proximity of other, existing Group dealerships of the same
franchise. Two of the impacted businesses shared a subscale site in Oxford with a high fixed cost base which was not sustainable
in {he longer term. The final dealership closure was the closure of the last remaining representation point with a particular brand

partner.
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15. Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

a) Acquisitions and disposals — 2017 (continued)

Write-offs (continued)

As a result of these closures, there were the following write-offs of goodwill: £22,000 associated with the Honda CGU, £5,000
associated with the Vauxhall CGU and £420,000 associated with the Nissan CGU.

The order backlog was fulfilled and fully amortised in 2016, and subsequently writlen off during the current year.
b) Acquisitions and disposals - 2016

Acquisitions
Ridgeway Group

On 25 May 2016 the Company acquired the entire share capital of Ridgeway Garages (Newbury) Limited ("Ridgeway”). Ridgeway
itself is the parent company of six wholly owned subsidiary companies, Pentagon Limited, Pentagon South West Limited,
Ridgeway TPS Limited, Ridgeway Bavarian Limited, Wood in Hampshire Limited and Wood of Salisbury Limited.

Separalely identifiable intangible assels lotalling £59,504,000 were acquired as part of the acquisilion of Ridgeway. A valuation
of these inlangible assels has been performed by Globalview Advisors, an independent external specialist. These intangible
assets have been assigned indefinite lives on ihe basis that these arrangements are expected to be renewed for the foreseeable
future. The goodwill arising on the acquisition of the above company is atiributable to the anticipated profitability of the distribution
of the Group’s products in new markets and the anticipated operating synergies derived from the combination.

The fair value of Ihe net assets at the date of acquisition are sel out below:

Ridgeway

Garages

{Newbury)

Limited

Acquisition

balance

sheet at

NBV at Fair value 31 December

31 May 2016 adjustment 2017

£'000 £'000 £'000

Goodwill 2,800 {2,600) -
Intangible assels - 59,504 59,504
Deferred tax on acquired intangible assets - (10,728) (10,728)
Property, plant & equipment 65,414 (303) 65,111
Inventories 124,124 (724) 123,400
Trade and other receivables 51,627 (278) 51,348
Cash and cash equivalents 12,664 - 12,664
Trade and other payables (175,041) (3,103) {(178,144)
Debt (25,705) - (25,705)
Provisions - (5,026) {5.026)
Deferred tax (954) {6,645) {7.599)
Derivalives (1,258) - {1,258)
Net assets acquired 53,471 30,096 83,567
Goodwill 23,380

Total cash consideration

106,947
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15. Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

b} Acquisitions and disposals — 2016 (continued)

Acquisitions (continued}
Ridgeway Group {confinued)

As disclosed al the time of acquisition, Ridgeway's consclidated statutory accounts for the year ended 2015 included a contingent
liabilily note in respect of various film tax planning initiatives. Seltlement of this liabilily was agreed subsequent to the year ended
31 December 2016 and the liability of £4.2m is included as a fair value adjusiment in the preceding table and was carried within
provisions at 31 December 2016. Fair value adjustments alsc Include provisional adjusiments for property related matters,
inventory valuations, deferred tax, intangible assets and goodwill.

Acquisition costs of £2,163,000 have been charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended
31 December 2016.

The table below summarises the amount of revenue and profit of the acquiree since the acquisition date included in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the period from acquisition to the year ended 31 December 2016.

Profit

Revenue before tax

£'000 £000

Ridgeway Garages (Newbury) Limited 414,643 5,557

Scratch Match Accident Repair Centre

On 2 November 2016 Marshall Motor Group Limited acquired the trade ard assets of Scraich Match Accident Repair Centre
from RLMO Limited. The fair value of the net assels at the date of acquisition are set out below.

Scratch Match
Accident Repair

Centre

£'000

Property, plant & equipment 76
Net assets acquired 76
Goodwill 136
Total cash consideration 212

The results of the Scralch Malch Accident Repair Centre were consolidated into the Group's resulis from 2 November 2016.
For the period from acquisition to 31 Decernber 2016, revenues of the Scratch Maich Accident Repalr Centre were immaterial
in the context of the Group's revenues, as was its loss before tax.

If the acquisition had taken effect at the beginning of the reporting period in which the acquisition occurred (1 January 2016),
an a pro forma basis, the change in revenue of the combined Group for 2016 would have been immaterial in the context of the
Group, as would have been the change in profit before lax. This pro forma information does rot purport {o represent the results
of the combined Group that actually would have occurred had the acquisition taken place on 1 January 2016 and should not be
taken {o be representative of future results.
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15. Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

b) Acquisitions and disposals — 2016 (continued)

Measurement period adfustments

On 16 November 2015 the Company acquired the entire share capital of SG Smith Heldings Limited ("SGS"). SGS itself is the
holding company of 8 wholly owned subsidiary companies, SG Smith Automotive Limited, SG Smith (Motors) Limited, SG Smith
(Motors) Beckenham Limited, SG Smith {Motors) Forest Hill Limited, SG Smith (Motors) Crown Point Limited, SG Smith (Motors)
Sydenham Limited, SG Smith (Motors) Croydon Limited, SG Smith Trade Parts Limited and Prep-Point Limited. Within the
measurement period following acquisition of SGS, and in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, the purchase price
allocation was finalised. The resulling adjustments consisted of; a reclassification of £13,522,000 from goodwill lo franchise
agreements, and an increase in goodwill of £2,543,000, an increase in frade payables of £314,000 and an increase in deferred
tax liabilities of £2,439,000. These adjusiments were made within 12 months from the date of acquisition by restating the
1 January 2016 balances.

Disposals

During 2016, the Group disposed of two Toyota dealerships and one Nissan dealership (resulting in the disposal of goodwill of
£1,222,000 associated with the Nissan CGU).

¢) Impairment testing

For the purpose of impairment lesting, goodwill and franchise agreements are allocated to a cash generating unit ("CGU"), or to
the smallest group of CGUs where it is not possible to apportion the goodwill or intangible assets at the individual CGU level.
Each CGU or group of CGUs to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill
is monitored for management purposes. Goodwill and intangible assets arising on business combinations are allocated to CGUs
by determining which CGU is expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination.

The Group's CGUs are groups of dealerships connected by manufacturer brand.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicale that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable and a potential impairment may be required. Impairment reviews have been performed
for all groups of CGUs for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

Valuation basis

The recoverable amount of the Group’s CGUs is determined by reference to their value-in-use to perpetuity calculated using a
discounted cash flow approach, with a pre-tax discount rate applied to the projected, risk-adjusted pre-tax cash flows and terminal
value,

Period of specific profected cash flows

The value-in-use of each CGU is calculated using cash flow projections for a five-year period; from 1 January 2018 to
31 December 2022. These projections are based on the most recent budget which has been approved by the Board; the budget
for the year ending 31 December 2018. The key assumptions in the most recent annual budget on which the cash flow projections
are based relate to expectations of sales volumes and margins and expeclaticns around changes in the operating cost base.
The assumptions made are based on pas! experience, adjusted for expected changes, and external sources of information. The
cash flows include ongoing capital expenditure required to maintain the Group’s dealership network, but exclude any growth
capital expenditure projects to which the Group was not committed at the reporting date.

A flat, long-term growth rate of 5% (2016: 5%} has been used lo extrapolate cash flows for a further four years beyond budget,

through to 31 December 2022. This growth rate reflects the products and markets in which the relevant CGU, or groups of CGUs,
operate. Growth rales are internal forecasts based on both internal and external market information.
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15. Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

c) Impairment testing {continued)

Discount rate

The cash flow projections have been discounted using a rate derived from the Group's pre-lax weighted average cost of capital
adjusted for industry and market risk. The discount rate used is 10.4% (2016: 10.0%).

Terminal growth rate

The cash flows after the forecast period are extrapolated into the future over the useful economic life of the group of CGUSs using
a steady or declining growth rate that is consistent with that of the product and industry. These cash flows form the basis of what
is referred to as the terminal value. The growth rate to perpetuity bayond the initlal budgeted cash flows applied in the value-in-use
calculations to arrive at a terminal value is 2% (2016 2%). Terminal growth rates are based on management’s astimate of future

long-term average growth rates.

Conclusion

On completion of the value-in-use calculations and on comparison to their carrying amount, each of the Group's CGUs had
significant headrocom under the annual impairment review; no impairments are considered to be required.

Sensitivity to changes in key assumpltions

Impairment testing is dependent on estimates and judgements, particularly as they relate to the forecasting of future cash flows,
the discount rates setected and expected long-term growth rates,

The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis on the impairment tests using two scenarios; firstly, where the discount rate
increases by 200bps and, secondly, where EBITDA decreases by 50%. These scenarios represent the upper limil of what is
considered reasonably possible. Neither scenaric resulted in the need to recognise an impairment,




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

16. Property, plant and equipment

Cost

At 1 January 2016
Additions al cost
Additions on acquisition
Disposals

Transfers

At 31 December 2016
Additions at cost
Addilions on acquisition
Disposals

Disposal of subsidiary
Transfers

Transfers to Software
Transfers to Assets held
for sale

At 31 December 2017

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2016
Charges for the year
Disposals

Transfers

At 31 December 2016
Charges for the year
Disposals

Disposal of subsidiary
Impairment

Transfers

Transfers to Software
At 31 December 2017

Net book value
At 31 December 2016
Al 31 December 2017
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Freehold
and long Assets
leasehold held for Assets
land and Leasehold Plant and confract under
buildings Improvement equipment rental construction Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
37,381 12,372 27,177 96,890 - 173,820
1,370 236 3,545 35,537 23,633 64,321
53,276 2,872 5,007 - 3,899 65,054
{1,397) (278) (3.443) (30,483) - (35,601)
17,857 (187) 2,840 - (20,510) -
108,487 15,015 35,126 101,944 7,022 267,594
47 829 5,206 34,700 18,016 58,798
- - 32 - - 32
(2,485) {(673) (2.734) (23,148) - (29,040)
- {42) (45) (113,496) - (113,583)
16,052 2,555 1,308 - (19,915) -
- - (349) - - (349)
(750) - - - - (750)
121,351 17,684 38,544 - 5123 182,702
9,121 2,540 20,445 34,429 - 66,535
934 1,146 3,758 17,343 - 23,181
(1,103} (259} (3,057} (19,514) - (23,933}
44 (44) - - - -
8,996 3,383 21,146 32,258 - 65,783
1434 1,913 5,670 15,962 - 24,879
{53} (608} (2.083) (13,673} - (16.417)
- (42) (35) (34,547) - (34,624)
194 332 419 - - 945
(405) 138 267 - - -
- - (292) - - (292)
10,166 5,116 24,992 - - 40,274
99,491 11,632 13,980 69,686 7.022 201,811
111,185 12,568 13,552 - 5123 142,428

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had capital commitments totalling £7.7m (2016: £11.7m) relaling to ongoing construction

projecls.
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16. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Transfers to software

On integration of the Ridgeway businesses inio the Group, certain items of software were identified in the tangible fixed assets
records of the recently acquired businesses. These software assets have been reclassified from property, plant and equipment
1o intangible assets (see Note 15 ‘Goodwilt and Other intangible Assets') consistent with the Group's accounting policies.

Transfers to assets held for sale

in December 2017, the Group ceased commercial activilies at cne if its freehold properties; as the property was no longer used
for the commetcial activity of the business and is being marketed for saie, the asset has been written down 1a its fair value and
transferred to assets classified as held for sale (see Note 23 ‘Assels Classified as Held for Sale’).

Impairments

The impairment loss of £787,000 represented the wrile-down of certain property, plant and equipment in the five franchised
dealerships and ohe used car centre which were announced as closing in November 2017. This loss was recognised in the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in net operating expenses.

17. investment property

2017 2016
£000 £'000
Fair vaiue at 1 January 2,590 1,920
Change in fair value - 670
Fair value at 31 December 2,590 2,590

Investment properties are stated at fair value; a formal valuation is carried out at least every three years by a Charlered Surveyor
on an open market value basis. The moslt recent full vaiuation of investment properties was carried out as al 31 December 2016
by Rapleys, Chartered Surveyors. The Group's leasehold investment property was valued on a fair value basis as at 31 December
2016 at £590,000 and the Group's freehoid investment properly on a fair value basis as at 31 December 2016 at £2,000,000,
A revaluation surplus of £670,000 was taken to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in 2016 and is included in
non-underlying iterns in Note 7 ‘Non-Underlying ltems’.

No formal valuation was required as at 31 December 2017. A deskiop review of the properties was carried out by Rapleys,
Chartered Surveyars as at 13 November 2017; no indicators were identified which signalled a material change in the fair value
of invastment properties and as such, investment properties continue o be held at their 31 December 2016 value.

The properties are rented out to third parties. Rental income of £283,000 was recognised in 2017 (2016: £322,000), cost of any
repairs and maintenance were incurred and made by the lessees. There are no restriclions on the Group's abifity to dispose of
the investment properties or use any funds arising on disposal. There are no conlractual commitments for further development
of the invesiment properties.
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18. Finance leases — Group as lessor

Lease agreements in which the other parly, as lessee, is regarded as the economic owner of the leased assels give rise to
accounts receivalile determined by reference o the discounted future lease paymenis.

The Group leased out vehicles under finance leases through one of its subsidiaries Marshall Leasing Limited. This subsidiary
was disposed of on 24 November 2017 (Nole 8 'Discontinued Operations’) and finance leases as a lessor activities were
discontinued from this date.

Al 31 December 2017 these receivables amounted to £nil (2016: £494,000).

2016

Unearned
Total future interest Present
payments income value
£'000 £'000 £000
Within 1 year 234 (3} 231
Between 1 and 5 years 308 (45) 263
542 (48) 494

The majority of the leases typically ran for a non-cancellable pariod of one to five years. Under the contracts, title either passed
to the lessee at the canclusion of the lease period, or the arrangements included an aption to purchase the leased equipment
after that period,

19. Operating leases — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into non-cancellable operating leases, as lessor, on a number of its assets held for contract rental included
in property, plant and equipment and properly included in investment property. The terms of these leases vary.

The Group leased out vehicles under operating leases through one of its subsidiaries Marshall Leasing Limited, which was
disposed of on 24 November 2017 {Nole 8 'Disconlinued Operalions'). Operating leases as lessor aclivities (assets held for
contract rental under non-cancellable operaling leases) were discontinued from this date.

Future minimum lease payments receivable for assets held for contract rental under non-cancellable operating leases are as set
out below.

2017 2016

£'000 £'000

Within 1 year - 26,408
Between 1 and 5 years - 71,891
- 98,299

Future minimum lease payments receivable for property under non-cancellable operaling leases are as set out below.

2017 2016
£'000 £'000
Within 1 year 593 275
Belween 1 and 5 years 1,520 813
After 5 years 2,057 908
4,170 1,996
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20. Inventories

2017 2016

£'000 £000

Finished goods 410,423 389,372
Less: Provisions (9,163) (9,356}

Inventories 401,260 380,016

Finished goods include new and used vehicles heid for resale, vehicle parts and other inventory. As at 31 December 2017
£380,641,000 (2016: £364,695,000} of finished goods are held under vehicle financing arrangements (see Note 24 ‘Trade and
Other Payables’).

Inventory recagnised in cost of sales during the year as an expense was £1,943 million (2016; £1,630 million).

21. Trade and other receivables

2017 2016

£'000 £'000
Amounts failing due within one year:
Trade receivables due but not past due 51,542 54,509
Trade receivables past due 21,508 18,441
Trade receivables past due but impaired (1,542) {1,944)
Trade receivables — net 71,508 71,006
Other receivables 11,774 13,648
Amounts due from related undertakings (note 33) - 7
Prepayments 8,859 10.412
Trade and other receivables 92,141 95,073

The creation and the release of the provision for impaired receivables have been included in net operating expenses. More
information in respect of principal risk management is provided in Note 28 'Financial Insiruments — Risk Management'.

All financial assets included within frade and other receivables are held at amortised cosls. The carrying amount of trade and
other receivables approximates fair value.

Trade receivables include supplier income receivables of £17,700,000 (2016: £17,164,000).
Other receivables include finance lease and hire purchase receivables (discontinued — see Note 18 'Finance Leases — Group as

Lessor’) of £nil {(2016: £494,000). Of these £nil (2016: £263,000) are amounts due in more than one year.

22. Cash and cash equivalents

2017 2016
£'000 £'000
Cash at bank and in hand 4 867 83

Cash and cash equivalents are held at amortised cost. Fair value approximates carrying value.

Cash at bank earns interest at floating inferest rates determined by reference to short-term benchmark rates.
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23. Assets classified as held for sale

2017 2016
£'000 £'000
Non-current assets held for sale
Freehold land and building 750 -

Following the closure of the one of the Group's dealerships in December 2017, the decision was taken to sell the freehold property
owned by the Group and used by the dealership. Based on current market conditions, the sale is expecied to be completed within
one year from the balance sheet date. As a result, the freehold property has been reclassified as held for sale and Iransferred
from property, plant and equipment into current assets. On reclassification, the freehold property was measured at the lower of
ils carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell at the date of reclassification (fair value as determined by a desktop valuation
from Charlered Surveyors). This remeasurement resulted in an impairment loss of £194,000 being recognised in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The asset is presented within total assets of the Retail segment in Note 5 'Segmental Information’,

24. Trade and other payables

2017 2016
£'000 £'000
Current — trade and other payables
Trade payables:
- vehicle financing arrangements 380,641 364,695
- other trade payables 89,281 85,206
Amounts owed to related undertakings (note 33} 149 102
Other tax and social security payable 4,500 3,601
Other payables 8,205 10,634
Accruals and deferred income 44,838 33,102
Total current trade and other payables 527,614 497,340
Non-current — other payables
Accruals and deferred income 4,281 7.462
Total non-current other payables 4,281 7,462

All financial liabilities included within current trade and other payables are held al amortised costs; carrying value is a reasonable
approximation of fair value,

The Group finances the purchases of new and use vehicle inventories using vehicle funding facilities’ provided by various lenders
including the caplive finance companies associated with brand partners. These finance arrangements generally have a maturity
of 90 days or less and the Group is normally required to repay amounts outstanding on the earlier of the sale of the vehicles that
have been funded under the facilities or the stated maturity date,

Consistenl with induslry practice, amounts dus to finance companies in respect of vehicle funding are included within trade
payables and disciosed under vehicte financing arrangements. Related cash flows are reporting within cash flows from operating

aclivities within the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Vehicle financing facilities are subject to LIBOR-based (or similar) interest rates. The interest incurred under these agreements
is included within finance costs and classified as stock holding interest.
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25. Loans and borrowings

2017 2016
Nominal and Nominal and
book value book value

£'000 £'600
Current loans and borrowings
Asset backed financing (leasing — discontinued} - 30,680
Morigages 642 1,225
Bank loan - 35,000
Bank overdraft - 10,825
642 77,730
Non-current loans and borrowings
Asset backed financing (leasing — discontinued) - 33,833
Morigages 6,466 7,531
6,466 41,364
Total loans and borrowings 7,108 119,094

Mortgages comprise amounts borrowed from commercial financial institutions and are secured by fixed charges over specified
properly assels of certain subsidiaries.

Bank loans and averdrafis comprise amounts borrowed from commercial banks.

Asset backed financing was secured by a fixed charge over specific vehicles held for leasing. The related finance comprises
chatiel morigages.

Conmunitted facilities

The Group has a revolving credit facility of £95,000,000 of which £nil was drawn at 31 Dacember 2017 (2016: £35,000,000).
The Group aiso has access fo an overdraft facility of £25,000,000 of which £nil was drawn at 31 December 2017 (2016;
£10,825,000). These facilities are available for general corporate purposes including acquisitions or working capital requirements.
Both facilities are held in cash pooling arrangements and balances have been offset in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Pasition.

The facilities are secured by cross guarantees granted by the certain members of the Group. The facilities are availabie until
May 2020.The Group is also able lo extend the term of the facilities by up to 12 months.

More information in respect of principal risk management is provided in Note 28 ‘Financial Instruments — Risk Management'.

The carrying amount of current loans and borrowings approximate fair value.
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25. Loans and borrowings (continued)

The carrying amounts and fair value of the non-current loans and borrowings are as below The fair values are based on cash
flows discounted using the prevailing rates.

2017 2016

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

amount value amount value

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Asset backed financing (leasing — discontinued} - - 33,833 32,032

Moitgages 6,466 4917 7.531 5,254
a) Interest rate profile of borrowings

2017 2017 2016 2016

Average Average

Debt effective Debt effective

£000 interest rate £'000 interest rate

Asset backed financing (leasing — discontinued) - - 64,513 1.94

Mortgages 7,108 1.63 8,756 1.75

Bank loan and averdraft - - 45,825 1.75

Weighted average cost of drawn borrowings 7,108 1.63 119,094 1.85

All loans and borrowings are subject to floating rates of interest which are determined by reference to official market rates such
as LIBOR or the Finance House Base Rate.

b) Maturity profile of borrowings

The Group's borrowings have the following maturity profile:

2017 2016

E£'000 £000
6 months or less 321 57,484
6 — 12 months 321 20,246
1 -5 years 2,565 36,340
Over 5 years 3,901 5,024
Total bank borrowings 7,108 119,094
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26. Provisions

Closed Vacant
Other Pension Tax sites Dilapidations property Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2017 - - 4,242 195 1.094 1,161 6,692
Transfer from accruals and
deferfed income 200 - - - - - 200
Charged lo income statement
in tha year - 5,000 - 428 660 4,442 11,530
Reversed and credited to income
statement in the year - - - - (701} (46) (747)
Ulilised during the year - - (4,005} (96) - (744) (4,845}
As at 31 December 2017 200 6,000 237 527 1,053 4,813 42,830
Provisions have been allocated between current and non-current as below,
2017 2016
£'000 £'006
Current 8,815 5,242
Non-current 4,015 1,450
Total provisions 12,830 6,692

Tax

On acquisition of Pentagon Limited and Ridgeway Garages (Newbury} Limited during the year ended 31 December 2016, the
Group inherited a potential setflerent in respect of various film tax planning initiatives previously entered into pre-acquisition.
The estimated setlement was provided for as at 31 December 2016. In February 2017 a settletent with HMRC was agreed
with most instalments paid during the year; the final instalment was paid subsequent to the year-and in January 2018.

Closed sites, dilapidations and vacant property

The Group manages its portfclio carefully and either closes or selis sites which no longer fit with the Group's strategy. When siles
are closed or sold provisions are made for any residual costs or commitments.

The Group operates from a number of leasehold premises under full repairing leases. The provision recognises that repairs are
required to put the buildings back into the state of repair required under the leases.

Where property commitments exist at sites which are closed or closing the Group provides for the unavoidable cost of those
leases post closure,

Pension

See Note 34 'Pensions’ for full details of the circumstances giving rise to the recognition of this provision. The provision is expected
to be fully utilised within 12 months of the balance sheel date.
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27. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

The analysis of deferred lax assets and deferred tax hiabilities is as below.

Deferred lax assetls:
— Deferred tax assel

Deferred tax liabilities:
- Deferred tax liability to be recovered after more than 12 months
Net deferred tax liabjlities

The gross movement on the deferred tax account is as follows:

At 1 January

Deferred tax arising on acquisition (note 15)
Deferred tax acquired

Deferred tax disposed (note 8)

Income statement charge (note 12)
Credited directly to equity

At 31 December

2017 2016
£000 £000
39 36
(20,448) (20,803)
(20,409) (20,767)
2017 2016
£'000 £'000
(20,767) (4,266)
- (17,373)

- (563)
(1,547) -
1,805 1,517
- (82)
(20,409) (20,767)
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27. Deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued)

a) Deferred tax liabilities

The movement in deferred tax liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the
same lax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Fixed assets

Accelerated acquired on a

tax

depreciation

At 1 January 2016

Acquisition of subssidiaries
Charged/{crediled) to the
Income statement — current year
Charged/({credited) to the
incoeme statement — prior year
Impact of corporation

tax raie reduction

At 31 December 2016
Charged/(credited) to the
income statement — current year
Charged/(credited} to the
income slatement — prior year
Transfers o deferred lax

asset

At 31 December 2017

husiness

Assets
previously

Roll over qualifying for Investment Intangible

combination relief iBAs properties assets Goodwill Total

£'000 £'000 £'o0e £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
- 1,773 1,424 362 - 2,437 544 6,540

- 5715 - - - 10,728 930 17,373

. (117 {139) {21) 104 (160) 151 {182)

- - - - 60 - - 60
- (571) {79) (38) - {722) {61) 1.471)

- 6,800 1,206 303 164 12,283 1,564 22,320
80 (710) (3) (81) (8) (8) 179 (551)
5 235 - - (71 - (367) {198}
720 - - {57} - 663
805 6,325 1,203 222 28 12,275 1,376 22,234
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27. Deferred tax assets and liabilities {continued)

b) Deferred tax assets

The movement in deferred lax assets during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetfting of balances within the same

tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Accelerated ‘ Disposals Other
1ax Tax Share-based Investment Capital on a sale temporary
depreciation losses payments properties losses basis  differences Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 January 2016 1,510 58 189 71 7 245 130 2,274
Acquisition of subsidiaries (852) - - - - 289 (563)
(Charged)/credited 1o
the income statement
- current year 222 - 161 (10 (122) (245) (169) (163)
(Charged)/credited fo
lhe incorne staternent
— prior year 119 {16) - - 168 - (47) 224
Impact of corporation
tax rate reduciion (112) (6) - (4) (1) - (14) (137)
Charged direclly lo equily - - (82) - - - - (82)
At 31 Decemnber 2016 887 36 268 57 116 - 189 1,553
Credited to
the income statement
— current year 41 2 - - 3 42 1,376 1,464
{Charged)/credited to
the income statement
— prior year (103) 1 (268) - 44 - 18 (308}
Transfers from deferred tax
liability 720 - - (57) - - - 663
Disposat of subsidiaries
(note 8) (1,545) - - - - - ) (1.547)
At 31 December 2017 - 39 - - 163 42 1,581 1,825

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through

future laxable profits is probable.

Trading losses
Available indeftnitely
At 31 December

2017 2017 2016 2016
Unrecognised Unrecogdnised

deferred deferred

Tax losses tax asset Tax losses tax asset
£'000 £'000 £°000 £'000
1,133 192 1,549 263
1,133 192 1,549 263
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28. Financial instruments ~ risk management

The Group’s principal financial instruments consist of: cash and cash equivalents, bank overdrafts and loans and bofrowings.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to manage the Group's funding and liquidity requirements. The Group has
other financial assels and liabiliies such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group's activities expaose it to the following financial tisks:

+  Market risk;
+  Credit risk; and
«  Liguidity risk.

Each of these risks are managed in accordance with Board-approved policies. Risk management policies and systems have
been established and are reviewed regularly 1o reflect changes in market conditions and the Group's activities. These palicies

are sel out below.

The Group's financial risk management processes seek to enable the early identification, evaluation and effective management
of the significant risks facing the business.

The Group does hot use financial derivatives and does not enter into trade financial instruments, including derivative financial
instruments, for speculative purposes,

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of movements i the fair value of future cash flows of a financia! instrument or forecast ransaction as
undertying markel prices change. The only market risk to which the Group Is exposed is changes In interest rates. The Group's
business activities neither expose it to cornmedity price risk nor foreign currency risk.

Interest rate risk is the risk that a change in interest rates adversely effects the Group's performance or ability to setile financial
obligations and comprises iwo elements.

Interest price risk

This risk results from financial instruments bearing fixed interest rates; changes in fleating interest rates therefore affect the fair
value of these fixed rate financial instruments,

The Group has no debt subject to fixed inlerest rates and is, therefore, not exposed to interaest price risk.

interest cash flow risk

This risk results from financial instruments bearing floaling Interest rates. Changes in floating interest rates affect cash flows on
interest receivable or payable.

The Group is exposed lo interest rate tisk on its floating rate debt, namely all loans and borrowings, The interest rate exposure
of the Group is managed within the constraints of the Group’s business plan and the financial covenants under its facilities. Due
to the low value of the Group's loans and borrowings as at 31 December 2017, the Group does not have significant sensitivities
to the impact of future changes In interest rates on floating rate debt.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group.
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28. Financial instruments — risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group is exposed to credil risk on its financial assels which consist of cash balances with banks and trade and other
receivables to the extent that settlement is cash-related. The Group does not have a significant exposure Lo this type of financial
risk due to the nature of its customer base and the types of transaction that are undertaken.

The maximum exposure to credit risk on the Group's financial assets is represented by the assels’ carrying amounl.

The table below analyses the Group's assets by credit exposure (excluding prepayments and cash in hand):

2017 2016
£000 E’'000
Counterparties without external credit rating:
Group 1 1,587 o
Group 2 81,695 83,960
Total unimpaired trade receivables 83,282 84,661
Counterparties with external credit rating:
AAA- (stable)* 4,867 83
Cash at bank 4,867 83

* Standard & Poor's rating {long term}

Group 1 - new customersirelated parlies (lass than 6 months).
Group 2 — existing customers/related parlies (more than 6 months) with no defaults in the past.

Trade and other receivables

The Group has a high volume of transactions spread across a large customer base, therefore, does not have a significant exposure
to the credit worthiness of any single counterparty.

The group has an established credit policy applied by each business under which the credit status of each new customer is
reviewed (by reference to external credit evaluations, where possible) before credit is advanced. Credit limits are established for
all significant or high-risk customers, which represent the maximum amount permitted to be outstanding withoul requiring additional
approval from the appropriate level of management. These limits are based on external credit reference agency ratings and the
utilisation of approved credit limils is regularly monitored. Qutstanding debts are continually monitored by each business unit.

Trade receivables are considered {o be past due once they have passed their contractual due date and are reviewed for
impairment if they are past due beyond 30 days. Based on past experience, the Group believes that no impairment allowance is
necessary in respect of trade receivables that are not past due. The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that
represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of specific frade and other receivables where it is deemed that a receivable
may not be recoverable, When the debl is deemed irrecoverable, the allowance account is written off against the underlying
receivable.
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28. Financlal Instruments — risk management (continued)

Credit risk {continued)

Trade and other receivables (continued)

The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was:

2017 2016

£'000 £000

Not past due 51,542 54,509

0 — 30 days past due 18,113 14,603

31 - 60 days past due 1,924 1,970

61 — 90 days past due 678 650

Over 90 days past due 893 1,218

Trade receivables — gross 73,050 72,950
Trade receivables are stated net of the following provision for irrecoverable amounts:

2017 2016

£000 £'000

At 1 January 1,944 839

{Decrease)/increase in provision for receivables impairment (188) 1,915

Receivables wrilten off during the year as uncollectable (214) (810)

At 31 December 1,542 1,944

Cash and cash equivalents

Banking relationships are generally limited o those banks that are mgmbers of the gore relationship group. These banks ate
selected for their credit status and their abllity to meet the businesses’ day-to-day banking requirements. The credit ratings of
these institutions are monitored on a continuing basis.

The Groufr has not recorded impairments against cash or cash equivalents, nar have any recoverability issues been idantified
with such balances. Such items are typically recoverable on demand ar in line with normal banking arrangements.

Liquidity risk

Liguidity risk is the risk that the group will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with its financial liabilities as
they fal! due.

Uttimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board, which has built an approgriale liquidity risk management
frarnework for the management of the Group's short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements.

Liquidity risk is managed by maintaining adequate levels of easily accessible cash reserves and committed banking facilities.
To assess the adequacy of resources, available headroom is continuously monitared through review of forecast and aclual cash
flows and through malching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. The Group has access to undrawn banking
facilities In order o further reduce liquidity risk. The Group does not anticipate any issues drawing on the committed, undrawn
banking facilities should this be necessary. Full details of the Group's borrowing facilities are given in Note 25 ‘Loans and
Borrowings'.
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28. Financial instruments - risk management (continued)

Liquidity risk {continued)

The table below analyses the contractual undiscounted cash flows relating to the Group's financial liabilities at the balance sheet
date. The cash flows are grouped based on the remaining period to the contractual maturity date. The Group has sufficient funds

{o meet these commitments as they fall due.

Morigages

Trade and other payables
(excluding other taxes and social security)

At 31 December 2017

Bank loan and overdrait
Mortgages

Asset backed financing

{leasing — discontinued)

Trade and other payables
(excluding other taxes and social security)

At 31 December 2016

Due Due Due
between between 1 between
Due within 6 months and 2 2and Due after
6 months and 1 year years 5 years 5 years Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
385 382 753 2,187 4,099 7,806
523,114 - 4,281 - - 527,395
523,499 382 5,034 2,187 4,099 535,201
Due Due Due
between between 1 bhetween
Due within 6 months and 2 2and Due after
6 months and 1 year years 5 years 5 years Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
46,491 - - - - 46,491
254 1,139 1,349 1,295 5,158 9,195
11,499 19,181 22242 11,591 - 64,513
493,739 - 7,462 - - 501,201
551,983 20,320 31,053 12,886 5158 621,400

The above tables do nol include forecast dala for liabilities which may be incurred in the future but which were not conltracted as

at the balance sheet date.

Capital risk managemant

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings and shareholders' equity The
consolidated statement of changes in equily provides details on equity, Note 22 provides details of cash and cash equivalents
and Note 25 provides detalls of loans and borrowings.

The Group manages its capital structure with the following objectives:

» tosafeguard the Group's ability to conlinue as a going concern and maintain sufficient available resources as protection for

unforeseen events;

» 1o ensure that sufficient capital resources are available for working capital requirements and meeting principal and interest

payment obligations as they fall due;

* 1o provide flexibility of resource for stralegic growth and investment where opportunities arise; and

= lo provide reasonable returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders whilst maintaining a limited level of risk.
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28. Financiai instruments - risk management (continued)

Capital risk management (continued)
There were no changes to the Group's approach to capital management during the year.

By virtue of the Group's retail mediation activities, the Group is subject to the capital requirements impased by the Financial
Conduct Authortity on all non-investment insurance intermediaries. The Group's capital adequacy is monitored on a quarterly
basis and its capital resources have been consistenfly in excess of these requirements.

The Directors moniter the Group's capital structure and determine the Jevel of dividends payable to shareholders at least twice
a year prior to the announcement of results, taking into account the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and the capital
requirements of its strategic business plans. Consistent with others in the industry, the Directors monitor levels of ieverage by
reference Lo the ratio of net debt 1o fotal shareholders' equity. Net debt is calculaied as total borrowings (including both current
and non-current borrowings) less cash and cash equivalents. As disclosed in the Net Debt Reconciliation or page 69, the Group
had net debt of £2,241,000 as at 31 December 2017 {(2016: £119,011,000).

29. Fair value measurement

The foliowing table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group's assets and liabilites.

Fair value measurement using:
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unohservabie

markets Inputs Inputs
Date of valuation Total {Level 1) {Level 2) {Level 3)
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Assets measured at fair value:
Investment proparties {note 17} 31 December 2017 2,590 - 2,590 -
Assaets held for sale {note 23) 31 December 2017 750 - 750 -
Liahilities for which falr values are disclosed:
Mortgages (note 25) 31 December 2017 4,917 - 4,917 -
Assets measured at fair value:
Investiment propetties (note 17) 31 December 2016 2,590 - 2,590 -
Liabllities for which fair values are disclosed:
Asset backed financing
{leasing — disconfinued) (note 25) 31 December 2016 32,032 - 32,032 -
Mortgages (note 25) 31 December 2016 5,254 - 5,254 -

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during 2017 or 2016.




Marshall Motor Holdings pic | Annual Report & Accounts 2017

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
30. Share capital and reserves

Share capital and share premium

Number Ordinary Share
of shares shares premium Total
£'000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2016 77,236,263 49,431 19,672 69,103
Issued 27 May 2016 156,599 100 - 100
At 31 December 2016 77,392,862 49,531 19,672 69,203
At 31 December 2017 77,392,862 49,531 19,672 69,203

On 27 May 2016 156,599 ordinary shares of 64p each were issued as part of the IPO Restricted share option scheme. There
were no shares issued in 2017.

All shares issued are fully paid.
Delails of Directors' interests in shares are shown in the Directors' Remuneration Report on pages 44 to 50.

Share repurchases
No ordinary shares were repurchased by the Company in 2017 (2016: nil).

Shares held by subsidiaries
No shares in the Company were held by subsidiaries in any year.

Retained earnings

There are no significant stalutory or contractual restrictions on the distribution of current profits of subsidiaries; undistributed
profits of prior years are, in the main, permanently employed in the businesses of these companies.

Included in retained earnings as at 31 Decernber 2017 Is a share-based payment reserve of £2,608,000 (2016: £1,869,000)
representing the cumulative charge for all equity-seitled share-based payment arrangements.

31. Share-based payments

The Group operates an equity-settled share opticn scheme for certain senior managers and executive directors of the Group
("the Performance Share Pian”). As at 31 December 2017, four share granis have been awarded under the scheme being (a) IPO
Restricted Awards {vesting in three tranches) (b} IPO Performance Awards (vesting in two franches) {c) 2016 Performance Awards
and (d) 2017 Performance Awards. Awards are made annually to eligible employees at the discretion of the Remuneration
Commiltee; employees receive shares al the end of the performance period, subject to the achievement of the specified
underlying basic earnings per share ("EPS"} performance conditions. Performance conditions are designed to incentivise senior
managers and executive directors to maximise long-term shareholder returns. Each option grant under the scheme is disclosed
separately below.

The lotal share-based paymenl charge recognised during the year ended 31 December 2017 was £1,005,000 (2016: £1,313,000).
This is split as £266,000 in accruals and deferred income and £739,000 in retained earnings.

If an option remains unexercised after a period of ten years from the date of grant, the option expires. The weighted average
remaining contractual life of options cutstanding as at 31 December 2017 is 8.2 years (2016: 8.6 years).

The fair value of share options is determined by reference to the market value of the Group's shares at the date of grant. No
valuation model is required o calculate the fair value of awards on the basis that the employees receiving the awards are entitied
to receive the full value of the shares and there are no market-based performance conditions altached o the awards. The weighted
average fair value of options outstanding as at 31 December 2017 is £1.65 (2016: £1.65). The fair value of options granted
during the year was £1.69 (2016: £2.06). The fair value of equity seftled share oplions granted was based on market value on
29 September 2017 when the share options were granted.
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31. Share-based payments (continued)

Options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before the oplions vest.

Al options issued are nil cost options and all awards have an exercise price of £nil.

The share option scheme is in place o encourage option holders to take appropriate and timely action lo maximise the long-term
financial performance and success of the Group. As a result, in accordance with the discretion afforded lo them under the Group's
remuneration policy, the Remuneration Commiltee regulatly reviews any impact of Group restructurings and rearganisations on
incentive outcomes to ensure that performance conditions are not distorted by action taken to oplimise business performance
for the iong-term benefit of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee exercised this discretion during the year. Incentive outcomes on the IPO Performance Awards
and the 2016 Performance Awards were adjusted for the impact of the disposal of Marshall Leasing Limited.

As at 31 December 2017 outstanding share options were as foliows:

No of shares

over which Date

options are  Exercise frorn which Expiry
Award Awiard date outstanding price exercisable date
IPO Restricted Share Awards — Tranche 2 2 April 2015 156,599 Nil 2 Apiil 2017 2 April 2025
IPC Restricted Share Awards - Tranche 3 2 April 2015 156,600 Nil 2 Aprit 2018 Z Apiil 2025
IPG Performance Awards — Tranche 1 2 April 2015 604,028 Nit 2 April 2018 2 April 2025
{PQ Performance Awards - Tranche 2 2 Aprit 2015 604,028 Nit 2 April 2019 2 April 2026
2016 Performance Awards 13 June 2016 538,835 Nil 13 June 2020 13 June 2026
2017 Performance Awards 29 September 2017 806,141 Nil 29 September 2020 29 September 2027

a) PO Restricted Awards

The IPO Restricted Share Awards are not subject to any performance conditions; vesting is purely subject to the service condition
of continuous employment.

These options vest in three equal tranches and become exercisable on the first, second and third anniversaries of the date on
which the Company's shares were admitied to trading on the Alternative Invesiment Market of the London Stock Exchange
(2 April 2015).

2017 2017 2016 2016
No. WAEP No. WAEP

PO Restricted Share Awards
Qutstanding as at 1 January 313,199 - 469,798 -
Granted during the year - - .
Forfeited during the year - - -

Exercised - - (156,599) -
Expired during the year - - - -
Outstanding as at 31 December 313,199 - 313,199 -
Exercisable as at 31 December 156,599 - - .
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31. Share-based payments (continued)

b) [PO Performance Awards

The IPO Performance Awards are subject lo non-market performance conditions as detaifed below as well as the service condition
of continuous employment.

The options vest for achieving growth in EPS from 2014 to 2017; 25% vest for achieving growth of CP{ plus 4% per annum
increasing to 100% vesting for achieving growth of CP1 plus 10% per annum.

These options vest in two equal tranches and 50% become exercisable on the third anniversary of the date on which the
Company's shares were admitled to trading on the Allernative Investiment Market of the London Stock Exchange and the
remaining 50% become exercisable on the fourth anniversary.

2017 2017 2016 216
No. WAEP No. WAEP

IPQ Performance Awards
Outstanding as at 1 January 1,406,040 - 1,459,730 -
Granted during the year - - - -
Forfeited during the year (197,984) - {53,690) -
Exercised - - - -
Expired during the year - - - -
Outstanding as at 31 December 1,208,056 - 1,406,040 -

Exercisable as at 31 December - - - -

c} 2016 Performance Awards

The 2016 Performance Awards are subject to non-market performance condilions as detailed below as well as the service
condition of continuous employment.

The options vest for achieving growth in EPS from 2015 to 2018; 25% vesl for achieving growth of CPI plus 3% per annum
increasing to 100% vesting for achieving growth of CPl plus 8% per annum.

Thease options all become exercisable on the third anniversary of the grant date.

The 2016 Performance Awards are subject to a holding period which starts on the grant date and ends on the fourth anniversary
of the grant date.

2017 2017 2016 2016
No. WAEP No. WAEP

2016 Performance Awards
Qutstanding as at 1 January 660,801 - - -
Granted during the year - - 675,364 -
Forfeited during the year (121,966) - {14,563) -
Exercised - - - -
Expired during the year - - - -
Qutstanding as at 31 December 538,835 - 660,801 -

Exercisable as at 31 December - - - -
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d) 2017 Performance Awards

The 2017 Periormance Awards are subject to non-market performance conditions as detailed balow as well as the service
condition of continucus emplayment.

The options vest for achieving growth in underlying, basic EPS from 2018 {o 2019, 25% vest for achieving growth of CPI plus
1% per annum and the percentage of options which vests increases on a straight line basis up to 100% vesting for achieving
growth of CP{ plus 5% per annum.

These aplions all become exercisable on the third anniversary of the grant date.

The 2017 Performance Awards are subject to a holding period which starts on the grant date and ends on the fourth anniversary
of the grant date.

2017 2017 2016 2016
No. WAEP No. WAEP

2017 Performance Awards
Outstanding as at 1 January - - . -
Granted during the year 806,141 - - -
Farfeited during the year - - - -
Outstanding as at 31 December 806,141 - - .
Exercisable as at 31 December - - - .

32. Commitments and contingencles
Operating lease commitments — Group as lessee

The Group, as lessee, has non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The lease terms vary and the majority of lease
agreements are renewable at the end of the lease period at market rate.

The lease expenditure charged to the income statement during the year is disclesed in Note 6 ‘Profit Before Taxation',

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-canceliable operating leases are set out below.

2017 2016

E'000 £'000

Within 1 year 11,822 11,484
Later than 1 year and less than & years 41,777 40,909
After 5 years 68,906 72,578
123,605 124,981
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33. Related party transactions

Key management compensaltion is given in Nole 10 ‘Employees and Directors',

During 2016 and 2017 the Directors were members of an employee car ownership scheme under which the following transactions
were made in the year. The Directors purchased 15 cars in 2017 (2016: 14} al a price of £1,170,000 (2016; £983,000) and sold
back 12 (2016: 14) at a price of £938,000 (2016: £994,000).

The following table shows the aggregate transactions with companies within Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited other
than those which are subsidiaries of Marshall Motor Holdings plc.

Year-end
2017 Sales Purchases balance
£'000 £'000 £'000
Ultimate parent undertaking
Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings} Limited 278 332 2
Other related parties
Marshall of Cambridge Aerospace Limited 62 303 (37)
Marshall Thermo King Limited 327 3 254
Marshall Fleet Solutions Limited 3 8 -
Marshall Group Properties Limited 100 1,335 (368)
Aeropeople Limiled 2 - -
Marshall Land Systems Lirmnited 3 - -
775 1,981 (149)
Year-end
2016 Sales Purchases balance
£'000 £000 £'000
Ultimate parent undertaking
Marshall of Cambridge {Holdings) Limited a3 337 (24)
Other related parlies
Marshall of Cambridge Aerospace Limited 106 315 (78)
Marshall Thermo King Lirmnited 695 28 7
Marshall Fleet Solutions Limited - 13 -
Marshall Group Properties Limited 134 1,312 -
Aeropeople Limited 7 - -
Marshall Land Systems Limited KA | - -
1,056 2,005 (95}

Qutstanding balances with group entities are unsecured, interest free and are expecled to be setiled in cash. During the year
ended 31 December 2017, the Company has not made any provision for doubtful debts relating 1o amounts owed by related
parties (2016: Enil}.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
34. Pensions

a) Defined contribution pension schemes

The Group makes contributions to defined contribution pension schemes; contributions paid are calculated by reference to a
perceniage of each employee's salary. All defined contribution schemes into which the Group makes contributions are managed
by third party praviders. The only obligation of the Group with respect ta these schemes is to make the specified contributions.
The total income statement charge for contributions for the year ended 31 December 2017 was £2,059,000 (2016; £1,714,000).

b) Defined benefit pension schemes

The defined benefil section of the Marshalt Group Executive Pension Plan (*the Plan") has muitipie participating entities which
are under common control. There is no contractual agreement or stated policy for charging the net defined benefit pension cost
for the Plan as a whale to the varigus participating employers of the Plan. Therefore, in line with the disclosure requirements of
IAS 19 Employse Benefits, the net defined benefit cost is recognised in the financial statements of the principal employer
{Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited) and the other participating employers (including the Group) recognise a cost equal
to their contributions payable for the year Consequently, the Group accounts for all of its pension contributions as ¥ the
contributions were made to a defined contripution pension scheme {see Note 2 ‘Accounting Policies’),

The Group made no contributions to the defined benefit section of the Plan during either the current or prior year.

The most recent triennial actuarial valuation of the defined benefit section of the Plan is as at 31 December 2016. The valuation
was agreed by the Truslees after the Group's year end and revealed a global, scheme-wide deficit on a technical provisions basis
of £8.1 million.

Provision for Section 75 Employer Debt

As a result of the sale of Marshall Leasing Limited during the year, the Group no longer has any current employees who are
members of the defined benefit section of the Plan although employees do still participate in the defined contribution section of
the Plan. This fact, combined with the current triennial valuation process, led the Group to commence a strategic review of its
existing pension arrangemenits. Based on the stalus of discussions to date, current expectalions are that it is probable that this
review will resuit in the Group ceasing participation in this pension scheme.

Ceasing lo participate in the defined benefit section of the Plan would trigger a debt for the Group under Section 75 of the
Pensions Act 1935 {"Employer Debt"). Based on Initial acluarial estimates, the estimated Employer Debt would be approximately
£6 million. In light of the current status of the Group's discussions with the Trustees of the Plan and the principal employer, it is
considered appropriale 1o recognise a provision for this estimated Employer Debt.

If the Group were to cease 1o participate in the defined benefit section of the Plan and on setliement of the Employer Debt, the
Group would have no further commitments or participation in any defined benefit pension plans.

Extract from Principal Employer's IAS 19 Disclosures

The detal's below are disclosure ifems only and do not correspond to amounts reflected in either the Consclidated Statement of
Financial Position or Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income of Marshall Motor Holdings plc.

The information presented below is an extract of 1he IAS 19 valuation as prepared by the Actuary for the principal employer of
the defined benefit section of the Marshall Group Executive Pension Plan and, therefore, covers the entire defined benefit section
of that pension scheme. The information does not refiect an apportionment of the scheme between the mulliple participating
employers, such an apportionmernil not being possible due lo the scheme’s structure. Details of the full scheme are included in
the Annual Report of Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited which can be obtained from: Airport House, The Airport,

Cambridge CB6 8RY.




Marshall Motor Holdings plc | Annual Report & Accounts 2017

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
34. Pensions (continued)

b} Defined benefit pension schemes (continued}

Extract from Principal Employer’s 1AS 18 Disclosures {continued)

2017 2016 2015 2014
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Balance sheet obligations
~ Fair value of assets at end of year 40,417 36,975 34,546 34,119
— Present value of obligations at end of year (51,096) (54,485) (46,062} {46,968)
— Deficit at 31 Decernber 2016 (10,679) (17,510) (11,516} (12,849}
— Related deferred tax assel 2,097 2,977 2,073 2,570
Liability in the balance sheet {8,582) (14,533) {9,443) {10,279}
Income statemernt charge included in operating profit
— For defined pension benefits (718) (947) (858) (741}
(718) (947) (858) (741)

Marshall of Cambridge (Haldings} Limited operates the Plan which has a section which provides defined benefits to
members in the form of a guaranteed leve! of pension payable for life. The leve! of benefits provided depends on members’
length of service and their salary in the final years leading up to retirement, In the Plan, pensions in paymaent are generally
updated in line with the retail price index. The Board of Trustees must be composed of representatives of Marshall of
Cambridge (Holdings) Limited and plan participants in accordance with the Trust Deed and Rules and legisiation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. Penslons (continued}

b) Defined benefit pension schemes (continued)

Extract from Principal Employer's IAS 19 Disclosures (continued)

The significant actuarial assumplions were as set out below.

Discount Rate

RPI inflation

CP! inflation

Salary Growth Rate

Pension Growth Rate ~ RPI min 0%, max 5%
Pansion Growth Rate — RPl min 3%

Pension Growth Rate — RPI min 2.7%, max 5%
Pension Growth Rate — RPI min (%, max 8.5%
Post retirement mortality

Post retirement improvements

Discount Rate

RP! Inflation

CPl Inflation

Salary Growth Rate

Pensiorr Growth Rafe — RPI min 0%, max 5%
Pension Growth Rate — RPI min 3%

Pension Growth Rate - RPI min 2.7%, max 5%
Pension Growth Rate — RPl min 0%, max 8.5%
Paost retirement mortaiity

Post retirement improvements

2017

2.50%

3.24%

2.24%

2.87%

3.24%

3.35%

3.26%

3.24%
82%S52PMAIT8%S2PFA

CMI 2016 table with 1.5% p.a.
and 1.25% p.a. long term
improvament trend for males
and females respectively
(rebased to 2008}

2015
3.60%
3.00%
2.00%
2.60%
3.00%
3.35%
3.21%
3.00%

73%S1PXA

CMi 2013 table with 1.26% p.a.
and 1.0% p.a. long lerm
improvement trend for males
and females respectively
{rebased to 2008)

2016
2.54%
3.31%
2.31%
3.06%
3.31%
3.36%
3.31%
3.31%

73%S1PXA

CMi 2013 table with 1.25% p.a.
and 1.0% p.a. long term
improvement trend far males
and females respectively
(rebased fo 2008}

2014
3.50%
3.16%
1.96%
2.90%
3.16%
3.29%
3.21%
3.16%

73%S1PXA

CMI 2013 table with 1.25% p.a.
and 1.0% p.a. long term
improvement trend for males
and females respeclively
(rebased lo 2008)
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34. Pensions (continued)}

b} Defined benefit pension schemes (continued)

Extract from Principal Employer’s IAS 19 Disclosures (continued)

Plan assels are comprised as follows:

2017

UK Equities

Overseas Equities

Property

Liability Driven Investments
Dynamic Asset Allocation
Cash and Net Current Assets
insured Pensions

Total

2016

UK Equities

Overseas Equities

Property

Liability Driven Investments
Dynamic Asset Allocation
Cash and Net Current Assets
insured Pensions

Total

2015

UK Equities

Overseas Equilies

Properly

Liability Driven Investments
Dyramic Asset Affocation
Cash and Nel Current Assets
Insured Pensions

Total

Quoted Unquoted Total %
£'000 £000 £000
5,834 - 5,834 14%
14,388 - 14,388 36%
7.076 - 7,076 18%
3,602 - 3,602 9%
6,421 - 6,421 16%
1,128 - 1,128 3%
- 1,969 1,969 4%
38,449 1,969 40,418 100%
Quoted Unquoted Total %
£'000 £'000 £000
5320 - 5320 14%
12,216 - 12,216 33%
6,850 - 6,850 19%
4,311 - 4,311 12%
5,860 - 5,860 16%
120 - 120 -
- 2,298 2,298 6%
34,677 2,298 36,975 100%
Quoted Unquoted Total %
£000 £000 £000
4,737 - 4,737 14%
10,165 - 10,165 30%
7,159 - 7,159 21%
4,280 - 4,280 12%
5,895 - 5,895 17%
129 - 129 -
- 2,181 2,181 6%
32,365 2,181 34,546 100%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
34, Pensions (continued)
b) Defined benefit pension schemes (continued)

Extract from Principal Employer’s |1AS 19 Disclosures (continued}

2014 Quoted Unquoted Total %
£'000 £600 £'000
UK Equities 8,871 - 9,871 29%
Qverseas Equities 5,041 - 5,041 15%
Property 6,543 - 6,543 19%
tiabifity Oriven Investments 4,223 - 4,223 12%
Dynamic Asset Allocation 5,997 - 5,997 18%
Cash and Net Current Assefs 155 - 155 -
Insured Pensions - 2,289 2,289 7%
Total 31,830 2,289 34,119 100%

Through the defined benefil pension plan, the Group is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which are
detailed below:

Asset volatility  The Plan holds 80% growih assets and these will not provide a hedge fo the movement in the discount
rate. Consequently, the difference in the values of the assels and liabifities will be quite volatile, Similarly
returns on scheme assets will be affected by changes in gilt yieids.

inflation risk The majority of benefits are linked to inflation and so increases in inflation will lead to higher Kabilities
(although in most cases there are caps in place which protect against extreme infiation).

Life expectancy Increases in life expectancy will increase plan liabjlities, the inflation linkage of the benefits also means
that inflationary increases result in a higher sensitivily o increases in life expectancy.

35. Events after the reporting period

In February 2018, the Group acquired the remaining 1% of the share capital of the following subsidiary undertakings, taking the
Group's shareholdings in these entities up to 100%. Total consideration paid was; Marshall of Peterborough Limited £11,000,
Marshall of {pswich Limited £13,300 and Marshall of Stevenage Limited £25,253.

36. Ultimate parent company

The parent undertaking of (he largest group of undertakings for which consolidated financial statements are drawn up and of
which the Company Is a member is Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limiled. This is both the immediate parent underiaking
and the ullimate parent undertaking. In light of its aggregate shareholding in the capital of the Company, Marshall of Cambridge
(Holdings) Limited has entered into a reiationship agreement in order to regulate the relationship between it and the Company
and enable the Company (o acl independently of Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings} Limited and its affiliates.

Copies of the consolidated financial staterents for Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited can be obtained from Airport
House, The Airport, Cambridge CBS 8RY.
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Company Financial Statements

Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2017

Fixed assets
investments

Current assets
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
Net current Habllities
Net assets

Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital
Share premium

Profit and loss account
Sharehotders’ funds

Note

10

2017 2018
£'000 £'000
163,528 163,194
6,265 7,104
- 1,329
6,265 8,433
(30,499) (82.753)
(24,234) (74,320)
139,294 88,874
49,531 48,531
19,672 19,672
70,091 19,671
139,204 88,874

The total comprehensive income of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017 was £54,208,000 (2016: £6,539,000).

The Company financial statements were approved for issue by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 13 March 2018.

Mark Raban
Chief Financial Officer

THEON
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Company Financial Statements
Statement of Changes in Equity

At 1 January 2016

Loss for the financial year

Dividends received

Total comprehensive income for the year
Equity dividends paid

New shares issued

Share-based payment charge

At 31 December 2016

Profit for the financial year

Total comprehensive income for the year
Equity dividends paid

Share-based payment charge

At 31 December 2017

Note

12

Profit
Share Share and loss
capital premium account Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 E£'000
49,431 19,672 15,170 84,273
- - (5.961) (5.961)
- - 12,500 12,500
- - 6,539 6,539
- - (3.251) (3,251)
100 - {100) -
- - 1,313 1,313
49,531 19,672 19,671 88,874
- - 54,208 54,208
- - 54,208 54,208
- - (4,527) (4,527)
- - 739 739
49,531 19,672 70,091 139,294
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1. Statement of compliance

Marshall Motor Holdings Ple (the Company) is incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom. The Company is a public limited
company, fimited by shares, whose shares are listed on the Alternative Investiment Markat (AIM) of the London Stock Exchange.
The Company is registered in England under the Companies Act 2006 (registration number 02051461) with the address of the
registered office being; Airport House, The Airport, Cambridge, CB5 8RY, United Kingdom:.

The parent company financial statements have been prepared in compliance with FRS 102, the Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland and in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

2. Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared in Sterling which is both the functional and presentational currency of the Company and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (E'000) except where otherwise indicated. The financial information has been
prepared on the going concern and historical cost basis.

The Company is part of the consolidated financial statements of Marshall Moter Holdings Plc.

Exemptions adopted
The following disclosure exemptions have been adopled as permilted by FRS 102:

— Presentation of a cash-flow statement and related notes
— Financial instrument-related disclosures

— Key management personnel compensalion disclosures
— Share-based paymenis disclosures

Company profit

As permitled under section 408 of the Companies Act 20086, the Company has elected to neither present a Company Profit and
Loss Account nor Company Stalement of Comprehensive Income.

3. Accoaunting policies

Except where disclosed otherwise in this note, the accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Company financial
statements are consistent with those applied when preparing the Company financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2016.

Investments In subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are recognised at cost less any impairment. Impairments are recognised directly through the Income
Statement.

Taxation

Current taxation
Current tax is recognised for the amount of income tax payable in respect of the taxable profit for the current or past reporting
periads using the tax rates and laws that have been enacled or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deforred taxation

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all liming differences which are differences between taxable profits and total comprehensive
income that arise from the inclusion of income and expenses in tax assessments in periods different from those in which they are
recognised in the financial stalements. There are the following exceptions.

Where, in a business combination, there are differences between amounts that can be deducted for tax for assats {other than goodwill)
and liabilities compared with the amounts that are recognised in the financial stalements for those assets and liabilities, a deferred
tax liability or asset is recognised. The 2mount attributed to goodwill is adjusted by the amount of the deferred tax recognised.
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements
3. Accounting policles (continued)

Taxation (continued}

Deferred taxation (continued)

Linrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax assets are recognised only to the exient that & is considered probable that they will
be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax fiabilities or other future taxable profits. Deferred tax is measured on an
undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which timing differences reverse, based on tax
rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

With the exceplion of changes arising on the initial recognition of a business combination, the taxation charge or creditis presented
either in the income statement or the statement of other comprehensive income depending on the transaction that resuited in the
taxation charge or credit.

Deferred tax liabilities are presented within provisions for liabilities and deferred tax assels within debtors. Deferred tax assets and
deferred tax fiabilities are offset only if:

— the company has a fegally enforceabie right to set off current lax assets against current tax liabilities, and

— the deferred tax assets and deferred tax iiabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend elther to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or
1o realise the assels and settie the liabilittes simultaneously.

Financial instruments

The Company has non-derivative financial instruments comprising trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans
and borrowings and trade and cther payables.

The Company has no financial instruments measured at fair value.
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and in hand.
Short-term debtors and creditors

Debtors and creditors with no stated interest rate and which are receivable or payable within one year are recorded at transaction
price. Any losses arising from impairment are recognised in the income statement.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

All interest-bearing loans and borrowings are initislly recognised at the present value of cash payable to the bank {including
interest}. After initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the effective inlerest rate method, less impairment.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in the income statement.

Share-based paymeants

The Company operates a number of equity-settied, share-hased compensation plans through which the Company allows
employees to receive shares in the Company.

Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value (calculated excluding the effect of service and non-market based
performancea vasting conditions) at the date of grant. The share-based payment charge o be expensad is determined by reference
1o the fair value of share options granted and is recognised as an employee expense within underlying earnings, with a
corresponding increase in equity.

The share-based payment charge is recognised on a straight-line basis over the vesling period (being the pericd over which all

vesling conditions are 1o be satisfied). An award subject to graded vesting is accounted for as though it were multiple, separate
awards, the number of awards being determined In direct correlation to the number of instalments in which the options vest.
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements
3. Accounting policies (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The share-based payment charge is based on the Company's estimate of the number of options that are expecied to vest. At
each balance sheet date, the Company revises ils estimates of the number of oplions that are expected to vest based on the
non-market performance vesting conditions and service conditions. The Company’s remuneration policy gives the Remuneration
Commitiee discretion to revise performance conditions to adjust for the impact of group restructurings and reorganisations on
incentive outcomes. The impact of any revisions {o original vesting estimates or performance conditions is recognised in the Income
Statement with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

Sodial security contributions payable in connection with share options granted are considered 1o be an integral part of the grant
and are, therefore, treated as cash-settled transactions.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds received, net of any directly attributable transaction
cosls, are crediled to share capitat (nominal value} and share premium.

Where shares options are forfeited, effective from the date of the forfeiture, any share-based payment charge previously recognised
in both the currenl and prior periods in relation to these oplions is reversed though the Income Stalement with a corresponding
adjustment to equily.

Dividend distribution

Final dividends to the Company's sharecholders are recognised as a liab#lity in the Group’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the Company's shareholders. Interim dividends are reccgnised when they are paid.

Dividend income

Income is recognised when the Company's right to receive the payment is established, which is generally when shareholders
approve the dividend. All of the Company’s income is generated in the UK.

4. Auditor's remuneration

The auditor's remuneration for audit and other services was £3,000 (2016: £3,000).

5. Employees and directors

Employee costs for the Company during the year:

2017 2016
£'000 £'000
Wages and salaries 2,098 1,904
Social security cosls 454 326
Other pension costs 115 110
Share-based payments 633 1,313
3,300 3,653

The average number of employees (including Executive Directors) was:
2017 2016
No. No.
Management 3 3

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, their share incentives and pension entitlements are set out in the Directors'
Remuneration Repor{ on pages 44 and 50.
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6. Investments in subsidiaries

Cost

At 1 January 2017

Share-based payment awards to employees of subsidiaries
At 31 December 2017

2017
£'000

163,194
334
163,528

On 24 November 2017 the Company disposed of its investment of £127 in Marshall Leasing Limited and its subsidiary Gates

Contract Hire Limited.

The Company owns directly or indirectly the whole of the issued and fully paid ordinary share capital of the following subsidiary
undertakings. All subsidiaries are incorporated in England and Wales and are 100% owned except where referenced.

The registered office fos all subsidiary companies listed above is Airport House, The Airport, Cambridge, CB5 8RY, United Kingdom.
All subsidiaries listed below are included within the consolidated financial statements on pages 62 to 124.

Name of Undertaking

Marshall Motor Group Limited

Marshall of Cambridge (Garage Properties) Limited

Tim Brinton Cars Limited” (reg no, 01041301)

Marshall of ipswich Limited*”

Marshall of Peterborough Limiteg™*

5.G. Smith Holdings Limited

5.G. Smith Automotive Limited” (reg no. 00622112)

£.G. S8mith (Molors) Limiled” (reg no. 0G287379)

8.G. Smith (Motors) Beckenham Limited* {reg no. 00648395)
5.G. Smith (Motors) Forest Hill Limited* (reg no. 00581710)
8.G. Smith {Motors) Crown Point Limited* (reg no. 00581711)
8.G. Smith (Motors) Sydenham Limited* (reg ne. 00660066)
8.G. Smith {Motors) Croydon Limited

S.G. Smith Trade Parts Limited* (reg no. 01794317)
Prep-Point Limited” {reg no. 00660067)

Marshall of Stevenage Limited**

Marshall Commercial Vehicles Limited

Marshall North West Limited

Marshall of Scunthorpe Limited” (reg no. 01174004)

Silver Street Automotive Limited

Exeter Trade Parts Specialists LLP* {reg na. 0C329331)
Audi South West Limited

Hanjo Russell Limited

CMG 2007 Limited* {reg no. 06275636)

Astle Limited” {reg no. 01114983)

Crystal Motor Group Limited” (reg no. 04813767)
Ridgeway Garages (Newbury) Limited

Pentagon Limited

Pentagon South West Limited

Ridgeway TPS Limited

Ridgeway Bavarian Limited

Wood in Hampshire Limited

Wood of Salishury Limited

Principal activity
at period end

Franchised motor dealership
Property holding

Property holding

Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Holding company

Holding company

Property hoiding

Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Dormant

Motor parts sales

Maintenance and repair of motor vehicles

Franchised motor dealership
Dormant

Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Molor parts sales

Dormant

Dormant

Holding company
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Dormant

Motor parts sales
Franchised motor dealership
Dormant

Dormant

* subsidiaries for which exemptlion from audit by virtue of s479A of the Companies Act 2006 has been taken for the year ended

31 December 2017.
** these subsidiaries are 99% owned by the Group.
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7. Trade and other receivables

2017 2016

£'000 £'000
Trade deblors - 1
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 5,371 6,219
Other deblors 186 252
VAT 56 10
Prepaymenls and accrued income 552 310
Deferred tax asset (note 8} 100 312

6,265 7,104
Amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured, bear no interest and have no fixed repayment date.
8. Deferred tax assets
The analysis and movernents in deferred lax assets during the year are as follows:

Share- Other
based temporary
payments differences Total

Deferred tax assets £'000 £000 £'000
At 1 January 2016 107 15 122
Credited to the income statement — current year 212 - 212
Charged lo the income statement — prior year {1 (8) (9}
impact of corporation tax rate reduction (11) (2 (13)
At 31 December 2016 07 5 312
Credited to the income statement — current year - 66 66
(Charged)/credited to the income statement — prior year (307} 29 (278)
At 31 December 2017 - 100 100

The Directors believe that all dividends paid by the Company's subsidiaries will meet the exemption conditions set out in tax

legislation and are, therefore, non-taxable income.

9. Trade and other payables

2017 2016

£'000 £'000

Bank loans - 35,000
Bank overdraft 6,380 -
Trade creditors 77 56
Amounts owed {o Group undertakings 20,561 45,224
Corporation tax 1,664 1,765
Other taxes and social security 60 59
Other creditors - ;]
Accruals and deferred income 1,857 643
30,499 82,753

The bank loan relates fo a drawdown of the revolving credit facility as described in Note 25 "Loans and Borrowings' of the

consolidated financial statemenis.
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10. Share capital

2047 2016

£000 £'000

77,392,862 (2016: 77,392,862) ordinary shares of 64p each 49,531 49,531
2017 2016

Ordinary shares £'000 £000
At 1 January 49,531 49,431
Issued on 27 May 2016 - 100
49,531 49,531

On 27 May 2016 156,589 ordinary shares of 64p each were issued as part of the IPO Reslricted share oplion scheme.

11. Share-based payments

The Company operates a share-based payment scheme, having adopted the disclosure exemptions permitted by FRS 102, full
details of the scheme are included in Note 31 ‘Share-Based Payments' of the consolidated financial statements and are not

duplicated here.

The share-based payment expense }ecognised by the Company is calculated by reference to the number of options awarded to
the employees of the Company.

12. Dividends

2017 2016
£'000 £'000
Paid during the year
Final dividend for 2015 - 1,858
Interim dividend for 2016 - 1,393
Final dividend for 2016 2,864 -
Interim dividend for 2017 1,663 -
4,527 3,251

A final divideng of £1,858,000 for the year ended 3t December 2015 was paid in March 2016. This represented a payment of
2.40p per ordinary share in issue at that time. A final dividend of £2,864,000 for the year ended 31 December 2016 was paid in
May 2017. This represented a payment of 3.70p per ordinary share in issue at that me.

An interim dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2016 of £1,393,000 representing a payment of 1.80p per ordinary
share in issue at that time was paid in September 2016. An interim dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017 of
£1,663,000 representling a payment of 2.15p per ordinary share in issue at that time was paid in September 2017.

A final dividend of 4.25p per share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017 is lo be proposed at the annual general meeting
on 22 May 2018. The ex-dividend date will be 26 April 2018 and the associated record date will be 27 April 2018. This dividend
will be paid subject to shareholder approval on 25 May 2018 and these financial statements do not reflect this final dividend payable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
13. Pensions

Details of the pension schemes are Included in Note 34 ‘Pensions’ of the cansclidated financial statements and are not duplicated
here.

14. Related party transactions
Company transactions with subsidiaries

The Company has taken advantage of exemption, under the lerms of Section 33 of FRS 102, nol to disclose related party
fransactions with subsidiaries within the Group.

Transactions with Directors

Details of transactions with Direclors are included in Nate 33 'Related Party Transactions’ of the consolidated financial staternents.

15. Events after the reporting period

In February 2018, the Group acquired the remaining 1% of the share capital of the following subsidiary undertakings, taking the
Group's shareholdings in these entities up to 100%. Tola! consideration paid was; Marshall of Peterborough Limited £11,000,
Marshall of Ipswich Limited £13,300 and Marshall of Stevenage Limited £25,253.

16. Ultimate parent company

The parent undertaking of the largest group of undertakings for which group financial statements are drawn up and of which the
Company is a member is Marshall of Cambridge {Holdings} Limited and is therefore considered to be the ullimate parent company.

Copies of the group financial statements for Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited can be obtained from Airport House, The
Airport, Cambridge CB5 8RY.




SHAREHOLDERS INFORMATION

Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice Is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting {the "AGM") of Marshall Motor Heldings plc (the "Company”) will be held
at Airport House, the Airport, Cambridge CB5 BRY on 22 May 2018 at 11,00 a.m. for the following purposes of considering and,
if thought fit, passing the following resolutions which will all be proposed as ordinary resolutions:

1. Report and accounts
To receive the audited annual accounts of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017 together with the directors’ reports
and the auditors' report on those annual accounts.

2. Declaration of dividend
To declare a final dividend of 4.25p per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2017 payable on 25 May 2018 1o
shareholders who are on the register of members of the Company on 27 April 2018,

3. Re-appointment of director
To re-appoint Daksh Gupta as a director, who retires by rotation in accordance with the Company's articles of association and
offers himself for reappointment.

4. Re-appointment of auditors
To re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as auditors of the Company to hold office from the conclusion of this Annual General Meeting
until the conclusion of the next general meeting at which accounts are laid before the Company.

5. Auditors’ remuneration
To authorise the direciors to determine the remuneration of the auditors.

Dated 19 March 2018 Registered Offica:
By Order of the Board Airport House
The Airport

Stephen Jones 7 F Cambridge
Company Secretary CB6 BRY
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Notice of Annual General Meeting (continued)

Notes

1.

Pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 (as amended), only those members registered
in the register of members of the Cormpany at close of business on 18 May 20118 (or if the AGM is adjourned at close of
business, two working days before the time fixed for the adjourned AGM) shall be entitied to attend and vote at the AGM in
respect of the number of shares registered in their name at that lime. Any changes to the register of members after such time
shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person fo atiend or vote at the AGM.

If you wish 1o attend the AGM in person, you should make sure that you arrive at the venue for the AGM in good time before
the commencement of the meeting. You may be asked to prove your idenlity in order lo gain admission.

In the case of joint holders of shares, the vote of the first named in the register of members who tenders a vote, whether in
person or by proxy, shall be accepled o the exclusion of the votes of other joint holders.

A member that is a company or other organisation not having a physical presence cannot aftend in person but can appoint
someone 1o rapresent it. This can be done in one of twa ways: Either by the appointment ol a proxy {described in Note 6
below) or of a corporate representative. Members considering the appointment of a corporate representative should check
their own legal position, the Company's articles of association and the relevant provision of the Companies Act 2006.

Copies of the executive directors’ service contracts with the Company and any of its subsidiary underiakings are available for
inspection at the registered office of the Company during the usual business hours on any weekday (Saturday, Sunday or
public holidays excluded) from the date of this notice until the conclusion of the AGM and will also be available for inspection
at the place of the AGM from 9 a.m. on the day of the AGM until its conclusion.

CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST proxy appoiniment service may do so for the
Meeting (and any adjournment thereof) by following the procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST personal
members or other CREST sponsored members (and those CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider)
should refer to their CREST sponsor or voling service provider, who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behaif.
In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made by means of CREST to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a
*CREST Proxy Instruction™) must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited’s ("Eurcclear”)
specifications and must contain the information required for such instructions, as described in the CREST Manual. The
message (regardless of whether it relates to the appointment of a proxy or lo an amendment to the instruction given to a
previously appointed proxy) must, in order to be valid, be fransmitted so as lo be received by Link Asset Services (1D RA10),
by 11.00 a.m. on 18 May 2018. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be 1aken to be the lime (as determined by the timestamp
applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host) from which Link Market Services is able to retrieve the message by
enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this time any change of instructions to proxies appointed through
CREST should be communicated to the appoinlee through other means. CREST members (and, where applicable, their
CREST sponsors or voling service providers) should note that Euroclear does not make available special procedures in
CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore apply in refation to the input of
CREST Proxy instructions. it is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or if the CREST memberis a
CREST personal member or sponsored member or has appoinled a voling service provider, to procure that his CREST
sponsor or voling service provider takes) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is transimitted by means
of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection, CREST members (and, where applicable, their CREST
sponsors or voting service providers) are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual {available at
www.euraclearcom/CREST) concerning practical imitations of the CREST system and timings.

The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances sel out in Regulation 35(5)a) of the
Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 (as amended).
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Company Information
Registered Office:

Company websites:

Nominated Adviser and Broker:

Auditors:

Joint Bankers:

Lega! Advisers to the Company:

Registrar:

Airport House
The Airport
Cambridge CB5 8RY

www rmhplc.com
www.marshall.co.uk

Investec Bank plc
2 Gresham Street
London EC2V 7QP

Ernst & Young LLP
One Cambridge Business Park
Cambridge CB4 OWZ

Barclays Bank plc
1 Churchill Place
London E14 SHP

HSBC Bank plc
8 Canada Square
London E14 5HQ

Dentons UKMEA LLP
One Fleet Place
Lendon EC4M 7WS

Link Markel Services Limited
The Registry

34 Beckenham Road
Beckenham

Kent BR3 4TU
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